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Financial Summary

MBEE

Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=1T—-HLEE

2023 2022
—EC-=F —EoF
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Revenue W Es 440,550 323,964
Gross profit eSS 83,827 95,550
Profit before tax F B A& ) 34,456 33,234
Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the parent [SYNCIEZ PPN A 25,493 28,504
Adjusted net profit KRBT (GEBR BRI KRS 4R
(non-HKFRS measure)"” EHE)0 36,014 51,040
As of December 31,
BEt+t=-—HA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Assets: BE
Non-current assets IERBNEE 28,147 13,034
Current assets ENEE 322,622 345,652
Total assets EEHLE 350,769 358,686
Equity and liabilities: BEREE:
Total equity EREHE 268,377 256,084
Non-current liabilities ERFAEE 927 214
Current liabilities TEIAaE 81,465 102,388
Total liabilities BEAE 82,392 102,602
Total equity and liabilities kA EAH 350,769 358,686
Note: M%E -
(1) Equity-settled share option expenses and listing expenses were not (1) ARG R4 E B IR S & TR S R 49 AE

included in non-HKFRS financial measure. BRMERE ER I E -



On behalf of the Board of Howkingtech International Holding
Limited, | am pleased to announce the consolidated results of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Entering 2023, the global operating environment remained
uncertain and the economy of the PRC recovered at a pace slower
than expected. Nevertheless, as a national strategic emerging
industry, the loT industry is a hot spot for economic growth and
scientific and technological development in the PRC. Riding on the
growing loT market in the PRC and leveraging on its strong product
competitiveness and solid customer relationships, the Group
maintained its business development momentum in 2023. The
Group continued to record revenue growth in 2023 by successfully
capturing the great potential in the PRC loT market through its
one-stop solution, diversified product portfolio and prompt service
delivery. After achieving approximately 70.9% revenue growth in
2022, the Group continued its business momentum, with revenue
increasing by approximately 36.0% from approximately RMB324.0
million in 2022 to approximately RMB440.6 million in 2023.
However, the competition has been intensifying dramatically due to
domestic economic uncertainty. The Group's adjusted net profit of
the Group was approximately RMB36.0 million in 2023, as
compared to approximately RMB51.0 million in 2022.

As a PRC provider for data transmission and processing services for
loT applications and telecommunication equipment, the Group has
been able to forge ahead in the challenging economic environment
in the PRC during the year, implementing prudent and solid
business strategies and actively exploring the business of China’s
loT market. In terms of revenue by business segment, the Group
retained stable growth during the year in the data transmission and
processing services for loT applications. The Group focused on
assisting customers to realize and optimize their digitalization by
providing professional and tailored communication technology
solutions. The Group has introduced a range of solutions in the
private network domain, including next-generation smart
emergency response, smart city, smart park, smart venue, smart
government affairs, and industrial Internet. The revenue from data
transmission and processing services for loT applications increased
by approximately 59.7%, from approximately RMB238.1 million in
2022 to approximately RMB380.3 million in 2023.
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In 2024, it is expected that the more complex and volatile external
macro environment, rising competition in information and
telecommunication industry and accelerating the changes of
technology will present opportunities and challenges to the
industry and the Group. In addition to consolidating its operational
results, the Group will continue to implement prudent and solid
business development strategies, seize new opportunities in the
market, strengthen independent research and development
capabilities, actively study advanced technologies in the 5G era,
and further upgrade and improve data transmission services. In
addition, the Group will continue to implement effective
operational management policies as well as cost control measures
to promote the sustainable and healthy development of the
Group's business. In the coming year, the Group will strive for
better operating performance and continue to enhance corporate
value to reward society and the Shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our Shareholders, investors, customers and business
partners for their unfailing support and trust, and to all the staff for
their hard work over the past year. In the future, the Group will
continue to forge ahead amid the challenging market environment,
create better performance and strive for better returns for
Shareholders and investors.

Chen Ping
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 25, 2024
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The Group is a PRC provider for (i) data transmission and
processing services for loT applications and (i) telecommunication
equipment, serving a broad range of industrial customers. The
Group has been operating in the rapidly growing loT market in the
PRC since 2012, and commenced the provision of data transmission
and processing services for loT applications to customers in various
industries in 2018. The Group set foot in the private 5G network
market in the PRC in 2020 through upgrading its data transmission
and processing services for loT applications with the application of
5G technologies, and has since become one of the named
providers in the explosively growing private 5G network market in
the PRC. In 2022, the Company was successfully listed on the Stock
Exchange and became one of the few loT-focused listed companies
on the Stock Exchange.

Revenue Wz
Cost of Sales SHER A
Gross Profit E7
Net Profit “h 7

Adjusted Net Profit
(non-HKFRS measure)”

it8)"

Note: (1) Equity-settled share option expenses and listing expenses were not

included in non-HKFRS measure.

Entering 2023, the global operating environment remained
uncertain. Nevertheless, riding on the growing loT market in the
PRC and leveraging on its strong product competitiveness and
solid customer relationships, the demand for the Group’s major
business segment, namely IoT, showed a steady increase and a
positive development trend in 2023. After the Company successfully
listed on the Stock Exchange in December 2022, the Group
continued efforts to provide professionalism and excellent products
and services for customers to better meet the needs of existing and
new customers.
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The Group continued to record revenue growth in 2023 by
successfully capturing the great potential in the PRC loT market
through its one-stop solution, diversified product portfolio and
prompt service delivery. After achieving approximately 70.9%
revenue growth in 2022, the Group continued its business
momentum, with revenue increasing by approximately 36.0% from
approximately RMB324.0 million in 2022 to approximately
RMB440.6 million in 2023.

The Group realized a growth in non-5G business successfully and
continued efforts to tap into the more promising private 5G
network market. Due to economic uncertainty, many of our clients
preferred to build a non-5G network during the first stage to satisfy
their needs and upgrade to a 5G network during the second phase.
As a result, the Group’s non-5G business revenue increased by
approximately 71.8% from approximately RMB204.2 million in 2022
to approximately RMB350.7 million in 2023. In the meantime, the
Group's 5G business decreased from approximately RMB119.8
million in 2022 to approximately RMB89.9 million in 2023.

The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately 12.3% from
approximately RMB95.6 million in 2022 to approximately RMB83.8
million in 2023. The net profit decreased approximately 10.6% from
approximately RMB28.5 million in 2022 to approximately RMB25.5
million in 2023. The adjusted net profit decreased approximately
29.4% from approximately RMB51.0 million in 2022 to
approximately RMB36.0 million in 2023. Such decrease in adjusted
net profit in 2023 was mainly attributable to (i) the decrease in gross
margin as a result of intensified market competition and uncertainty
in macroeconomic conditions; and (ii) the increase in administrative
expenses resulting from higher compliance costs, which accounted
for approximately RMB7.1 million in 2023, as a company listed on
the Stock Exchange since December 2022.

In 2024, it is expected that the more complex and volatile external
macro environment, rising competition in the information and
telecommunication industry and the accelerating changes of
technology will present opportunities and challenges to the
industry and the Group. The PRC government has recently
launched a series of measures to create a more business-friendly
environment so as to stimulate economic growth, which the
Company believes will further enhance the overall growth
momentum in the PRC loT market. Given this opportunity, the
Group will take the following measures to ensure a sustainable
business development in 2024.
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First of all, the Group will extend diversity of 5G private network
industrial customers, such as advanced manufacturing industry,
transportation industry, environmental protection industry and
energy industry. The Group will improve its overall marketing
capabilities and seek to reach more customers in the industrial loT
industry so as to diversify its customer base and grasp the
increasing industrial loT market opportunities.

Secondly, the Group will further upgrade its industry data platform
to embrace Al and big data. In addition to consolidating its
operational results, the Group will refactor its centralized data
platform, namely Universal loT Platform, and extend its functions to
cover industrial loT applications so that Universal loT Platform can
become a real common digitalization foundation to facilitate the
Group's different applications.

Lastly, the Group will continue to forge ahead in the challenging
economic environment in China, strengthening risk management
and control. The Group will enhance efforts to collect trade
receivables and control credit risk to ensure sufficient cash flow for
operations. In the meantime, the Group will implement prudent
and solid development strateqgy, effective operational management
policies and cost control measures to promote the sustainable and
healthy development of the group’s business.

The Industry and the Group’s Strength

The loT industry where the Group operates possesses great growth
potential, driven by growing adoption of advanced technology,
rapid development of industrial loT, increasing demand for private
5G network as well as strong government support. According to
Frost & Sullivan, the loT market in the PRC is expected to grow at a
CAGR of approximately 13.3% from 2021 to 2026, reaching
approximately RMB5,466.0 billion in 2026, of which the 5G-based
loT market is expected to grow at a CAGR of approximately 62.2%
from 2021 to 2026, reaching approximately RMB491.9 billion in
2026. More specifically, the private 5G network market in the PRC is
expected to reach approximately RMB236.1 billion in 2026, with a
CAGR of approximately 108.2% from 2021 to 2026.

B AEESERSGEBITETFHE
SRR - RBTTR C RIRTTEKBEIRTT
¥ o ARERRGEERLEHEN LS RIEE
FZMTEXMBBPTETR  ZLLEERET
PR WIEERSERNIRYEBAET S
7B o

HR - AEBBRBALERERAEEE—F
HRETEBETE - RERKLEEEN - K
SERERESTEIET & (AERB Y EF
a) WHEDNRERETXMEBBEER £
BRYBETERASELHERBFEER
PR RSB FIER

Ri& - AREBET M E R B IR E S
HEESRA - RARERE  LHINAES
FEY IR M B ) 8 R SR E B AR - PARELR
BERENRESREMIELE - B - AEEH
B2 EBENERER  AURNELERR
RERAESEE - (e R EES R ERE
R -

TEREEENES

REBEEMENYBBTEERAERE
7 ZHERME R - TEVBARRERE
HoGEMBHSEENTE KRB AN AT
BRE) o IRIFFE MDA ER « 5 B
PMBEAN T —FE T FREAL
FHERNIBIBEE RZT_RFEHA
FR#54,6601E 7T + H P LASG A £ 8 Bt 48 mh
BRI E 2T FIREE Fi8
FERMNE22%IEE  ROB-NEZEHARKE
4919187L - LER  EKNSCHEBMIHERT
MR- RNFEHARB2361ETL  —F=—
FEZT - NFMEAFIEEERLA108.2% °



RN ERZERERAT
—ECZEFR

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Typical loT Solution Structure
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However, the loT market in the PRC is also competitive and
fragmented with more than 30,000 participants competing with
each other in each layer of the loT market from perception layer,
network connectivity layer, platform layer to application services
layer. Nevertheless, the Company believes that the Group, as an
loT solution provider focusing on network connectivity layer and
platform layer, is well positioned to capture the growing demand
for loT solutions and telecommunication equipment in the PRC
given its years of industry experience, in-depth market knowledge
and insight as well as a proven track record in providing data
transmission and processing services and telecommunication
equipment. The Company also believes that the Group’s one-stop
solution, diversified product portfolio, short service delivery
capabilities, strong innovation and research capabilities as well as
experienced and visionary management will help the Group stand
out from its competitors in the future.
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Data Transmission and Processing Services

The Group offers data transmission and processing services for loT
applications to its customers in manufacturing, municipal services
and other industries in the PRC to assist them to realize and
optimize their digitalization. The Group classifies its data
transmission and processing services as non-5G network services
and private 5G network services depending on the network
connection mode the Group adopts in the services. Non-5G
network services help customers connect terminal devices with the
Group's proprietary Universal loT Platform via various
telecommunication networks or gateways, such as 4G, LORA,
Zigbee, NB-loT or Bluetooth, and the Group provides tailored non-
5G network services based on customers’ demands and their
application scenarios. The Group began to provide data
transmission and processing services with private 5G network since
2020, and has successfully improved the efficiency and cost-
effectiveness of the Group's services by offering turnkey solutions
with hardware and software integration for its customers.

Non-5G Network Services Revenue FESGHIAE AR5 W e

Private 5G Network Services Revenue S5GE B RIE W

Data Transmission and Processing YR PE RS S R
Services for loT Applications B2 R A%

Revenue from data transmission and processing services increased
by approximately 59.7% from approximately RMB238.1 million in
2022 to approximately RMB380.3 million in 2023. Due to the overall
poor market conditions in the PRC, many of our clients preferred to
build a non-5G network during the first stage to satisfy the basic
needs and upgrade to a 5G network during the second phase. As a
result, the Group’s non-5G network services revenue increased
strongly by approximately 98.2% from approximately RMB172.7
million in 2022 to approximately RMB342.3 million in 2023.
Meanwhile the Group’s 5G network services revenue decreased
from approximately RMB65.4 million in 2022 to approximately
RMB38.0 million in 2023.
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Sales of Telecommunication Equipment

In addition to data transmission and processing services for loT
applications, the Group also researches, develops and sells
telecommunication equipment in the PRC and exports substantially
all of its loT antenna products to the United States. The Group
provides its customers with 5G telecommunication equipment,
including 5G pRRU, various types of 5G antennas and 5G
communication modules, which were designed to cater to
preferences of different consumer groups. The Group also provides
other telecommunication equipment, which primarily includes 4G
telecommunication equipment and other IT devices, to its
customers.

Sales of 5G Telecommunication SGBIEREHE
Equipment

Sale of Antennas RERIHE

Sales of Other Telecommunication HBEREHEE
Equipment

Sales of Telecommunication Equipment BEREHE

Revenue from sales of telecommunication equipment decreased by
approximately 29.2% from approximately RMB82.2 million in 2022
to approximately RMB58.2 million in 2023. The sales of 5G
telecommunication equipment remained stable at approximately
RMB51.8 million in 2023 as compared to approximately RMB54.4
million in 2022. Meanwhile, sales of antennas decreased
significantly by approximately 67.9% from approximately RMB20.1
million in 2022 to approximately RMB6.4 million in 2023, mainly
because the Group ceased the sales of vehicle mounted antennas
to a Russia distributor in December 2022 to avoid uncertain and
potential risks in relation to international sanctions.

BEREHE

BR DB A8 e R BB (B 3 SRR IR RS SN - AR
TR - FAEREEBERE  ARE
B RBABYHYMERRER - AEER
%3}5}5‘:1 t5GIRE R M (BIESGH AT ARE
BT - BESCGRELSGAEER) - §HEmME
Tﬂxééﬁﬁ ERRLT - AERETNREFREER
BERE  T2ERAIGBERBIEMBER
MM -

Year Ended December 31,
BE+-A=1+—HILEE

2023 2022
—E-=F T F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®F T ARBEFIT
51,770 54,445
6,435 20,057

- 7,657

58,205 82,159

BEREHEWER-S-__FHARMS2.2
BE I NREH292%E —F - = F 4 AR¥ESS.2
BB - SGRERBHEN S =FREE
EAABARESISAEL M_E - _F4
HBARBS4AEETT - FRF - KGHER—
T —FHARE20.1EBITAR NEL67.9%
BT —FHARECATET  TEHMNA
EE A% mEER A BN TEBRREERE
ERBRMIN - ZE-—F+ - AFILtRHRESD
SHEHE AR AR ©
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Customers and Contracts

The Group’s main customers include (i) state-owned or private
project owners, (ii) main contractors for data transmission and
processing services for loT applications, who sub-contract a pre-
defined section of the project to the Group, and (iii) overseas end
customers and distributors. The Group has strived to broaden and
diversify its customer base. The number of new customers
accounted for approximately 63.6% of the total number of
customers in 2023, and average contract value from new customers
increased by 49.5% from RMB4.8 million in 2022 to RMB7.1 million
in 2023. Revenue generated from the Group's five largest
customers amounted to approximately RMB283.3 million in 2023,
accounting for approximately 64.3% of total revenue, while such
ratio was approximately 51.3% in 2022.The high customer
concentration is a common occurrence in the market where the
Group operates since loT solution projects are relatively large in
size as compared with most of the service providers in the market.
Therefore, service providers have to allocate a majority of their
resources, capacity and manpower to such projects to ensure the
delivery of projects. The Group believes that its customer
concentration will gradually decrease over time with continuous
business expansion in the future.

Benefiting from its in-depth industry knowledge, years of
experience and considerate customer services, the Group has been
awarded an increasing number of new contracts by its customers
on an annual basis. Compared with 72 new contracts awarded in
2022, 75 new contracts and orders were awarded in 2023, with an
average contract value of approximately RMB5.6 million, which was
approximately 21.3% higher than that of new contracts awarded in
2022.

Research and Development

The Group believes that its competitiveness and success depend
critically on its continuous commitment to research and
development and its ability to improve the functionality of, and add
new features to, its services and products. Thus, the Group devotes
significant resources to research and development and develops
core features of its services and products in-house.

BEFEREN
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BmBEPRDHEE - AEEB IR EEREE
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The Group's continuous research and development efforts have
enhanced the competitiveness in its services and products. The
Group self-developed its centralized data platform, namely
Universal loT Platform, for its data processing services. Universal
loT Platform adopted a series of in-house developed technologies
in areas of terminal data protocol unification, device shadow, data
flow, data aggregation and integration, and data purification and
processing, which have greatly differentiated Universal loT Platform
from traditional data platforms and turned Universal loT Platform
into one of the Group's core business capabilities and competitive
edges. In addition, as of December 31, 2023, the Group had
successfully registered 55 utility model patents, 23 patents for
invention, one international PCT and 90 copyrights in the PRC,
indicating the Group's strong innovation and research capabilities.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had a total number of 65
employees (as of December 31, 2022: 75). For the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Group recognized staff costs (including
equity-settled share option expenses) of approximately RMB24.9
million, representing an increase of approximately 23.5% as
compared to the same period in 2022.

The Group's success depends on its ability to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel, and the Group believes that the high-
quality talent pool is one of its core strengths. The Group recruits
employees mainly through campus recruitment, online recruitment,
internal referral and hunting firms or agents, to satisfy its demands
for different types of talents.

The Group provides trainings to its employees. In addition to the
trainings provided to employees, they can also improve their skills
through the Group's development of services and mutual learning
among colleagues. The Group offers competitive compensation for
its employees. In addition, the Group regularly evaluates the
performance of employees and reward those who perform well with
higher compensation or promotion.

The Group enters into standard contracts and agreements
regarding confidentiality, intellectual property, employment,
commercial ethics and non-competition with executive officers and
full-time employees. These contracts typically include a non-
competition provision effective during and up to two years after
their employment with the Group and a confidentiality provision
effective during and after their employment with the Group.
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In addition, to provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of the Group, the Company has adopted the Share Option
Scheme and the Share Award Scheme on November 11, 2022 and
May 16, 2023, respectively. The objectives of the Share Award
Scheme are: (i) to recognize the contributions by certain eligible
participants and to provide them with incentives in order to retain
them for the continual operation and development of the Group;

and (i) to attract suitable personnel for further development of the

Group.

Revenue

Revenue
Data Transmission and Processing
Services
Sales of Equipment
Others
or:
5G Business
Non-5G Business
or:
PRC
The United States
Russia

i
2B S N R IR

HERE
HAtb
5GET
JESGETS
H Y
E15
RARHT

BEoh - BRAERALRESHASEEDN
BRIRIESASEFSREN DS DR
ISR ARFIDRIN-_E-_—F+—A+—
BN -—Z-=FF 8+ \BIRABIIELEI
B ZENETE] - R REFEINEMNE : ()R
AIAETAERSEENER  THTFHEEX
B ABAEEMNBEEEREERBES
(i) AAEER#E—PERRS|IGHEAIAR o

Year Ended December 31,
BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-_=F —TEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥FT T AREFIT
440,550 323,964
380,316 238,073
58,205 82,159
2,029 3,732
89,889 119,803
350,661 204,161
433,814 305,251
6,736 10,539

- 8,174



Driven by its overall business expansion, the Group's revenue
increased by approximately 36.0% from approximately RMB324.0
million in 2022 to approximately RMB440.6 million in 2023. More
specifically, revenue from data transmission and processing services
increased by approximately 59.7% from approximately RMB238.1
million in 2022 to approximately RMB380.3 million in 2023, which
accounted for approximately 86.3% of the total revenue in 2023.
The Group's revenue from sales of equipment decreased by
approximately 29.2% from approximately RMB82.2 million in 2022
to approximately RMB58.2 million in 2023, mainly because the
Group ceased the sales of vehicle mounted antennas to a Russia
distributor in December 2022.

Due to the overall poor market conditions in the PRC, many of our
clients preferred to build a non-5G network during the first stage to
satisfy the basic needs and upgrade to a 5G network during the
second phase. Despite a decrease in revenue from 5G business
from approximately RMB119.8 million in 2022 to approximately
RMB89.9 million in 2023, the revenue from non-5G business
increased by approximately 71.8% from approximately RMB204.2
million in 2022 to approximately RMB350.7 million in 2023.

The Group generates most of its revenue from the PRC market and
approximately 98.5% of the Group's revenue was generated from
the PRC market, while such ratio was approximately 94.2% in 2022.
Revenue generated from the United States was primarily
attributable to the Group's export of loT antennas to the United
States. Revenue from the United States market decreased by
approximately 36.1% from approximately RMB10.5 million in 2022
to RMB6.7 million in 2023. Revenue from the Russia market
decreased significantly from approximately RMB8.2 million in 2022
to nil in 2023, mainly because the Group ceased the sales of vehicle
mounted antennas to a Russia distributor in December 2022 to
avoid uncertain and potential risks in relation to international
sanctions.
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Costs and Expenses

AR B2

Year Ended December 31,
BE+t-A=1+—HILEE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T ARETIT

Cost of Sales SHEM A 356,723 228,414

Material Costs MR AR 267,087 173,783

OEM Expenses ZHONNTRAX 87,056 49,789

Administrative Expenses TERX 38,112 47,982

R&D Expenses e 9,649 11,308

Staff Costs B TR 13,508 5,876

Listing Expenses Estiilah3 - 22,536

Professional Expenses BEXBH 7,131 4,468

Selling and Distribution Expenses HERDEHRX 3,577 3,753

Staff Costs =N 1,766 2,277

Impairment Losses on Financial Assets £ R&EREESE 10,003 12,180

Trade and Notes Receivables B 5 EUGRIA & B E S 10,030 12,413
Cost of sales includes (i) material costs, (i) OEM expenses and (i)  $8& KRNSO ELA : (NVESM NI K&

labor costs. The Group's cost of sales increased by approximately
56.2% from approximately RMB228.4 million in 2022 to
approximately RMB356.7 million in 2023. Material costs increased
by approximately 53.7% in 2023 as compared to 2022, and its share
of cost of sales remained stable at approximately 74.9% in 2023 as
compared to approximately 76.1% in 2022.

Administrative expenses consist of (i) R&D expenses, (i) staff costs,
(iii) listing expenses, (iv) professional expenses, (v) depreciation and
amortization, (vi) office expenses, and (vii) tax surcharges. The
Group's administrative expenses decreased by approximately
20.6% from approximately RMB48.0 million in 2022 to
approximately RMB38.1 million in 2023, mainly due to the listing
expenses decreased from approximately RMB22.5 million in 2022
to nil in 2023 after the successful listing in December 2022. The
decrease was partially offset by (i) the increase in staff costs from
approximately RMB5.9 million in 2022 to approximately RMB13.5
million in 2023 resulting from an increase in equity-settled share
option expenses; and (i) the increase in professional expenses from
approximately RMB4.5 million in 2022 to approximately RMB7.1
million in 2023 as a result of higher compliance costs as a company
listed on the Stock Exchange since December 2022.

(VAT - REBMEEXRNAB-T——
AR 2284BE T EALIS629E—F —=

FARKIS6TERT - R-E-=F - HH}
RAB =T = = L FHI53.7%  (HHERA

PR ZZTZ=FHRIETE - NB749% * M
B —FRINAT6N%

THRAXBEOHERS ¢ ()8 TR ; (i) &

MHX  (VEEER  (ITE KRB (vi)it
NEBRA Rkt hnF - REBEMHITEF X B
“E-—FHAREEL80EE T NEAI20.6%
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R+ AR EWE - EmRAEZHAS
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Selling and distribution expenses consist of (i) staff costs, (ii)
travelling expenses, (iii) depreciation, and (iv) entertainment
expenses. The Group's selling and marketing expenses remained
relatively stable at approximately RMB3.6 million in 2023 as
compared to approximately RMB3.8 million in 2022.

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss and use a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables, notes receivable and contract assets based on
historical expected credit loss rates of industry peers and aging for
groupings of various customers with similar loss pattern. The
Group's impairment losses on financial assets decreased by
approximately 17.9% from approximately RMB12.2 million in 2022
to approximately RMB10.0 million in 2023 mainly attributable to our
efforts to collect overdue trade receivables that resulted in a
decrease in the impairment allowance for trade receivables aged
over two years.

Gross Profit, Profit Before Tax and Net Profit

Gross Profit EF
Gross Margin ER=E
5G Business S5GE
Non-5G Business JESGETE
Profit Before Tax BRBL AR R

Net Profit #hF|

HE R HAZBIENE KA : ()ERFAX
(i) TE  R(VEFER R-ZZ_=F &%
ERHEEREHEARIFIEHET  HAAR
MI6EBT M_E-__—FRHAARK3S
BETT e

REBHWIEEA BT ABRISENEE
BILEMBEBEEBER([EHREEEE])ER
B YERRTARMNELEHEEBEX
MEZABEUEBEANTEEF2AMNEK
B FRABEEEGTEEZEWEIE - BRE
BRAEHNEENTEHREEESE A5ENESR
BEREEBEA S _FHOARKI122B8
TCRBEHT%E T _=FHARKEI1008
St FERRBEMBHKEBEE S UK
I8 - {FERER R B W F A E 5 e WOk IE B (B 1
R o

EF ~ BRB AR R R AT

Year Ended December 31,
BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
—EC=HF B F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
83,827 95,550
19.0% 29.5%
12.3% 241%
20.7% 32.7%
34,456 33,234
25,493 28,504
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The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately 12.3% from
approximately RMB95.6 million in 2022 to approximately RMB83.8
million in 2023 resulting from the decrease in gross margin from
approximately 29.5% in 2022 to approximately 19.0% in 2023. Such
decrease in gross margin in 2023 is mainly attributable to (i)
intensified market competition and uncertainty in macroeconomic
conditions; (ii) the cessation of sales of vehicle mounted antennas
to a Russia distributor in December 2022, which had a high gross
profit margin of approximately 34.0% in 2022; and (iii) a relatively
lower cooperation price to develop new customers, the number of
which accounted for approximately 63.6% of the total number of
customers in 2023. Therefore, the gross profit margin of 5G
business and non-5G business decreased significantly from
approximately 24.1% and 32.7% in 2022 to approximately 12.3%
and 20.7% in 2023, respectively. In the meantime, 5G business
inevitably possessed lower margin as compared to the Group's
existing business sectors, as newly developed business sector.

The Group's profit before tax remained stable at approximately
RMB34.5 million in 2023 as compared to approximately RMB33.2
million in 2022. The Group's net profit decreased slightly by
approximately 10.6% from approximately RMB28.5 million in 2022
to approximately RMB25.5 million in 2023. Without taking into
account equity-settled share option expenses and listing expenses
for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Group's
adjusted net profit in 2023 would decrease by approximately 29.4%
as compared to 2022. Such decrease in adjusted net profit in 2023
was mainly attributable to (i) the decrease in gross margin as a
result of intensified market competition and uncertainty in
macroeconomic conditions; and (ii) the increase in administrative
expenses resulting from higher compliance costs, which accounted
for approximately RMB7.1 million in 2023, as a company listed on
the Stock Exchange since December 2022.

Non-HKFRS Measure

To supplement the consolidated financial statements which are
presented in accordance with HKFRS, the Group also presents the
adjusted net profit as a non-HKFRS measure, which is not required
by, or presented in accordance with, HKFRS. The Group believes
that this non-HKFRS measure facilitates comparison of operating
performance from period to period by eliminating impacts of listing
expenses of the Global Offering. In addition, the Group believes
that this non-HKFRS measure provides useful information to
investors and others in understanding and evaluating the results of
operations in the same manner as the Group’s management and in
comparing financial results across the relevant periods. The use of
this non-HKFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool. As
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such, it should not be considered in isolation from, or as substitute
for analysis of, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income or financial condition as reported
under HKFRS. In addition, the non-HKFRS financial measures may
be defined differently from similar terms used by other companies
and therefore, may not be comparable to similar measures
presented by other companies.

The Group defines its adjusted net profit (non-HKFRS measure) as
the net profit adding back listing expenses. The table below sets
out the adjusted net profit (non-HKFRS measure) as of the dates
indicated:

FERBMEREZEY RS L 2RO
eRELEME2HKERIGEWIRARE
TTEDH - BE - FEBMBRE LM T
EMNEE M EEEMARMMAHBELURES M
TR - Bt AR el EEA R B PT 25 e B LG
EEHLE -

Ao B R AR (SR BB B T R B 5
£)REAME LHEX AR o FREIIR
SRR B S BT R BB SR
AlsHE) -

Year Ended December 31,
BZ+-A=+—HILLEE

2023 2022
—EC=HF B F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

Profit for the Year A A 25,493 28,504

Adding: Listing Expenses e EmRX = 22,536
Equity-settled share option N AEE s

expenses REHER 10,521 =

Adjusted Net Profit for the Year TR TR 4l F| 36,014 51,040

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Time Deposits

Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits decreased from
approximately RMB120.7 million as of December 31, 2022 to
approximately RMB33.2 million as of December 31, 2023, mainly
due to (i) the purchases of equity investment of approximately
RMB13.5 million, (i) the purchase of shares held by the trustee for
the Share Award Scheme of approximately RMB23.8 million, (iii) the
decrease in other payables and accruals of approximately RMB17.7
million, caused by the payment of VAT, professional expenses and
listing expenses, and (iv) an increase in trade and notes receivables
of approximately RMB75.9 million, which were partially offset by (i)
profit before tax of RMB34.5 million, (ii) the decrease in inventories
of approximately RMB4.1 million, and (iii) the increase in trade
payables of approximately RMB3.7 million.
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Trade and Notes Receivables

The following table sets forth trade receivables and notes
receivable measured at amortized cost and impairment as of the
dates indicated:

Trade Receivables B 5 EMGRIA
Notes Receivable Measured at
Amortized Cost

Impairment A

Both total trade receivables and net trade receivables experienced
increase as a result of overall business development in 2023, with
total trade receivables increasing by approximately 35.0% from
approximately RMB238.0 million in 2022 to approximately
RMB321.3 million in 2023 and net trade and notes receivables by
approximately 30.8% from approximately RMB214.0 million in 2022
to approximately RMB279.8 million in 2023. Although the provision
for impairment amount still grew by approximately 25.3% in 2023,
the percentage of provision for impairment on total trade and
notes receivables amount maintained stable at approximately
13.3% as of December 31, 2023 as compared to approximately
13.8% as of December 31, 2022, mainly because both the absolute
amount of trade and notes receivables aged over two years and its
proportion in total trade and notes receivables as of December 31,
2023 declined as compared to those as of December 31, 2022
resulting from our efforts to collect overdue trade receivables.
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The following table sets forth the aging analysis of net trade and
notes receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance as of the dates indicated:

Within 1 Year 1A
1to 2 Years 15226
2 to 3 Years 28 3F
3to 4 Years 3FB4AF
4 to 5 Years 4ZE5F
Total st

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, net trade and notes receivables
aged over two years were approximately RMB26.4 million and
approximately RMB17.4 million, representing 12.3% and 6.2% of
the total net trade receivables as of the same dates, respectively.
The decrease in net trade and notes receivables aged over two
years as of December 31, 2023 as compared to those as of
December 31, 2022 was mainly due to our efforts to collect overdue
trade receivables.

As of March 22, 2024, approximately RMB29.8 million, of our trade
receivables as of December 31, 2023 were subsequently settled.
Among the outstanding balances as of December 31, 2023, most of
the corresponding customers had started to repay or at least
indicated willingness to settle as soon as possible. Based on the
ongoing communication with such customers and the historical
progress in the subsequent settlement, the Group considers that
except for the impairment of trade and notes receivables, the
outstanding balances of trade and notes receivables would be
settled eventually. As such, the Group is of the view that there is no
material recoverability issue for its trade and notes receivables.
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Borrowing

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately RMB5.0 million (December 31, 2022:
RMB10.4 million), which were all denominated in RMB and with
fixed interest rate. The Group's total authorized credit facilities
remained at RMB30.0 million, among which RMB25.0 million had
not been utilized as of the same date.

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio, calculated by total debt (including
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities) divided by
total equity, maintained at approximately 2.6% as of December 31,
2023, as compared to approximately 4.7% as of December 31, 2022,
mainly due to a decrease in total debt from approximately RMB12.2
million as of December 31, 2022 to approximately RMB6.9 million as
of December 31, 2023.

Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure

The Group generated net cash flow used in operating activities of
approximately RMB39.5 million in 2023, as compared to net cash
flow from operating activities of approximately RMB18.0 thousand
in 2022. The net cash flow used in 2023 is mainly due to (i) an
increase in trade and notes receivables of approximately RMB75.9
million; (ii) a decrease in other payables and accruals of
approximately RMB17.7 million, which were partially offset by (i)
profit before tax of RMB34.5 million; (i) impairment of trade and
notes receivables of RMB10.0 million; and (iii) equity-settled share
option expense of RMB10.5 million.

Net cash flow from investing activities amounted to approximately
RMB50.4 million in 2023, as compared to net cash flow used in
investing activities of approximately RMB72.8 million in 2022. The
net cash flow from investing activities in 2023 is mainly due to the
disposal of time deposits of approximately RMB121.6 million, which
was partially offset by (i) the purchases of time deposits of
approximately RMB55.7 million, and (ii) the purchases of equity
investment of approximately RMB13.5 million.

Net cash flow used in financing activities amounted to
approximately RMB32.9 million in 2023, mostly due to (i) the
repurchase of treasury shares of approximately RMB23.8 million, (ii)
repayment of bank loans of RMB17.1 million, and (iii) share issue
expenses of approximately RMB2.1 million, which was partially
offset by new bank loan of approximately RMB11.8 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital expenditure primarily consisted of purchases of property,
plant and equipment and renovation expenses, which increased by
approximately 352.8% from approximately RMBO0.5 million in 2022
to approximately RMB2.5 million in 2023, primarily attributable to
the additions of leasehold improvements and office equipment.

Charges on Assets

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any assets or
rights pledged (December 31, 2022: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (December 31, 2022: Nil).

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures and are subject to
foreign currency risk arising from fluctuations in exchange rates
between RMB and foreign currencies. As of December 31, 2023,
the Group had transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arose from changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities and exchange differences resulting from translation of the
financial statements of certain overseas subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not hedge or consider
necessary to hedge any of these risks. The Group will constantly
review the economic situation and the foreign exchange risk profile
and consider appropriate hedging measures in the future, when
necessary.

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group did not have any significant acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

As of December 31, 2023, none of each individual investment held
by the Group constituted 5% or above of the total assets of the
Group and there was no future plans for material investments or
capital assets.

EEBFWR DM

BAFAXTIZEREBEDE BEMRBAR
Righix BT _FHARBSEET L
FHHI352.8%E — B _=FHARKE258& T
TEHENAEHEMRRENPAR

EERR

BE_E-_=F+-A=+—H AEETE
FREEXENER(ZE_—_F+-_A=+
—B &)

BE_E-_=F+-A=+—H AEETE
FREAKAEB(ZE-__F+_A=+—
BH:&E) -

SN LB

AEEHERR 78RR R AR S IMNE E R
REHINERRR - BE_T_=F+-A=+
— B AEEmERXZEERER o ZFRRK
BEREERABRNAFERY  URETHE
SN R R SRR E EEME N Z5

BE_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—H AEETE
HihsRAAEBEH NI MZERAK - NEH
BT B RAER R RINERBER - WEE
B8R H BrE ERIUEE F %P E 1 o

BEARE - WBREE

HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HILEE &&
By EETEBMBAR  BEQARRAZED
ENERERKBRHE -

BE-_Z-_=F+-_A=t+—H K&£EBE#HEH
M & BEIBI A Y R E R AR EE B E E /5% A
b BESEARERERNEENRKTE -

25



26

Executive Directors

Dr. Chen Ping (&), aged 60, is the Group's co-founder and
executive Director. Dr. Chen is the spouse of Ms. Wang Zheshi,
who is an executive Director and the chief administrative and
human resources officer. Dr. Chen is also the son-in-law of Ms. Jin
Yan, one of the Controlling Shareholders. Dr. Chen is also the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company responsible for the overall strategic planning and
overseeing general management and daily operation of the Group.
Dr. Chen also holds directorships in each of the subsidiaries of the
Group. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

Dr. Chen has over 25 years of experience in the telecommunications
industry and has acquired the relevant knowledge and expertise
relating to engineering from working with various multinational
enterprises prior to founding the Group. From 1988 to 1991, Dr.
Chen was a radio frequency (RF) design engineer at Scientific
Atlanta, Inc., a telecommunications manufacturer in the United
States, after which he pursued further studies at the University of
Nevada and completed his master’s degree in 1993. From 1993 to
1996, Dr. Chen worked as a senior design engineer at Fujitsu
America, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fujitsu Limited, a
Japanese multinational information and communications
technology equipment and services corporation whose shares are
listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 6702). From 1996
to 1999, Dr. Chen was a senior RF design engineer at Qualcomm,
Inc., a multinational semiconductor and wireless technology
manufacturer headquartered in the United States whose shares are
listed on the NASDAQ (stock code: QCOM). From 1999 to 2002,
Dr. Chen served as a senior radio-frequency integrated circuit (RFIC)
design manager at RF Micro Devices, Inc. (currently known as
Qorvo, Inc., listed on the NASDAQ (stock code: QRVO)), a company
principally engaged in radio frequency technology in the United
States, where he was responsible for designing radio frequency for
applications in wireless infrastructure. From 2002 to 2004, Dr. Chen
served as the managing director in the Asia-Pacific region for Signal
Technology Corporation, a microwave and RF components
manufacturer, where he gained experience in the defense
electronics field. From 2004 to 2009, Dr. Chen was the general
manager of the Asia-Pacific region for SkyCross, Inc., a global
wireless antenna solutions company, where he was responsible for
the overall management of the company in the Asia-Pacific region.
From 2009 to 2012, Dr. Chen and Ms. Wang Zheshi were in the
course of preparing for the establishment of the Group. Dr. Chen
then co-founded the Group with Ms. Wang in September 2012
through establishing Shenzhen Wulian.
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Dr. Chen obtained a master’s degree in electrical engineering from
the University of Nevada in the United States in August 1993. Dr.
Chen subsequently obtained a doctorate degree in electrical
engineering from North Carolina Agricultural and Technical State
University in the United States in May 2008.

Ms. Wang Zheshi (£ #&£f), aged 41, is the Group's co-founder and
executive Director. Ms. Wang is the spouse of Dr. Chen Ping, who is
an executive Director, chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company. Ms. Wang is also the daughter of Ms. Jin Yan, one of the
controlling shareholders of the Company. Ms. Wang is also the
Group's chief administrative and human resources officer principally
responsible for overseeing the administrative and human resources
affairs of the Group.

Ms. Wang has around 11 years of experience in the administrative
and human resources field. Prior to founding the Group, from
August 2006 to March 2009, Ms. Wang worked in SkyCross, Inc.
Shenzhen office with her position served as the director of
Administration and Human Resource, where she was responsible
for its administrative personnel management. From 2009 to 2012,
Ms. Wang and Dr. Chen Ping were in the course of preparing for
the establishment of our Group. Ms. Wang then co-founded the
Group with Dr. Chen in September 2012 through establishing
Shenzhen Wulian.

Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor's degree in art and design from Jilin
University of Arts (5 MEATEPT) in the PRC in July 2006.

Mr. Feng Yijing (2 &), aged 42, is an executive Director. Mr.
Feng is also the chief financial officer of the Group principally
responsible for overseeing the overall management of accounting
and financial matters of the Group. He is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Feng has around 17 years of experience in the accounting and
auditing field. Prior to joining our Group in 2019, from August 2004
to October 2016, Mr. Feng worked at Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP,
Nanjing Branch with his last position as senior audit manager,
where he was responsible for audit and other assurance and
advisory services. From October 2016 to January 2019, Mr. Feng
was the chief financial officer of Hangzhou Wansecheng
E-Commerce Co., Ltd. (B@MEFREAFEEEBEGR A T), where he
was responsible for the overall financial matters of the group. From
June 2020 to July 2022, Mr. Feng served as an independent non-
executive director of Suchuang Gas Corporation limited (BREIFAS,
1B R A7), a piped natural gas operator whose shares were
formerly listed on the Stock Exchange until August 3, 2022 (stock
code: 1430).
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Mr. Feng currently serves as an independent non-executive director
of DaFa Properties Group Limited (REHESEBEFRAF), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6111).

Mr. Feng obtained a bachelor’s degree in auditing from the
Nanjing Audit University (FaRZEIAZ) (formerly known as the
Nanjing Institute of Audit (FRZE&HE28%)) in the PRC in June 2004.
Mr. Feng became a non-practising member of the Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in January 2017. He was also
admitted as a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in January 2013. Mr. Feng is also a Certified
Internal Auditor, as awarded by the Institute of Internal Auditors in
November 2010.

Mr. Wang Jun (£ &), aged 49, is an executive Director. Mr. Wang is
also the chief technology officer of the Group principally
responsible for overseeing the management of the Group’s
technological resources.

Mr. Wang has around 21 years of experience in the software
development field. Prior to joining the Group in November 2021,
from December 2000 to July 2003, Mr. Wang worked at Huawei
Technologies Co., Ltd. Nanjing Research & Development Center (2=
BT AR AR RIFFERT). From August 2003 to February 2008,
Mr. Wang worked at Nanjing Lucent Technologies
Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (FAREARARHZRE AR A R]) with his
last position as a technician. From March 2008 to April 2009, Mr.
Wang joined Microsoft (China) Co., Ltd. Shanghai Minhang Branch
with his last position as software design engineer Il. From May 2009
to October 2018, Mr. Wang was a software developer at Ericsson
Canada, Inc. From October 2018 to April 2021, Mr. Wang worked at
Beijing DinoPlusAl Inc. Qt RBEENERHL AR A F)) as a software
director, where he was engaged in artificial intelligence related
business.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial automation
and master’s degree in control theory and control engineering from
the Southeast University (RFIAZ) in the PRC in June 1997 and
March 2000, respectively.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Gu Jiong (E&8/f), aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on November 11, 2022. Mr. Gu is
responsible for supervising the management of the Group and
providing independent judgment to the Board. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee.

From July 1995 to April 2004, Mr. Gu worked at Ernst & Young Hua
Ming LLP, Shanghai Branch and was the senior manager of audit
department when he left the firm. From April 2004 to December
2009, Mr. Gu worked at UTStarcom Telecom Co., Ltd. and its
holding company UTStarcom Holdings Corp. (formerly known as
UTStarcom. Inc.), a global telecom infrastructure provider
specialized in the provision of packet optical transport and
broadband access products to network operators whose shares are
listed on the NASDAQ (ticker symbol: UTSI), where he last served as
the finance controller (1742 85) and was responsible for accounting
and financial matters. From January 2010 to August 2013, Mr. Gu
served as the chief financial officer in BesTV New Media Co., Ltd.
(currently known as Oriental Pearly Media Co., Ltd (375 B ZR #7172
f% 15 B BR A 7])), whose shares are listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600637) and principally engaged in the
provision of technical services, content services and marketing
services for television terminals, computer terminals and mobile
terminals through a media source platforms where he was
responsible for the financial matters of this company. From June
2015 to June 2021, Mr. Gu was an independent non-executive
director of Xinming China Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2699). From September 2013 to
August 2016, Mr. Gu was the chief financial officer of CMC
(Shanghai) Investment Management LLP (ZE AL ( EB)IREEE
AL (EBRAEE)), where he was responsible for the overall financial
and capital operations of the company. From September 2018 to
January 2023, Mr. Gu was an independent non-executive director
of DaFa Properties Group Limited (KEiESEREHR A R]) (stock
code: 6111), a company listed on the Stock Exchange. From
September 2016 to July 2023, Mr. Gu was an independent non-
executive director of Amlogic (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (& (L
BB ABRAR) (stock code: 688099), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. Since September 2016, Mr. Gu has been
the director, vice president and chief financial officer of CMC Inc.
EAXLBAREERAA) (“CMC") (formerly known as CMC Holdings
Limited), an investment platform focused on the media and
entertainment investments, where he is responsible for overseeing
the financial operations and location-based entertainment business
of CMC.
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Mr. Gu is currently the independent non-executive director of
Vesync Co., Ltd (stock code: 2148), Ascletis Pharma Inc. (stock code:
1672) and Mulsanne Group Holding Limited (stock code: 1817),
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Gu obtained a bachelor’s degree in financial management from
Fudan University (fE 2 K2) in the PRC in July 1995. He is currently
a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (f &5t eE).

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix (77#1), BBS, JP, aged 73, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on November 11, 2022. Mr.
Fong is responsible for supervising the management of the Group
and providing independent judgment to the Board. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Fong has practiced law for more than 40 years. Mr. Fong was
admitted as a barrister and solicitor in Ontario, Canada in 1980, a
solicitor in England and Wales in 1986, and in Hong Kong in 1987.
He is a member of the Law Societies of Hong Kong, Upper Canada
and England and Wales. Since 1988, Mr. Fong has been with King
& Wood Mallesons (formerly known as Robert Lee & Fong, Felix
Fong & Hon, Fong & Ng, Arculli Fong & Ng and King & Wood)
specializing in foreign investments in the PRC.

From May 2000 to December 2008, Mr. Fong served as a non-
executive director of Cinda International Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Hantec Investment Holdings Limited), a financial
institution principally engaged in corporate finance advisory,
securities broking and asset management whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 111). From May 2010 to May
2016, Mr. Fong served as an independent non-executive director of
China Qilfield Services Limited (& HEREDER AR, a
company dually listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2883)
and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601808) which is
principally engaged in offshore oil and gas exploration,
development and production. From April 2011 to July 2018, he
served as an independent non-executive director of China
Investment Development Limited (FF B3 & f 25 G BR A 7)) (formerly
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known as Temujin International Investments Limited), a company
principally engaged in investment in listed and unlisted securities
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 204).
From October 2010 to March 2020, he served as an independent
non-executive director of Evergreen International Holdings Limited
(REBR (L&) ZRBERZAR), a company principally engaged
in the manufacturing and sales of menswear whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 238). From June 2012 to May
2020, he served as an independent non-executive director of Sheen
Tai Holdings Group Company Limited (I[BZIERER AR AR, a
company principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of
cigarette packaging materials whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1335). From May 2017 to June 2020, he
served as an independent non-executive director of Wuxi Biologics
(Cayman) Inc. (BERRAMRITBRAE]), a company principally
engaged in the provision of biologics services whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2269). From June 2015 to
October 2021, he served as an independent non-executive director
of Xinming China Holdings Limited (#78AAF Bl GBR A 7)) (stock
code: 2699), a company principally engaged in property
development whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Fong is currently an independent non-executive director of
Bank of Shanghai (Hong Kong) Limited (E/838R7T (&8) ABRA
Al), a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability,
and an independent non-executive director of the following
companies listed on the Stock Exchange: Vesync Co., Ltd (stock
code: 2148), Television Broadcasts Limited (BEREEARE A R])
(stock code: 511), Guangdong Land Holdings Limited (B3 % bi%
& AR A 7] (formerly known as Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 124) and Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (4%
HEBIER AR AR (formerly known as SPG Land (Holdings)
Limited) (stock code: 337).

Mr. Fong obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from
McMaster University in Canada in June 1974 and a Juris Doctor
degree from Osgoode Hall Law School of York University in Canada
in June 1978. Mr. Fong is appointed by the Ministry of Justice of
the PRC (P EE A R EFNE F)AES) as one of the China-appointed
Attesting Officers in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Yang Hai (1578), aged 48, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on November 11, 2022. Mr. Yang is
responsible for supervising the management of the Group and
providing independent judgment to the Board. He is also a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Yang has approximately 16 years of experience in the
communication technology industry. Since December 2011, Mr.
Yang has been serving as the vice-president of Etekcity US, a
subsidiary of Vesync Co., Ltd (“Vesync"”), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2148). Mr. Yang currently serves as an
executive director for Vesync. From September 2006 to June 2011,
Mr. Yang worked at Ericsson (China) Communications Co., Ltd as a
software engineer responsible for gateway server development.
From June 2003 to September 2006, Mr. Yang worked as a software
engineer at Asiainfo Technologies (China), Inc, Shanghai Branch (32
Rk (FE) BRAREEH AT, where he was principally

responsible for billing system development.

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in thermal energy and
power engineering from Southeast University (SR Fg A£2) in the PRC
in June 1996. He further obtained a master’'s degree in thermal
engineering from Shanghai Jiaotong University ((E/&%BAKE) in
the PRC in March 1999.

Mr. Jia Kexin (E A fiX), aged 50, is the vice president of sales of
Nanjing Howking Technology Co., Ltd. principally responsible for
managing the sales department and formulating marketing plans
and sales strategies.

Mr. Jia has approximately 20 years of experience in the marketing
and management field. Prior to joining the Group in August 2021,
from February 2003 to August 2021, Mr. Jia took on several
positions at Comba Telecom Technology (Guangzhou) Ltd. (R{5:&
ZH4F (BIN) BRAF) (“Comba”), with his last position as its
group marketing director. Comba is a subsidiary of Comba
Telecom Systems Holdings Limited (R{Z#{= ZFIER AR A7), a
global solutions and services provider of wireless and information
communications systems, whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2342).
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Mr. Jia obtained a bachelor's degree in plant protection from the
Nanjing Agricultural University (B RE% KXE) in the PRC in July
1997. Mr. Jia subsequently obtained a master’s degree in
environmental science from the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Sciences (7 BRI AT ALR) in the PRC in December
2002.

Ms. Li Qiong (Z=18), aged 35, is the production manager of
Shenzhen M2Micro Electronics Co., Ltd., principally responsible for
overseeing its supply chain system and inventory management.

Ms. Li has approximately 12 years of experience in the product
production and procurement field. Prior to joining the Group in
January 2013, from November 2009 to December 2012, Ms. Li was
a buyer for Shenzhen Howking Technology Co., Ltd. (FIJITEER
FHBR A7), where she was responsible for procurement logjistics.

Ms. Li graduated from Hunan Vocational College of Commerce (#
B P IS B ZE T ERPE) majoring in marketing in the PRC in June
2018.

Mr. Xu Wei (#R%7), aged 39, is the research and development
director principally responsible for overseeing the research and
development department, providing technical advice and
formulating research and development implementation plans.

Mr. Xu has approximately 16 years of experience in the electronic
information engineering field. Prior to joining our Group in
November 2017, from July 2008 to February 2010, Mr. Xu was an
electrical engineer at Shenzhen Feixia Ligaoke Electromechanical
Technology Co., Ltd. (FRYITREEERMTAR A F]). From March
2010 to October 2017, Mr. Xu was the engineering manager of
Shenzhen Coolead Energy Conservation Technology Co., Ltd. (&3l
R IERBERIR AR AR

Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Electronic Information
Science and Technology from Hunan University of Technology (4
T AE) in June 2008.
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on August
25,2021 as an exempted company with limited liability. The Shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on December
12, 2022 by way of Global Offering. The Company issued
36,000,000 Shares at an offer price of HK$2.73 per Share on the
Stock Exchange by the Global Offering. The net proceeds from the
Global Offering, after deducting the underwriting fees and
commissions and related expenses, was approximately HK$47.1
million.

Details of the share capital of the Company during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

The Group is a PRC provider for (i) data transmission and
processing services for loT applications and (i) telecommunication
equipment, serving a broad range of industrial customers. The
Group mainly provides customized data transmission and
processing services to customers in manufacturing, municipal
services and other industries in the PRC, and researches, develops
and sells telecommunication equipment. To a lesser extent, the
Group also generates revenue from provision of other services,
such as telecommunication equipment maintenance and
telecommunication consulting services.

The Group's business review for the year is set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this annual report. The Group's future business
development discussion is set out in the sections headed
"Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report. The key financial performance
indicators used in the Group's performance analysis for the year are
set out in the section headed “Five Year Financial Summary” in this
annual report. The Group's results for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in the section headed "Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income” in this annual report.
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The Company in general meeting may declare dividends in any
currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended
by the Board. The declaration or recommendation of declaration of
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board. Even if the
Board decides to recommend and pay dividends, the form,
frequency and amount will depend upon the operations and
earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions and other factors of and affecting
the Group.

In deciding whether to recommend the payment of dividend to
Shareholders, the Board will take into account various factors,
including but not limited to, general business conditions, the
financial condition and results of operations, the capital
requirements and future prospects of the Group.

The payment of dividend is also subject to applicable laws and
regulations and the Company’s constitutional documents. No
dividend shall be paid otherwise than out of profits available for
distribution.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2023.

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend and
vote at the 2024 AGM to be held on Thursday, May 16, 2024, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
May 10, 2024 to Thursday, May 16, 2024, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be
qualified for attending and voting at the 2024 AGM, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, May 9, 2024.
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The Audit Committee, consisting of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Gu Jiong (Chairman), Mr. Fong
Wo, Felix and Mr. Yang Hai, has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2023, including the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and has recommended for the Board's approval thereof.
There is no disagreement by the Audit Committee with the
accounting treatment adopted by the Company.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

As of December 31, 2023, the amount of reserves available for
distribution of the Company was approximately RMB175.4 million.

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
2023 (2022: RMB100,000).

The Shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since December 12, 2022. The net proceeds from the
Global Offering, after deducting the underwriting fees,
commissions and related expenses, was HK$47.1 million (the “Net
Proceeds”). The Group will continue to utilize the Net Proceeds
from the Global Offering as set out in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The intended
application of the net proceeds as stated in the Prospectus and the
actual utilization of the net proceeds as of December 31, 2023 is set
out below:
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Approximate
percentage of
Purpose Net Proceeds
BHRENE
FEH
ik BRESL
Furthering research and development to
improve the Group's private 5G network
services
E-SMENURAEBSCEBIRY
¢ Recruit technology talents to expand the
Group's R&D team 31.2%
o BERRASERASER
il

¢ Software licensing and purchasing
customized hardware equipment 11.7%

o BHRERBETHRERE

Researching and developing industrial WLAN 15.7%
i TRRWLAN

Developing a common digitalization
foundation to further upgrade the Group's
Universal loT Platform 8.7%
RELRNETER  E—SASALE
HRANHAT A

R&D infrastructure upgrading 74%
TR R

Strengthening business development
capabilities 9.9%
BREBREY

Additional working capital and other general
corporate 9.3%

BINEERS A —REF

Total
a3t

Note:

During the Reporting Period, the Net Proceeds had been used according to the
purposes as stated in the Prospectus, and there were no material change or

delay in the use of the Net Proceeds.

Allocation of
Net Proceeds

AEFE
HEFH
(HK$ million)
(BEAT)

55

74

35

47

44

471

Unutilised Net

Utilized Net

Proceeds as of  Proceeds as of
January 1,  December 31,

2023 2023
BE-B-=F HE-Z-=F
-F—-A t+=ZA=t-H
RS E8A
FEREFE HENETFE
(HKS million) (HK$ million)
(BEAT) (BEBT)
175 18
55 3.1
74 1.7
4.1 4.1
35 0.5
47 29
44 =
471 14.1
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Unutilized Net
Proceeds as of
December 31,
2023
BE-2-=%
t=A=t-H
HAEA
FSREFE
(HKS million)
(BEBT)

24

57

0.0

30

44

330
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Expected
timeline for
the use of
unutilized Net
Proceeds™"
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RHBHR"

By December 2024
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By December 2024
“E-RE+ AR

By December 2024
“R-METZAM

By December 2024
12

By December 2024
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By December 2024
“ER_PETZ AR

By December 2024
“ToMET AN
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group's revenue generated from
the five largest customers of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB283.3 million, representing approximately 64.3% of the Group's
total revenue; and the revenue generated from the largest
customer of the Group amounted to approximately RMB87.5
million, representing approximately 19.9% of the Group's total
revenue. During the Reporting Period, purchases from the five
largest suppliers of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB165.3 million, representing approximately 47.2% of the Group's
total purchases; and purchases from the largest supplier of the
Group amounted to approximately RMB49.3 million, representing
approximately 14.1% of the Group's total purchases. During the
Reporting Period, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of
the Directors, their close associates, or Shareholders (which, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the number of
issued Shares) had interests in the five largest suppliers or
customers of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to
the Latest Practicable Date were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Chen Ping (Chairman)
Ms. Wang Zheshi

Mr. Feng Yijing

Mr. Wang Jun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Gu Jiong
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix
Mr. Yang Hai

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers
all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from
November 11, 2022, which may be terminated by not less than
three months' notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract/letter
of appointment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
was not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Below is the change of Director’s information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

Mr. Feng Yijing was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of DaFa Properties Group Limited (K27 5 B G R A7)
(stock code: 6111), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, with
effect from July 10, 2023.

Mr. Gu Jiong (E&/H) has resigned as an independent non-executive
director of DaFa Properties Group Limited (K Z& b2 5 B A R A 7))
(stock code: 6111) on January 10, 2023 and also resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Amlogic (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
(REFER(LE)RMNAMRAT) (stock code: 688099), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange on July 4, 2023.

Save as disclosed above and in this annual report, there was no
other information of Directors which shall be disclosed under
Paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules
during the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report.
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On November 11, 2022, each of the Group’s Controlling Shareholders
(each a "Covenantor” and collectively, the “Covenantors”) has given
an irrevocable non-competition undertaking in favor of the
Company (for itself and for benefit of each of the members of the
Group) under the Deed of Non-competition pursuant to which,
each of the Covenantors has irrevocably, unconditionally and
severally undertaken with the Company that, among others, with
effect from the Listing Date and for as long as the Shares remain
listed on the Stock Exchange and the Covenantors are individually
or collectively with any of their respective close associates
interested directly or indirectly in not less than 30% of the then
issued Shares (the “Restricted Period”), each Covenantor shall
not, and shall procure that their respective close associates will not:

(i) save for engaging in the Restricted Business (as defined
below) through the Group, directly or indirectly, whether on
its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any
person, carry on, develop, invest in, engage in, participate
or be interested in or acquire or hold any right or interest in
or otherwise be involved in any business (whether as owner,
director, operator, licensor, licensee, partner, shareholder,
joint venture, employee, consultant, agent or otherwise) in
competition with or likely to be in competition with the
existing business carried on by the Group in the PRC and
any part of the world (the “Restricted Business”);

(ii) directly or indirectly take any action which constitutes an
interference with or a disruption of the Restricted Business
including, but not limited to, (a) soliciting the Group's
customers, suppliers, employees or personnel of any
member of the Group; (b) inducing or soliciting any person
to induce any competition or suspension of the business of
the Group; and (c) engaging in any business or activity on its
own account or jointly with any person, that uses any trade
name or trademark (registered or non-registered) of the
Group, or any name of the Group that is used in association
with the Group’s business or activity at intervals, or any
fraudulent imitations (except for circumstances in which the
Group is involved); and/or

(iii) without the prior consent from the Company, make use of
any information pertaining to the business of the Group
which may have come to their knowledge in the capacity as
the Controlling Shareholders for any purpose of engaging,
investing or participating in any Restricted Business.
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Each of the Covenantors also undertakes to procure that, during
the Restricted Period, any business investment or other commercial
opportunity within and/or outside the PRC relating to the Restricted
Business (the “Business Opportunity”) identified by or offered to
the Covenantors and/or any of their close associates (the
"Offeror") is first referred to the Company in the following manner:

i)

(ii)

the Covenantors are required to, and shall procure their
close associates to, refer, or procure the referral of, the
Business Opportunity to the Company, and shall give written
notice to the Company of any Business Opportunity
containing all information reasonably necessary for the
Company to consider whether (a) the Business Opportunity
would constitute competition with its core business and/or
any other new business which the Group may undertake at
the relevant time, and (b) it is in the interest of the Group to
pursue the Business Opportunity, including but not limited
to the nature of the Business Opportunity and the details of
the investment or acquisition (the “Offer Notice") within 30
business days of identifying the Business Opportunity; and

the Offeror will be entitled to pursue the Business
Opportunity only if (a) the Offeror has received a written
notice from the Board declining the Business Opportunity
and confirming that the Business Opportunity would not
constitute competition with the core business of the
Company, or (b) the Offeror has not received the notice
from the Board within 20 days from the receipt of the Offer
Notice, provided that the principal terms by which the
Offeror subsequently pursues the Business Opportunity are
substantially the same and are not more favorable than
those made available to the Company; if there is a material
change in the terms and conditions of the Business
Opportunity pursued by the Offeror, the Offeror shall refer
to the Business Opportunity as so revised to the Company
again in the manner as set out above as if it were a new
Business Opportunity and that the terms of such pursuance,
whether directly or indirectly, shall be disclosed to the
Company and the Directors as soon as practicable.

Upon receipt of the Offer Notice, the Company shall seek opinions
and decisions from the Board (other than Directors who have a

material interest in the matter) as to whether (a) such Business

Opportunity would constitute competition with the Company’s core
business, and (b) it is in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole to pursue the Business Opportunity. Any
Director who has material interest in the Business Opportunity shall
abstain from voting at, and shall not be counted towards the
quorum for, any meeting or part of a meeting convened to consider
such Business Opportunity.
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Notwithstanding the aforesaid, the non-competition undertaking as
set out above shall not prevent the Covenantors and their
respective close associates from holding or being interested in a
direct or indirect shareholding interest of not more than 5% of the
issued shares in a company listed on a recognized stock exchange
and engaged in any Restricted Business provided that the relevant
Covenantors and/or their respective close associates do not control
the majority of the composition of the board of directors of that
company.

The Company has received confirmations from each of the
Covenantors confirming that they have complied with the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition during the year
ended December 31, 2023.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status
of compliance and confirmed that the Controlling Shareholders
have complied with all such non-competition undertakings during
the year ended December 31, 2023.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus, none of the Directors
had any interest in any businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the Reporting
Period.

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, there were
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business, to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which any of the Directors or an
entity connected with the Directors or the controlling shareholders
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, during the Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company did not enter into any
contract, other than the contracts of service with the Directors or
any person engaged in the full-time employment of the Company,
whereby any individual, firm or body corporate undertakes the
management and administration of the whole, or any substantial
part of any business of the Company.

As of December 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required to be (i) notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (i) entered
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or (i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the Model Code, were as follows:

Name of Director Capacity/ Number of
or chief executive Nature of interest Shares
ESUBETHABHSA 5%/ EatE RHEE
Dr. Chen Ping™ Interest of spouse 121,124,579
R 1 2 ferBtE s

Ms. Wang Zheshi®* Interest of corporation 121,124,579

controlled
G EEER
Beneficial owner =
ExAA

EHHL LM

Mr. Feng Yijing®
BE&EEY

Beneficial owner =

EahAA

Mr. Wang Jun®
FEL4Y

Beneficial owner -
EnfEAA
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Approximate

Number of percentage of

underlying interest in

Shares Total the Company

RSN E )

HEROHE Bt BABES

8902097 130,026,676 57.79%
8,902,097

130,026,676 57.79%

5913416 5913416 2.63%

3,184,487 3,184,487 1.42%
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Notes:

1. The calculation is based on the total number of 225,000,000 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2023.

2. Dr. Chen Ping, an executive Director, is the spouse of Ms. Wang Zheshi.

Therefore, Dr. Chen Ping is deemed to be interested in any Shares held
by Ms. Wang Zheshi by virtue of the SFO.

3. Howkingtech Holding Limited is directly held as to 56.80% by Ms. Wang
Zheshi. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Wang Zheshi is therefore deemed to
be interested in any Shares in which Howkingtech Holding Limited is
interested.

4. Ms. Wang Zheshi is interested in 8,902,097 share options granted to her
under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 8,902,097 Shares.

5. Mr. Feng Yijing is interested in 5,913,416 share options granted to her
under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 5,913,416 Shares.

6. Mr. Wang Jun is interested in 3,184,487 share options granted to her
under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 3,184,487 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as of
December 31, 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be (i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) entered in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
Model Code.

As of December 31, 2023, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company, pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:
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REBROHEFR

Long Position in the Shares

Approximate
percentage of

Capacity/ Number of interest in the
Name Nature of interest Shares Total Company
EESNGIE E 1)
B/ A 513 RRtE RO E szt BHEDL
Howkingtech Holding Limited Beneficial owner 121,124,579 121,124,579 53.83%
Howkingtech Holding Limited ERBAA
Ms. Jin Yan® Interest of controlled 121,124,579 121,124,579 53.83%
corporation
ik B REEd)EE R
Shanghai Jinyuan Changfu Enterprise ~ Beneficial owner 14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (“Shanghai Jinyuan")”
PEERRECEERAREE EREEA
(BRA%)([LBER)"
Shenzhen Huixin Qianhai Equity Interest of controlled 14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
Investment Enterprise (LLP) corporation
(“Huixin Qianhai")”
A EGAERERE LR Rt EE R
(BRA%)([EfAE])°
Ningbo Huixin Zhiyuan Investment Interest of controlled 14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
Management Partnership (LLP) corporation
("Ningbo Huixin")®
ERECHEREEEABEE ReEt)EEER
(ER&%) ([ERER])"
Ningbo Xinhui Qianhai Equity Interest of controlled 14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
Investment Co., Ltd. corporation
("Ningbo Xinhui")”
EREERMSRERERRAF ReEthEE R
([EREED)"
Ms. Xie Xiongging” Interest of controlled 14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
corporation
HE L+ ReEt)EEER
Mr. Ye Xiang” Interestin controlled 14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
corporation
Emrgl ReEd)EE R
Ms. Ban Lifeng" Interestin controlled 14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%

Rt

corporation
g bl S
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Notes:

1. The calculation is based on the total number of 225,000,000 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2023.

2. Howkingtech Holding Limited is directly held as to 43.20% by Ms. Jin
Yan. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Jin Yan is therefore deemed to be
interested in any Shares in which Howkingtech Holding Limited is
interested.

3. Huixin Qianhai holds 99.99% interest in Shanghai Jinyuan as the sole
general partner. Therefore, Huixin Qianhai is deemed to be interested in
any Shares held by Shanghai Jinyuan by virtue of the SFO. Further,
Ningbo Huixin holds 1.04% interest as the sole general partner of Huixin
Qianhai, whose sole general partner is Ningbo Xinhui holding 1.00% in
Ningbo Huixin. As such, by virtue of the SFO, each of Ningbo Xinhui,
Ningbo Huixin and Huixin Qianhai is therefore deemed to be interested
in any Shares in which Shanghai Jinyuan is interested.

4. Ms. Xie Xiongging holds 34.72% interest in Huixin Qianhai as a limited
partner, and each of Mr. Ye Xiang and Ms. Ban Lifeng holds 49.50%
interest respectively in Ningbo Huixin as a limited partner. Ningbo
Xinhui is also owned as to 50% by Mr. Ye Xiang and 50% by Ms. Ban
Lifeng. As such, by virtue of the SFO, each of Ms. Xie Xiongging, Mr. Ye
Xiang and Ms. Ban Lifeng is deemed to be interested in any Shares in
which Huixin Qianhai is interested.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
below, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debenture of, the
Company or any other body corporate during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
below, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreement during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is
given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has maintained appropriate liability insurance for its
Directors and senior management.
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Summary of terms

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share

Option Scheme approved and adopted by the written resolutions

of all Shareholders of the Company passed on November 11, 2022.

The Directors confirm that the terms of the Share Option Scheme

comply with the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing

Rules.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward to Eligible Persons (as defined in
paragraph (b) below) for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group
and for such other purposes as the Board may approve from
time to time.

Who may join

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible
persons (being any director or employee (whether full time
or part time), consultant or advisor of the Group who in the
sole discretion of the Board has contributed to and/or will
contribute to the Group) (the "Eligible Persons”) to
subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum number of Shares

(i) The maximum aggregate number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company, must not, in aggregate,
exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue
from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company if this will result in such
limit being exceeded.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Subject to paragraphs (c)(i), (iv) and (v), at the time of
adoption by the Company of the Share Option
Scheme or any new share option scheme (the “New
Scheme”), the aggregate number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme, the New
Scheme and all schemes existing at such time (the
“Existing Schemes"”) of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of the
Shares in issue as of the Listing Date (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit").

For the purposes of calculating the Scheme Mandate
Limit under paragraph (c)(ii), Shares which are the
subject matter of any options that have already
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant
Existing Scheme(s) shall not be counted.

The Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general
meeting, provided that:

o the Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall
not exceed 10% of the total number of issued
Shares as of the date of Shareholders’
approval of the refreshment of the Scheme
Mandate Limit;

o options previously granted under any Existing
Schemes (including options outstanding,
cancelled, or lapsed in accordance with the
relevant scheme rules or exercised options)
shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the limit as refreshed; and

J a circular regarding the proposed refreshment
of the Scheme Mandate Limit has been
dispatched to the Shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the matters
specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

(if)

(iii)

(iv)
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(d)

As of the date of this annual report, the total number
of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 22,500,000 Shares, representing 10% of
the issued Shares as of the date of this annual report.

(v) The Company may seek separate approval from the
Shareholders in the general meeting for granting
options which will result in the Scheme Mandate
Limit being exceeded, provided that:

o the grant is to Eligible Persons specifically
identified by the Company before the
approval is sought; and

° a circular regarding the grant has been
dispatched to the Shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the matters
specified in, the relevant provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and rules, in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum number of options to any one individual

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person (the
“Relevant Eligible Person”) if, at the relevant time of grant,
the number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all Options (granted and proposed to be granted,
whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) to the Relevant
Eligible Person in the 12-month period expiring on the date
on which an offer of the grant of an option under the Share
Option Scheme is made to the Relevant Eligible Person
would exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue at
such time, unless:

J such grant has been duly approved, in the manner
prescribed by the relevant provisions of Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules, by ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders in general meeting, at which the
Relevant Eligible Person and his associates abstained

from voting;

J a circular regarding the grant has been dispatched to
the Shareholders in a manner complying with, and
containing the information specified in, the relevant
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

(d)
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(e)

()

° the number and terms (including the Subscription
Price) of such options are fixed before the general
meeting of the Company at which the same are
approved.

Price of Shares

The subscription price for a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme (which shall
be payable upon exercise of the option) shall be a price
solely determined by the Board and notified to all Eligible
Person and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of offer to grant option (the
"Offer Date"”), which must be a business day; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange'’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer to grant
option (provided that the new issue price shall be used as
the closing price for any business day falling within the
period before the listing Shares where the Company has
been listed for less than five business days as of the Offer
Date); and (iii) the nominal value of the Share. A
consideration of RMB1.0 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of an option or options.

Time of exercise of option

Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations, the Board may in its
absolute discretion when offering the grant of an option
impose an y conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation
thereto in addition to those set forth in the Share Option
Scheme as the Board may think fit (to be stated in the offer
letter) including (without prejudice to the generality of the
foregoing) qualifying and/or continuing eligibility criteria,
conditions, restrictions or limitations relating to the
achievement of performance, operating or financial targets
by the Company and/or the grantee, the satisfactory
performance or maintenance by the grantee of certain
conditions or obligations or the time or period before the
right to exercise the option in respect of all or any of the
Shares shall vest provided that such terms or conditions shall
not be inconsistent with any other terms or conditions of the
Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt, subject
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to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine as
aforesaid (including such terms and conditions in relation to
their vesting, exercise or otherwise) there is no minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and no performance target which need to be
achieved by the grantee before the option can be exercised.

The date of grant of any particular option is the date on
which the offer relating to such option is duly accepted by
the grantee in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
An option may be exercised according to the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by
the grantee (or his personal representatives) before its
expiry by giving notice in writing to the Company stating
that the option is to be exercised and the number of Shares
in respect of which it is exercised provided that the number
of Shares shall be equal to the size of a board lot for dealing
in Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple
thereof. Such notice must be accompanied by a remittance
for the full amount of the subscription price for the Shares in
respect of which the notice is given. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the
Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be
exercised more than 10 years from the date of grant. No
option may be granted more than 10 years after the date of
approval of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to earlier
termination by the Company in general meeting, the Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years from the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme by Shareholders by resolution at a general meeting.
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EEERE

Details of movements of the share options granted under R ¥R Hi AR 15 B8 B o1 214 H M BE At 2 3
the Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period are as  FFIBEHA T :
follows:
Outstanding
Closing price options Outstanding
immediately asof 1 options as of
Exercise prior to the January December Exercise
Grantees Date of grant Price grant 2023 Granted Exercised Canceled  Lapsed 31,2023 period™™
e et BE-R-zF
-A-A +=R=t-A
RERHAN  HAMTEN HATEN
ARA RARH i UG | BRE BRY B BEE BXM BRE g

(HK$/share)  (HK$/Share)
(BRERn)  (BRER)

Directors
Bz
Ms. Wang Zheshi March29, 2023 156 1.54 - 890209 - - - 8,902,097 March 29, 2024 to
March 28, 2033
TEfaT S ZEWE=AZTNRE
=ZAZthH ZE=ZEZACT\A
Mr.FengYiing ~ March29,2023 1.56 1.4 - 593416 - - - 5913416 March 29, 2024 to
March 28, 2033
BEmil “EocE ZTCME=AZTNRE
=R-thR i e
Mr. Wang Jun March 29,2023 1.56 1.4 - 3184487 - - - 3184487 March 29, 2024 to
March 28, 2033
TERE “ECCE ZZME=AZTNRE
=R=thH e e
Other employee  March29,2023 156 154 - 4,500,000 - - - 4,500,000 March 29, 2024 to
participants March 28, 2033
AfiEE2EE T 2 e 2
=R=thH ZE==E=A=1)\A
Total 22,500,000 - - - 22,500,000




Note:

Subject to the vesting conditions as stated in the respective letters of grant of
the grantees, the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme will be
vested to the grantees in three tranches within three years from the date of grant
as follows:

In respect of the grant to the grantees (except Ms. Wang Zheshi, Mr. Feng Yijing
and Mr. Wang Jun)

(i) one-third of the share options granted to each grantee will be vested at
any time upon the expiration of 12 months from the date of grant;

(ii) one-third of the share options granted to each grantee will be vested at
any time upon the expiration of 24 months from the date of grant; and

(iii) one-third of the share options granted to each grantee will be vested at
any time upon the expiration of 36 months from the date of grant;

In respect of the Grant to Ms. Wang Zheshi, Mr. Feng Yijing and Mr. Wang Jun

(i) 7,402,097, 4,413,416 and 1,684,487 of the share options granted to Ms.
Wang Zheshi, Mr. Feng Yijing and Mr. Wang Jun, respectively, will be
vested at any time upon the expiration of 12 months from the date of
grant;

(ii) 750,000 of the share options granted to each of them will be vested at
any time upon the expiration of 24 months from the date of grant; and

(iii) 750,000 of the share options granted to each of them will be vested at
any time upon the expiration of 36 months from the date of grant.

The number of options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme mandate as of the adoption date and the end of the
Reporting Period were 22,500,000 and nil, respectively.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme of the Company
during the Reporting Period divided by the weighted average
number of Shares in issue (i.e. 224,823,365 Shares) is approximately
0.10.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is eight years and
eight months.
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The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme on May 16, 2023.
The objectives of the Share Award Scheme are: (i) to recognize the
contributions by certain eligible participants and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and (i) to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group. More details are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated May 16, 2023.

Summary of terms

Eligible participants include: (i) any employees of the Group; (i) any
employees of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
associated companies of the Company; and (iii) any persons who
provide services to any members of the Group on a continuing or
recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which
are in the interests of the long-term growth of the Group, provided
any such person is not a connected person of the Company.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
board of directors of the Company, the share award scheme shall
be valid and effective for a term of ten years commencing on May
16, 2023 after which no further awards will be granted.

Subject to the Share Award Scheme rules, awarded Shares may be
(i) purchased on the Stock Exchange; or (i) accepted and received
from any significant shareholder or any party designated by the
Company. Once purchased or received, the awarded Shares are to
be held directly or indirectly by the trustee for the benefit of the
selected participants under the trust until they are vested, on and
subject to the terms and conditions of the share award scheme
rules and the trust deed.

The Board shall not make any further grant of award such that the
total number of Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme will
exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as of May 16,
2023. On the basis that the total number of issued Shares as of May
16, 2023 was 225,000,000 Shares, the aforesaid 10% limit represents
a total of 22,500,000 Shares. The maximum number of Shares
awarded to a selected participant under the Share Award Scheme,
which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect
of all awards granted to such person (excluding any awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the respective scheme(s)), shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company in any
twelve-month period.
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Subject to the Share Award Scheme rules, the Board may, at its
sole and absolute discretion, select any eligible participant for
participation in the Share Award Scheme as a selected participant
and determine the number of Shares to be awarded.

During the Reporting Period, no award Shares were granted,
vested, cancelled or lapsed, and there were no unvested awards
under the Share Award Scheme. Accordingly, the number of Shares
that may be issued in respect of awards granted under the Share
Award Scheme during the Reporting Period divided by the
weighted average number of Shares in issue is nil.

The number of awards available for grant under the Share Award
Scheme mandate as of the adoption date and the end of the
Reporting Period were 22,500,000 and 22,500,000, respectively.

The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is nine years and
one month.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as of the date of this
annual report, the Directors confirm that the Company had
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules as of
the Latest Practicable Date.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata basis
to its existing Shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.
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There were no other significant events that required additional
disclosure or adjustments occurred after the end of the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this annual report.

On May 25, 2023, the Company, Etic International Limited and
Yitaike Talent Limited entered into the agreement for the
subscription by the Company for the 111,270 new ordinary shares
(the “Subscription Shares”) in the share capital of Etic International
Limited to be subscribed by the Company at a consideration of
HK$15,000,000 in cash (the “Subscription”). The Subscription
Shares represent 2.2254% of the issued share capital of Etic
International Limited as of May 25, 2023, and approximately
2.17695% of the issued share capital of Etic International Limited as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares.

Ms. Wang Zheshi, as a controlling shareholder of the Company and
an executive Director, indirectly holds approximately 50.41468% of
the issued share capital of Etic International Limited through Yitaike
Talent Limited, a wholly-owned investment vehicle of Ms. Wang
Zheshi. As such, each of Etic International Limited and Yitaike
Talent Limited is an associate of Ms. Wang Zheshi, and thus a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Subscription constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
As the highest applicable percentage ratio (as defined in the Listing
Rules) in respect of the Subscription exceeds 0.1% but is less than
5%, the Subscription is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.

For more details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated May 25, 2023.

The related party transactions undertaken during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 30 to the financial statements which do
not constitute connected or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied
with all relevant disclosure requirements as set out in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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The Company is committed to environmental protection and
promoting corporate social responsibility and best corporate
governance practices for the sustainable development and take up
responsibilities as a corporate citizen. The Company has established
ESG policies in accordance with the standards of Appendix C2
(formerly Appendix 27) to the Listing Rules, which outlined, among
others, (i) appropriate risk governance on ESG matters, including
climate-related risks and opportunities; (ii) identification of key
stakeholders and the communication channels to engage with
them; (iii) ESG strategy formation procedures; (iv) ESG risk
management and monitoring; and (v) the identification of key
performance indicators, the relevant measurements and mitigating
measures.

Details of environmental policies and performance of the Company
will be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report contained in this annual report.

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2023 have been audited by Ernst & Young,
the auditor of the Company, who shall retire and, being eligible,
have offered itself for re-appointment as auditor of the Company at
the 2024 AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the 2024 AGM to
reappoint Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company and to
authorize the Board to fix the remuneration of the auditor. There
was no change in the auditor of the Company in the preceding
three years.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not been and were
not involved in any non-compliance incidents that led to fines,
enforcement actions or other penalties that could, individually or in
the aggregate, had a material adverse effect on the Group's
business, financial condition or results of operations. As far as the
Company is aware, the Group had complied with all relevant laws
and regulations in the jurisdictions which the Group operated in
during the Reporting Period in all material respects.
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The Group's business may be materially and adversely affected by
these risks, including the following:

Risk Category
[ B 2 Bl

Operational Risk

R

Risk Description
TR B i 2t

The Group's business relies on a limited
number of customers, and the Group derived
asignificant portion of the revenue from
the Group's top five customers. Changes of
customer demand, business model or strategy
may resultin the decrease or loss of business
with customers, which could adversely affect
the Group's business.

The Group is exposed to credit risk related
to defaults of the Group's customers. If the
relationship between the Group and any of
its customers is terminated or deteriorated,
orifany of the Group’s customers experience
financial difficulties in settling the trade
receivables, the risks for uncollectible
receivables may increase, which might cause
working capital pressure for the Group and
could adversely impact the Group's financial
condition andresults of operations.
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Response to Risk

Bz e

The Group has been actively improving
the after-sales service system, protecting
the rights and interests of customers
to maintain good customer relations,
and continuing to upgrade technology,
exploring a variety of diversified
business development models to
achieve the diversified development of
our businesses.

By establishing a risk control plan, the
Group will strengthen the management
of trade receivables, conduct daily
supervision, and continue to track long
— aging trade receivables to ensure that
risks are effectively controlled.
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Risk Category
[ B 38

Compliance Risk

BRER

Risk Description
R B i 3

The Group could be adversely and materially
affected as aresult of business activities with
certain entities or in countries or territories
thatare, ormay become subject to, sanctions
administered by the United States, the
European Union, the United Kingdoms, the
United Nations, Australia and other relevant
sanctions authorities. Moreover, in the event
that any of the Group's customers becomes
subject to economic sanctions in the future,
the Group may have to discontinue its business
with such customers due to potential economic
sanctions liability risks. In such events, the
Group's financial results may be materially and
adversely affected.

Ifany of the Group's subsidiaries, employees
or other persons engage in fraudulent, corrupt
or other unfair business practices or otherwise
violate applicable laws, regulations or internal
control policies, the Group could become
subject to penalties, fines or sanctions and in
turn adversely affectits reputation, business,
financial condition andresults of operations.
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Response to Risk

22, B P 3

The Group has established a dedicated
team of overseas risk control to monitor
the uncertainties and potential risks
in relation to international sanctions.
Moreover, to ensure the effective
implementation of the internal risk
management policies and procedures,
the Group will review and update on a
regular basis based on the opinions of
the external legal counsel. The Group
will strategically choose cooperative
partners to avoid possible sanctions
risks, for instance, the Group has ceased
its business activities in Russia after
completing all existing contractual
obligations with its Russian distributor in
December 2022.

The Group will strengthen training on
anti-corruption, anti-money laundering,
anti-bribery and other relevant laws and
regulations for the Group’s directors,
senior managers and employees.
The Group will also implement a
whistleblowing mechanism to encourage
staff to report any irregularities to
their supervisors and if their legitimate
concerns are ignored or covered up,
they can report directly to the Board.
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Risk Category
B 38

Strategic Risk

B 2

Risk Description

g P

The Group operates in arapidly evolving
industry and 5G technologies are expected
to be iterated by the next generation of
cellulartechnology. If the Group fails to
continuously upgrade its technology and
provide useful services and products that meet
the expectation of its customers, the Group
may fail to retain existing customers and attract
new customers in sufficient numbers, and its
business, results of operations and prospects
may be materially and adversely affected.

The Group's success depends on the
continuing efforts of its senior management
and key personnel. If the Group's senior
management is unable to work together
effectively or efficiently or if the Group fails to
recruit, retain, train and motivate its personnel,
the Group's business may be severely
disrupted, and its financial condition and
results of operations may be materially and
adversely affected.
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Response to Risk

22, B P

The Group will continue to capture
the market opportunities, increase
investment in research and development
and make other efforts in response to
market constant changes.

The Group will improve its continuing
ability to attract, recruit and train a
large number of qualified employees
and retain existing key employees.
What's more, the Group will strengthen
the training of employees, especially
the research and development team,
improve the salary and welfare system,
and provide effective promotion
channels, so as to motivate the
employees of the Group.
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Risk Category
[ B 38

ESG Risks

Risk Description

22, B i3t

Resources and energy management
Ineffective resources and energy management
may potentially lead to excessive energy
usage, which leads to increased operational
cost.

Impact of climate change

Climate change may lead to risks of more
frequent extreme weather conditions.
Such risks may lead to potential injuries
to employees and increase in insurance
premiumsinlongterm.

Regulators may require increasing disclosure
on emission and tighten environmental
regulations. Such transitional risks which
require the Group to move towards a
sustainable business model may potentially
lead to impacts such as increased operational
costfrom change of operational practices.

Human capital development

Insufficient resources devoted towards the
development of human capital, such as lack
of training and promotion opportunities, may
put the Group atrisk of higher turnover rates
and less competent workforce in medium and
long term. Strong human capital development
and the provision of competitive remuneration
packages may improve employee retention
and dedication.

Privacy and data security

Ineffective privacy and data protection policies
may put the Group atrisk of data leakages and
privacy breaches, leading to increased costs
in addressing regulatory actions, involving
litigations and potential fines, and also
potentially tarnishing the Group's reputation.

Response to Risk

22, B P 3

Promoting energy conservation
and environmentally friendly
procurement practices

Reviewing and accounting for
greenhouse gas emissions and
resource consumptions

Performing overall waste
management in the office and
testing and assembly center

Providing work arrangements for bad
weather and/or extreme conditions
to mitigate potential injuries to
employees and increase in insurance
premiums

Monitoring the changes in ESG-
related regulatory requirements and
market trend

Assessing the energy consumption
proportion in our operation
comprehensively and optimizing the
corresponding procedures

Providing employees with
competitive social benefits and
career development opportunities

Requiring employees to sign non-
disclosure agreement to mitigate
privacy and data security risks
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Risk Category
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Risk Description
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The Group acknowledges the importance of stakeholders to
corporate development and pays attention to matters of concern
to stakeholders including the government and regulators,
shareholders and investors, employees, business partners,
suppliers, customers and the community. The Group maintains
transparent and bilateral exchange, strengthens mutual trust and
cooperation and establishes harmonious relationship with its
stakeholders. The Group’s success depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise the Directors and senior
management, employees, customers and suppliers.

For details on the Group's relationships with employees, customers
and suppliers during the Reporting Period, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report contained in this
annual report.

By order of the Board
Howkingtech International Holding Limited
Chen Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, March 25, 2024
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This report is the Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
Report (the “"Report”) for the year 2023 of Howkingtech
International Holding Limited (“Howkingtech”, the
“"Company” or “We"). During the preparation of this Report,
we endeavor to ensure the information contained herein
meet the requirements of the Stock Exchange in terms of
materiality, quantification, balance and consistency, and to
give a comprehensive interpretation of the Company’s
management approach and performance with respect to ESG
in 2023. We will continue to strengthen our information
collection for the Report to enhance our performance and
disclosure on sustainability, and facilitate the understanding
and communication between stakeholders and the Company
such that the Company shows improvement continuously.

The policy documents, statements and information
contained in the Report cover the Company and its
subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities for the
relevant period, and its content covers a period from
January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”) and its scope is consistent with that of the annual
report of the Company. For details of the Company's
compliance with the requirements of the corporate
governance, please refer to the “Corporate Governance
Report” in the Company’s annual report for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

This Report has complied with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) as set forth
under Appendix C2 (formerly Appendix 27) of the Listing
Rules of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and discloses
the Company'’s contribution to the Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations (UN).
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All data in the Report are extracted from the Company's
statistical reports and relevant documents. The Company
undertakes that there is no false information or misleading
statements herein and is liable for its authenticity, accuracy
and completeness.

The Board and senior management team of the Company
monitor the content of the Report to ensure that it is free
from any false information, misleading statements or
material omissions.

This Report has been approved for publication by the Board
on March 25, 2024.

In order to carry out the sustainable development concept
and integrate it into the Company’s business development,
the Company has established a top-down ESG management
structure. As the highest ESG decision-making body of the
Company, the Board is fully responsible for managing and
supervising matters relating to the Company’s ESG,
reviewing and approving ESG policies, performance and
information disclosures, directing and reviewing the
formulation of the main ESG objectives of Company. The
Environmental, Social and Governance Working Group
("ESG Working Group”) is responsible for assisting the
Directors in implementing the agreed ESG policies,
objectives and strategies, making objective evaluation on
the results and effectiveness of the ESG work on a regular
basis, participating in the identification of key ESG risks and
the formulation of countermeasures, and making
recommendations and reporting to the Board regarding the
ESG matters. All relevant business departments are
responsible for daily ESG management and report to the
ESG Working Group on a regular basis to ensure that all
work is carried out properly.

During the Reporting Period, the Company attached
importance to the expectations and demands of all
stakeholders, identified and evaluated important ESG issues
through interviews and questionnaires. The evaluation
results were discussed and reviewed by the Board and
disclosed in the sections headed “Communication with
Stakeholders” and “Analysis on Material Issues” in this
Report. Material issues have also been responded to in the
Report, including the Company’s risks in relevant ESG issues
(including risks on climate change).
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Materiality principle: In compliance with the relevant
regulatory requirements such as the ESG Reporting Guide
of the Stock Exchange, the Company communicated and
exchange ideas with various stakeholders by different
means, with benchmark analysis on the issues disclosed in
the ESG reports of its industry peers and conducted an in-
depth analysis of the highlights and characteristics of the
Company to ultimately identify and select its material issues
on sustainability.

Quantification principle: In accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide, the Company has prepared statistics for
and summarized the quantitative key disclosure indicators

|u

under the entire “environmental” scope and part of the
“social” scope, disclosed the standards and methods used
in the statistics and calculation, and formulated the
environmental and social performance table so that key

indicators could be evaluated and verified.

Balance principle: The Report aims at reviewing and
disclosing the Company’s management practices and
performance in ESG from an objective and fair perspective.

Consistency principle: Compared with the annual report of
the Company, the Report made no significant adjustment to
the scope of disclosure, and the standards and
methodologies used in calculating the quantitative key
indicators were consistent to ensure the comparability of the
content of the Report.
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7.1

ESG Governance Structure

The Company has established an ESG governance
structure comprising the Board, the ESG Working
Group, and business and functional departments to
meet the needs of the Company in sustainable
development, strengthen the research and planning
of sustainable development strategies, and improve
its capability to deal with and manage ESG risks.

Top decision-
making level

SEREE

Organization and
supervision level

& BE AR
/fxvtbé—?f%l =hi=]

Executive level

SHATE
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BRERTZ MBS ELRE
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B EE R EIRAE ) ©

The Board

EAy

Environmental, Social and
Governance Working Group
(ESG Working Group)
RIR g REBIENE
(ESGI{E/H)

Business and functional departments

75 N e BB

Figure: ESG governance structure of the Company
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The Board, comprising four executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors, is the
Company’s top decision-making body on ESG-
related matters and is fully responsible for the
Company'’s ESG policies, initiatives and performance.
The Board is responsible for guiding the
management and supervision of ESG-related issues,
assessing the Company’s key ESG risks and the
effectiveness of response measures on a regular
basis; reviewing the materiality assessment and
prioritization of ESG issues and reviewing the
Company's performance on ESG-related objectives;
reviewing and approving ESG disclosures to ensure
compliance with the requirements and expectations
of regulators and investors at all times.
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The ESG Working Group consists of three members,
namely the General Manager, Finance Manager and
Administration Manager, and is primarily responsible
for assisting the Directors in implementing the
agreed ESG policies, objectives and strategies. Its
responsibilities and authorities mainly include:
developing and reviewing the Company’s ESG-
related visions, goals and strategic plans and
monitoring their implementation on an ongoing
basis; assessing the importance of key ESG risks and
how the Company adapts its operations to climate
change and developing countermeasures;
formulating the Company’'s ESG-related
management system; reviewing the Company'’s
annual ESG report to ensure that it is prepared in
accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guidelines and complies with
the relevant regulations; conducting objective
assessment on the results and effectiveness of the
Group's ESG efforts periodically and making
recommendations and reporting to the Board of
Directors.

Each of the relevant business and functional
departments is responsible for developing and
implementing relevant strategies in their respective
areas in accordance with the ESG management
policies and objectives formulated to ensure the
implementation of all work, and shall regularly report
to the ESG Working Group.
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7.2
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Awards 7.2

During the Reporting Period,with its technological
innovation and market-competitive products and
services,Howkingtech was awarded the title of “2023
National specialized,Sophisticated,Unique and
Innovative little giant Enterprises (2023%F € BZXK M=
B/ NEADE)", becoming a representative
outstanding enterprise in the industry.
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Picture: the Company obtained certification of “2023 National specialized, Sophisticated,
Unique and Innovative little giant Enterprises”
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RIR - HEREREE

8 ACTIVE SUPPORT FOR THE SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT GOALS

The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) aim to
guide countries around the world in addressing
development issues in the three major areas of economy,
society and environment, and to encourage all parties,
including enterprises, to actively contribute their own efforts
to achieve sustainable development. Based on its business
characteristics, Howkingtech has identified a series of
priorities within the SDGs framework that are most important
to the development of the Company and has integrated
ESG management concepts to guide the Company’s ESG
efforts.

While pursuing business growth, we actively seek the
common development of commercial value and social value,
and have taken a number of actions in the identified key
areas of SDGs as set out below.
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UN Sustainable
Development Goal
BEEEERR
BiE

3 Good health and
welling

RFHf2 Br AR AL

4 Quality education
BEHE

5 Gender equality
RIS

Description of Goals

SRS P

Ensure healthy lives and
promote well-being for
all at all ages
EREENEEL
REBFHRBRARNE
il

Ensure inclusive and
equitable quality
education and promote
lifelong learning
opportunities for all
BRAEET ATHEZ
HE  REZRZEK
HBEHE

Achieve gender
equality and empower
all women and girls
BRMMNTE - BB
fm - wEE

Al

Our action

EMWTE

] We care about the health and safety of our
employees, and pay medical insurance and
arrange annual physical examinations for
them

0 BMEIEIRENEZ S  RETHMER
Rie - WHEBE THERSERR

o We provide badminton and table tennis
venues for employees, and encourage
employees to participate in hiking and
marathon activities

. HIFIRE TRECPERIEEIGH - 5B
BI2NERERERINES

o We provide pre-job and on-the-job training
programs for employees, focusing on the
improvement of employees’ professional

ability

. IR E TR EATAMERMEINETE - JTE
B TRREE T

o We firmly oppose gender discrimination,

create a fair and equitable work environment
and provide equal employment and
promotion opportunities for women

. HFIRARREMERIRAR - SERAFRAENT
ERIR - RIHRE T ENORENEHE

o We prepared a gift for each female employee
on International Working Women'’s Day

. HAAINRE R E AT LM E TEERY



UN Sustainable
Development Goal
BEESERR
BE

8 Decent working and
economic growth
BETEMEERR

9 Industry, innovation
and infrastructure
EEZ - BIETANERE

B3}

Description of Goals

SRS P

Ensure decent working
in all regions and drive
regional economic
growth
MRS =i EeE TIEIL
B @ A EIE R

Build resilient
infrastructure,
promote inclusive

and sustainable
industrialization, and
foster innovation
BEEBEREKXEEN
WEMRIE - (BEAR
BAMMRFHETSE
b - HEZHEIFT

Our action

EMWTE

We are actively involved in local development,
provide quality jobs in the industry and
drive economic development
HPERSE TR REEEN TN
i - (R R

We are committed to building a
competitive career development platform
and offering reasonable remuneration and
benefits

BABAMNTERBF NNBERERTE
TR A IR r B A

We have established and improved
the recruitment and leave system, and
employees are encouraged to use annual
leave and time off in lieu to balance work
and life

BMEZRE2HE  AREIE - BEIRE
PR RANFRIA T TS AR

We insist on innovation and development,
constantly expand our R&D department,
and focus on the R&D and production
of communication equipment and 5G
technology
BFIRRFRIFT R - TETEAEE] - &
JERBIS R A FSGRAN AR 3% B A

We actively promote the implementation
of 10T in industrial and smart city scenarios
to improve the efficiency and security of
data transmission
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UN Sustainable
Development Goal
BEEEERR
BiE

10 Reduced inequality
HOTTE

12 Responsible
consumption and
production

BREMEENEE

Description of Goals

SRS P

Reduce inequality within
and among countries
WA BERAEBMBER 2
AR

Ensure sustainable
consumption and
production patterns
R H B MAE
B

Our action

EMWTE

We advocate gender equality and equal
employment, prohibit the employment
of child labor, and protect the legitimate
rights and interests of employees
BPEEMRTEMTEEERE  2LIERE
I RESI&EER

We actively participate in public welfare
activities and care for the education
development in rural areas
HMBER2EARES  BEANDRHE
TR

We have established and improved our
staff training system, so as to support the
development and growth of our employees
B2 B THIBR  XIHETHR
BRK R

We have clarified the quality management
process and system with the suppliers, and
set up the product inspection and recall
mechanism to ensure the product quality is
qualified

R EmAE T HEERRIEMER -
WHRETEmRBRNGOARBES - BRE

mEEATK

We have established a data security
management system to ensure customer
privacy

MR TR 2ERERRERTFEL

We continue to perfect pre-sale and
after-sales services, strengthen the
communication mechanism with customers,
and maintain customer satisfaction
BT E TS ERMEERTE - TEREP
B - gEEPREE
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R HEREREE

UN Sustainable
Development Goal
BEETRHERR
BE

Description of Goals

SRS P

Our action

EMWTE

13 Climate action

RIRTTE

Take urgent action to
combat climate change
and its impact
RREITBRE R
Bl RHEPE

We actively create a low-carbon and
environmentally friendly corporate culture
and raise the environmental awareness
of employees, for example, reminding
employees to save water and electricity
in office area, and setting the operating
temperature of air conditioners
BREEEBIRERNEEE - RRETR
REH - ERLAERIERE TEKASE -
RIEZEHEFRE

We identify and actively respond to climate
change risks

a8 | % 4 R B I 7 15

16 Peace, justice and
strong institutions
MF - EFEBRA
g

Promote peaceful

and inclusive societies
for sustainable
development, provide
access to justice for

all and build effective,
accountable and
inclusive institutions at
all levels

BIERYE - BRI E
AR FHE R - &
FiE AEReaR#E RDA -
EERBEIBX - BF
ME BB

We strictly abide by and operate in
compliance laws and regulations

BPIERIEEERER - ARKEE

We have established a bottom-up anti-
bribery, anti-fraud and anti-corruption
reporting mechanism

BRI THATEZEINRES  REE R
I8 AR FR A




Howkingtech attaches great importance to the participation
of stakeholders and is committed to building a good

cooperative and mutually beneficial relationship with

internal and external stakeholders. The Company actively

establishes and expands communication channels, maintains

regular and close communication with stakeholders such as

the government and regulators, shareholders and investors,

customers, employees, suppliers and partners, society and

the public, listens and responds to the expectations and

demands of different stakeholders, and integrates them into

the daily operation and future planning of the Company, in

a bid to join hands with stakeholders to achieve win-win

results and maximize comprehensive value.

Stakeholders
AzABR

Government and
Regulators

B R EEEHE

Shareholders and investors

R EIEE

Customers

=P

Expectations and Demands

M EERR

Comply with laws and regulations
Pay tax in accordance with the laws
Commerecial ethics

BTRRER

HOEMN

[EESELS

Financial results

Information disclosure

Business development
Communication channels

IEvE S

EEHE

Fi5ER

BBRE

Information security
Product quality
Quality services
EELZE
EmEE

BB RS
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FRHERBEHFERERAGEEERA
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Communication and Response

BEEEE

Compliance operation

Full tax payment

Daily communication and reporting

BREE

-Era )

BEBRERE

Regular financial and operational
disclosures

Regular convening of general meetings

Company official website

Investor relations email

EHBRBEMEMEEER

THAFBRRAS

NAEH

& E BRI

Protection of customer information
and privacy

Product quality testing and recall
mechanisms

Customer service system

REE P15 B RN

EmE SRR A B

PRI R
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Stakeholders Expectations and Demands Communication and Response

Mz AERE ST HRERRR BB D e

Employees Labor rights Staff Handbook

BT Salaries and benefits Health Internal meetings and notices Safe
and safety work environment

Career development and

Annual staff physical examination

advancement Performance evaluation
BIHER Training and team building activities
FEBN ST FM
(EIE e WEfEZ S BE
BREREST ZEITHERE
FEEIERR
BT
1 N B A E)
Suppliers and partners Integrity in cooperation Supplier evaluation
HIER REERH Commercial ethics and reputation Daily meetings and communication
BIEE1E Perform contracts in accordance with
AREREEE the laws
e
BRe®HEEE
HEBITAR
Society and the public Support social welfare Encourage staff to engage in volunteer
HERAR Engagement in community services
development Focus on community investment and
FREZaN— N contribution
SRR B B T2 EERE RK

B84 R IR & B B




In order to accurately locate the focus of ESG management
practice and comprehensively deepen the practice of ESG
issue management, Howkingtech has established an analysis
process for material issues to define material ESG issues that
are relevant to the sustainable development of the Company
and stakeholders.

Identifying material issues: a total of 22 material issues
that can affect the Company’s business development, or
affect the stakeholders’ assessment and decision-making of
the Company are identified by conducting external policy
research, benchmarking analysis of industry peers, industry
development trend survey, referencing to other relevant
documents and taking into account the Company’s
development strategy, business characteristics and its own
characteristics.

Conducting interviews and market research: third-party
experts and consultants are invited to conduct relevant
work, prepare and distribute questionnaires on ESG
substantive issues and conduct benchmarking of ESG
performance of comparable companies in the industry
combined with interviews with the Company’s management
and other stakeholders.

Determining the rank of issues: importance of issues are
ranked based on the stakeholder evaluation and
questionnaire data, and we confirm the rank of issues for the
year after submitting to the management for review.

Verification and reporting: materiality analysis matrix is
established according to the assessment results of the issues
and we emphasized the disclosure in the report on issues of
high importance.

During the Reporting Period, we analyzed and sorted the
materiality of ESG issues from two dimensions, being the
importance to the Company’ operation and stakeholders,
through policy research, enterprise interviews,
questionnaires and industry benchmarking to gain full
understanding of expectations and suggestions from each
stakeholder, and to provide basis for the formulation of
long-term ESG development strategy. We identified 16
issues of high importance, 2 of moderate importance and 4
of low importance in total.

RIBETMUESGERERENEE - 2|
FCESGHBEEER @ REREEY
TEAEFEBEONRIZ - UREELQF]
MANZABE S A REZE R BEHENE
RMESGEE o

BB E AR B RIMNEEER
% BATHEESNT  TERRBERAT
REMEMBEAXIHE  BGAARER
BB - EREFRNA S  #RIFE
NABERE - AR ENDERETHA
AR AR R E AR KA 2218 -

PRI AR MERT  AFEE=TER
R ERFARAM[TIE  RELBW
ESGEEMEERAETRE - HaBEAQA
EEE  HibMaEAmaFawk 0 I
EITRITHEAI L ARIESGREMNEIRT
fE o

BEBRBEHF | RIEN DA FER
FAEAEHE HERAEERREIR
F RRXEEBENR  BEANFEZ
BT

BRBERE  RESEFEERERE
REDITRERE - BN S EERHEE
WETETERWE -

HBEDRA - RAABBRARERRTE - &
Xahek - MERE - ITEEE - tEHA
BIEL AR M HRE T E R R
B - ESGEEHERREEITOMNE
BEF - 0 TR AR 2
2 RHERENESGERBRSIRH
wRiE - RPIHBAIH16ESEERS
B 2ETEERRBARIAEEERS

=)

77



78

Material

BEEM

Issues of

BEER

Issues of moderate importance
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Issues of
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High Importance to the operation of the Company Veryﬂigﬁ
= HAREEEEN B

Figure: materiality matrix of Howkingtech
DORBRRIRE AN RERREE
ity No. Issue name
F  SEER

high importance

B =
]

22¢ B
AERE

low importance

22¢ B
AERE

Innovative research and development Bl

Information security and privacy protection {58 % & HEFL(RE
Product quality and reliability & 2/ A] 1%

Intellectual property protection AFEEHE(R &

Compliance operation & #E%

Supply chain sustainable development management & fES# A] 35 48 25 R & 18
Responsible procurement & & F#RHE

Legal and compliance employment  &A& AT

Employees training and development 8 T 153|813 &
Employee health and safety B T{#EH%T 2

Risk and crisis management [\ & B4 E 12

Business ethnics #3812

Employee relations and engagement & T B{R E3a 3

Product life cycle Management EmAmEAE R
Anti-corruption and integrity building R E75 1 BRZRER

Digital transformation #{F (LAl

Community investment and public welfare #t[@#% & B A%

I

Energy management AEREIE

Greenhouse gas emissions management &% R EEBEHUE 1

Climate change adaptation FE¥I T I&E L
Waste management EXZEYE IR
Water resources management /K& REIE



11.1 A1 Emissions

Howkingtech’s own production activities produce
relatively low emissions. In terms of exhaust, the
assembly and testing center in Shenzhen will produce
an insignificant amount of exhaust from soldering tin
during simple assembly and welding of the loT
antenna, which is finally collected and treated by the
ventilation pipe before discharging. However, after
the business stopped in the second half of the year,
it no longer had an impact on the environment. In
terms of sewage, the sewage discharged by the
Company includes domestic sewage only, which is
discharged into the sewage pipe network and then
treated uniformly by the park where the Company is
located. The Company outsources the production of
telecommunication equipment to OEM manufacturers,
therefore, it has little impact on the environment.

In terms of solid waste, only an insignificant amount
of waste is generated during the Company's office
operation, and non-hazardous waste mainly includes
office waste, domestic waste, etc., which are
collected according to the waste classification
principle of the place of operation and then delivered
to the city's sanitation department for disposal.
Hazardous waste mainly includes waste lamp tubes,
waste ink boxes, etc., which are collected and
disposed of by the park property company or
equipment provider.

The Company strictly complies with various laws and
regulations such as the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste ( {FFZEE AR
HMBEERREYSARENAE) ) and the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution ( {##E A EFHFMET /K
y55MAa%) ), actively reduces various types of
waste generated in its operation and effectively
manages various types of waste to ensure proper
disposal. During the Reporting Period, the Company
did not violate the above-mentioned laws and
regulations.

11.1 A18ERMD

BRI E SN EERBELN
BERER/N - ERIE - R
MR RO R DA S B A R
RETTR ZHEEMERBRES -
SHEHELBVENER &
RICBREBR - WEREREE
Mo A - ETHFETER K
THERBEERTE - BKT
| ARBERA KT ERLA
AR EASKEREER
BIFTEEREITAR —RIE - A7
RBERENEEINBHERIND
TRER  AUHRRFER

2

EfEERYIE - RERRES
BIETEELBVBERY - &
EEEDIEB/ENRANR - £
BN - RRE E P RIR
DR EREZ BT R AR
FRE AEEENTIECREE
BE  BEEF  KHERYE
HRERETT MR

REBRET(PEARKNE
B8 BE W05 AR EF AR ) MR
EARKERBKSRYEE)E
BIEARER - BRRDEZ B
BRAELNSEERY - THE
BRI BERYETARURE AR
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Table: Waste Generation in 2023
R CEC=SFEBEYEEER

Indicator

EE

Total hazardous waste generation
BEBRRVELHEE

Hazardous waste generation intensity
BERRYELETE

Total non-hazardous waste generation'
BEERVELRE

Non-hazardous waste generation intensity

BEBREVELTE

Non-hazardous waste mainly includes domestic waste.
According to the estimation of the total amount of
domestic waste and the ordinary resident population of
the two cities in the “Announcement on Environmental
Prevention and Control of Solid Waste Pollution of
Nanjing in 2022" ({20224 B 5 Th [E 48 )5 A B35
AEBE2A4%)) and the “Announcement on
Environmental Prevention and Control of Solid Waste
Pollution of Shenzhen in 2022" (20224 &I i1 [E G2 %
W5 RRIEN AE B A% )), and taking into account the
office hours, 0.5 kg/(person/day) is adopted as the
Company’s domestic waste estimation coefficient for
the year.

The Company is not involved in the direct production
of components, the greenhouse gas ("GHG")
emissions are therefore mainly from the carbon
dioxide emitted in the Company’s daily operations
and the use of vehicles. In particular, the two main
sources of GHG emissions of the Company are the
direct emissions from vehicle gasoline combustion
and indirect emissions from the use of electricity. The
Company actively responds to the call of the state for
energy conservation and emission reduction, adheres
to the concept of low-carbon and sustainable
development, emphasizes the improvement of
energy efficiency, and uses energy-saving equipment
and measures to reduce the GHG emissions
generated in the Company'’s daily operation.

Unit 2023
B —F-=
kg 2.02
T3
kg/RMB million of revenue 0.005
Fr/AAREBEETRA
kg 9.13
T
kg/RMB million of revenue 0.021
T/ AREEETHRA

! Hp\EERYTERRELE

B RIEC2022F R T &
BEMSFRRMHAGEER
Y2022 R I E B2 RE Y
ERBEMAEEAE)F A
ENIREERATEEALR
g WAEERAEER %
BOS5FHR/ (A R)IEBRA
BIANEEEER R E RS o

RATERAHNEREE
HREREBHEREERE QA
AEELRAEERPHRN -
f/chix - ARME - ARRER
BHROMEEERRZITER
HREEEERARERE S
BEREEHR - ARIERERE
KENBERPFRISR A - BRHEHK -
AIREMERIES - RFHRERUR
Tt EFETRERR BN - LA
DRRAEEBEETELNRER
BHEW -
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Table: GHG Emi

R £ERERES

ssions in 2023

xR ZEZZFRERBHRIER
Indicator Unit 2023
ot B —g==%
Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions' Tons of CO,e 18.58
#HE—: BERBEEHNE' WE—SE(CIREE
Intensity of direct GHG emissions ~ Tons of CO,e/RMB million of
revenue 0.04
BERBEEENRER WE S LIREE
ARBEBETHEA
Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions’ Tons of COse 117.21
gE_: RERBHEEHNE’ WE— S CIREE
Intensity of indirect GHG emissions  Tons of CO,e/RMB million of
revenue 0.27
BERBREZENRERE MR EEE
ARBEBETHEA
Total GHG emissions Tons of CO.e 135.80
BERBHNES WE—SE(CIREE
Intensity of total GHG emissions Tons of CO,e/RMB million of
revenue 0.31
RERBEIHRZE WE— S LIREE
ARBEBETHA

Direct (scope 1) GHG emissions is calculated based on

the IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas

Inventory 2006, 2019 Revised Edition ({IPCC2006%4 [

FRERMBEEEB2019E5TMR)) issued by the

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).

Indirect (scope 2) GHG emissions is calculated based

on the Average Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors of

China’s Regional Power Grid in 2011 and 2012 (£2011

FM2012FFEARHERFH —SCBMPFREF))

issued by the National Development and Reform
Commission.

! HE(EE-)REREHERE
KEBFERESCEMEE
= (IPCC) T3 89 IPCC2006 5
BEXRZEREEBERRE201918
FTHROETIZE -

2 ME(BEZ)AEREERE
KERRERENNEZES%
i B9€ 2011 G F120124F o B [&
BT - St BE R A
TOETIZE -
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11.2 A2 Use of Resources

The energy consumption of the Company in its
operational process mainly comprises electricity,
gasoline and water resources. Since the Company is
mainly engaged in the research and development of
hardware and software, which do not involve in mass
production activities, and outsources the production
of hardware to OEM manufacturers from January to
June,and the production of hardware activities has
stop after June, the Company does not use or
consume a large number of packaging materials. In
addition, the Company has low consumption of
energy as it has small number of staffs and only uses
gasoline energy during office hours and when using
cars. The water source of the Company is municipal
water supply, and it has never experienced any
problems in sourcing water. In its daily operations,
the Company strictly complies with relevant laws and
regulations such as the Environment Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China ( (/& A RALFNE
IRIBREER) ), Energy Conservation Law of the
People’s Republic of China ( {F#E A R BN 48
JR)%) ) and Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution ( (&
ZEARAMBNOTREIEE) ), and is committed to
the protection of resources and the improvement of
resource utilization efficiency, and actively practices
the concept of green and sustainable development.
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not
violate the above-mentioned laws and regulations.

11.2 A2ERER

NAEELBETEANERE
EREN - RHBNURKER -
AR A F EREF M RGO
BRI T RRENLEER
8 YR —AENARBEAHLEE
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AITNERSHRRERERY - it
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Table: Energy Consumption in 2023

xR ZEZ=FRREANKR
Indicator Unit 2023
EE By —BC=F
Electricity purchased kWh 191,348.89
SNEBE ) T EBF
Gasoline Liter 8,423.59
i A
Comprehensive energy consumption’ Tons of standard coal 30.47
fRERERE MEAR B
Energy use intensity Tons of standard coal/RMB 0.07
million of revenue
BEREREE WA AR BB TRA
Conversion of electricity for energy consumption  kWh 247,940.55
RRTEEE FEE
Conversion of electricity for energy consumption  kWh/RMB million of revenue 562.80
intensity
RRTEESERE TEE/ AREEETHA

The comprehensive energy consumption is calculated
based on the General Principles for Calculation of the
Comprehensive Energy Consumption ({4R& BEFERTE
#BAIY) (GB/T 2589-2020) issued by the State
Administration for Market Regulation (BIXTiZEEEE
B4 F) and the State Standardization Administration

BERFRELCEERRES)

Table: Water Resource

! RARRKEERMBEEE
BABRMEREECERES
2HEHNGREEETERAD
(GB/T 2589-2020) #1742 & -

Consumption in 2023

®RCEBEI=FXKERERER

Indicator Unit 2023
58 By —g-=%
Total water consumption Ton 1,366.59
BRKE A

Total water consumption intensity Ton/RMB million of revenue 3.10
BRI E ma, AR E & TR A

Table: Packing Materials Consumption in 2023
®ZEZZFEEYRERER

Indicator Unit 2023
it By —E-=F
Plastic packaging Ton 0.10
PR M8

Carton packaging Ton 0.85
waak 7

Expanded polyethylene Ton 0.25
IR 7
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11.3 A3 The Environment and Natural
Resources

Since the Company is principally engaged in research
and development and does not involve massive
production activities, the possibility of substantial
impact on the environment and natural resources in
the course of daily operations is minimal. As the
Company expands its scale and diversifies its
business types, the Company has always been
committed to integrating the concepts of
environmental protection and natural resource
protection into its daily operations, keeping close
attention and due consideration to environmental
and resource issues to avoid creating substantial
impact on them.

The Company recognized the importance of
complying with ecological environmental protection
laws and regulations. In order to fulfill the
responsibilities and obligations of ecological
environmental protection in accordance with the
laws, take actions to prevent and control
environmental pollution and ensure the stable and
up-to-standard discharge of pollutants, the Company
has completed the discharge registration of fixed
pollutants and accepted the inspection of ecological
and environmental protection and public supervision
according to laws.

[B] R 15 BIR HHT B R I3

11.3 ASBERXARER

HRRREBTERME - IR
BRARBRELERE - FAttAER
FELBRETHRERARER
EREEMEZ BN R - BB
ERRRERIRREEBELL
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Picture: Receipt of the discharge registration of fixed pollutants of the Company
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In addition to complying with relevant environmental
laws and regulations and properly protecting the
natural environment, the Company also actively
advocates the environmental concept of green and
low carbon, which has been incorporated into the
daily management and operation of the Company,
and is committed to achieving the goal of
environmental sustainable development. In 2023, the
company continues to implement the concept of
energy conservation, regulate the conservation of
water, electricity and paper, improved relevant
reward and punishment mechanism, and called on
employees to implement green office measures by
sending internal notices, posting environmental
protection signs and other specific means.

Picture: Poster for water conservation
C BRI RKEEER

Picture: Sign for electricity conservation
ERE

BT BEEREREAEREAR
ZEREBARIREI 0 RAliE
BREELEEAREES -
WEEMARTIEEEIEREE
o BN ERGRIBIHERE
FEE. —E-=% . Aa/lE
BEITRIREIE S - FREEIA K -
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AT WA AR REEA
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Picture: Poster for electricity conservation
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Picture: Sign for paper conservation
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R HEREREE

In order to standardize the Company’s own
environmental behavior and process, and fulfill its
corporate social responsibility to protect the
environment, the Company’s operating places all
passed the 1SO14001:2015 (Environmental
Management System) certification to ensure that the
raw materials, production processes, processing
methods used by the Company for production and
the use and post-use disposal of products complies
with the requirements of environmental protection
standards and regulations.

BTRBEARBFHRETANMRRE
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Pictures: The Company’s Environmental management system certificates
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11.4 A4 Climate Change

Addressing climate change is an objective need and
internal requirement for the sustainable development
of the world and China. We cannot live aside of its
impact.

EASL s
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According to the recommendations of the Task Force
on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD), we
have identified the potential real-time physical risks
and transitional risks from climate change. Real-time
physical risks may arise from extreme weather, such
as storms and flood, which may have a potential
financial impact on us. Storm and flood risks may
result in direct damage to the assets of our offices
and test and assembly centers, which could affect our
operations. If suppliers experience such extreme
weather conditions, we may face the indirect impact
of supply chain disruptions.

The potential transitional risks may arise from
technological transformation and the ever-changing
customer preferences and needs. As a technology-
driven company, we are faced with continuous
upgrading and development in the technology of the
products and services we provide. Emerging
technologies (such as equipment and devices with
higher energy efficiency) may increase our operating
cost, or if we fail to adopt such emerging
technologies or products, it may affect our
competitiveness and ultimately affect the demand for
our products and services.

In order to cope with the impact of climate change
and extreme weather, the Company has actively
established various business continuity plans (BCPs),
which specify the work arrangement under severe
weather or extreme conditions to reduce the
potential injury to employees and the increase of
insurance premiums; monitored changes in
environmental, social and governance related
regulatory requirements and market trends; and
comprehensively evaluated the proportion of energy
consumed in our operations and optimized
procedures accordingly.

It is estimated that the extreme weather conditions,
which are potential physical risks, and the emerging
technologies, which are potential transitional risks,
will have little impact on our operations after
assessment. As of December 31, 2023, we have not
experienced any operations or supply chain
disruptions due to storms or flood.
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12.1 B1 Employment

Howkingtech strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations such as the Labor Law of the People's
Republic of China ((RZEARLMBELEE)), the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
((PEARLMELEARIE)) and Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
and actively formulates internal management systems
such as the Staff Manual (& T3f})) and Personnel
Management Procedures ((AEEERIE)) to
effectively protect and safeguard the legal rights and
interests of employees. The Employee Manual and
Personnel Management Procedures formulated by
the Company comply with the labor laws applicable
to Mainland China and Hong Kong, which are mainly
designed to regulate work procedures such as
recruitment and employment, salary payment,
personnel reappointment and vacation management
and other work processes. In case of dismissal or
compensation arising therefrom, the Company will
comply with local laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, there was no event
relating to employment discrimination, harassment,
bully, insults, child labor or forced labor, and the
Company is not aware of any major non-compliance
or violation of relevant laws and regulations in other
aspects of employment.
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12.1.1 Human Resource Management 121 1AL EFEE

Howkingtech adheres to the philosophy of EER BB EZ T
diversity and equal opportunity and is B S TENIBES - B
committed to eliminating possible NEBRRER - E5) - F
discrimination and prejudice due to skin color, Rk RE - ES -
gender, age, ethnicity, nationality, language, FHEPMEBARRE
religious belief and physical condition, T8 M 7] BETF 12 B AR TR
fostering an open and inclusive work B BELERN - BY
environment. As of December 31, 2023, the HTIERE - HE T —
Company had 65 full-time employees from =F+-—A=+—H 2
different regions, of which 55.38% were Bl B65Z K G R H
women. BOEBET - A

15t 455.38% ©

Table: Employment Information of the Company in 2023
R ZE=FEQATFEIERER

Indicator Unit 2023
BE By —B-Z=F
Total number of employees person 65
BTEE A
Number of employees Male person 29
by gender SMET A
BHERIZIDHE T AR Female person 36
ZHET A
Number of employees by age <30 person 9
RFREDHETAR 308 AT A
31-39 person 38
3155 —395% A
>40 person 18
40p% 2 A = A
Number of employees by Senior management person 7
employees’ rank BRERE A
BEREDHE T AR Middle management person 3
hRERE A
Ordinary employees person 55
EWmET A
Number of employees by Full-time employees person 65
employment type FRET A
HEFEBERESHMETARK Part-time employees person 0
B E T A
Number of employees Mainland China person 64
by region B A B A
LHEE D HE T AE Hong Kong, Macau and  person 1
Taiwan A
BRa R
Overseas person 0

SN[ A
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As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s BE B _=Ft+-A=+—
B ARBIRKLERNT :

employee turnover rate was as follows:

Table: Information on Company Employee Turnover Rate in 2023

R ZBIZFQARBIRARER

Indicator Unit 2023
BE B —B-=fF
Total employee turnover rate % 33.63
BTHmARX
Number of employees by Male % 25.66
gender SHET
RUERIBIDHE T AR Female % 7.96
ZHEET
Number of employees by age <30 % 10.62
RERE DB TAK 30BR KA T
31-39 % 10.62
3185 —395%
240 % 12.39
4058 B A
Number of employees by Mainland China % 33.63
region B K B
i e D H 8 T AR Hong Kong, Macau % 0
and Taiwan
R HER
Overseas % 0

MR




12.1.2 Remuneration, Welfare and Other Benefits

Howkingtech has established a fair,
reasonable and competitive remuneration
system to attract and retain outstanding
employees. Employee’s remuneration consists
of basic salary, performance and year-end
bonus, in which the basic salary is
comprehensively assessed and established by
the Company based on job classification, job
nature, market conditions and other elements,
and the specific salary range will be finally
determined according to the employee’s
knowledge and skills, practical experience
and other conditions. Meanwhile, in order to
motivate employees to make contributions,
the Company provides salary increase
opportunities for employees who pass the
performance appraisal.

In addition to salary incentives, the Company
also provides employees with rich and
diversified welfare care:

o Insurance plan: the Company
contributes to medical insurance,
pension insurance, unemployment
insurance, work injury insurance,
maternity insurance and housing
provident fund for employees
according to laws;

o Living allowance: the Company offers
employees meal, transportation and
communication allowances, which are

paid together with wages;

o Holiday commemoration: the Company
organizes afternoon tea party during
holidays such as Dragon Boat
Festival,Christmas and prepares a gift
for each female employee on
International Working Women'’s Day;
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Picture: The gifts prepared by the company on
International Working Women'’s Day in 2023
/N

o Group activities: the Company J S8EH: 2 F
organizes annual group activities for BFABRAS
employees, including outings or BETE®REE -
communal dining as appropriate; BRELENTE

o Additional bonus incentives: the . EINE S R B
Company attaches importance to NCIERER S X509
scientific research achievements and REANTEIE -
talent recruitment, sets up talent HET AL SIE
recruitment awards and patent awards, R HE R 4E - ¥
and grants bonuses to employees who MEERMME T

have made contributions.

16T 58S 1 -

FORION

N\ \\\

Picture: The company organized activities on
the Dragon Boat Festival in 2023

AR =T = FFREBR SR L EHe Y P RER R =FRNGTEED

Pictures: The company organized outdoor team building activities in 2023
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12.1.3 Working Hours and Holidays

Howkingtech encourages employees to
balance work and life, and sets working hours
in accordance with local labor laws. The
Company not only protects the basic rights of
employees, ensures legal double breaks and
public holidays, but also provides employees
with paid leave, including sick leave, marriage
leave, maternity leave, breastfeeding leave,
bereavement leave, and work-related injury
leave.

12.1.4 Career Promotion

Howkingtech attaches great importance to
the promotion and development of
employees and has clarified the promotion
assessment process in its Personnel
Management Process ({ AEEHERIZ)). The
Company conducts quarterly performance
appraisals for employees every year, and
provides position and salary promotion for
employees with excellent overall appraisal
results to motivate them to make continuous
progress and grow with the Company. The
specific process of employee promotion is as
follows:

The head of the The
Administration Administration

Department and
the head of the
department of the
evaluated
outstanding
employee assess

the employee’s
promotion
potential

Department
submits the
employee
promotion
proposal to the
department head
and General
Manager for
approval

TTHREEREAEE

THEBE T
ERRE LR
HHAEEAR
48 4 3 s 4

BAEHE TFHTER
FEEATRAE
FHE

12.1.3 T FRFRI R 1R A

EERHERBE T FET
{EERASE - WIKFRE 1A
ATV B T T {EREEL -
RARATEREE TKRE
ZEREESTERN  EE
EREARRBE - BERE
TREFEHFRRER - 8IE%
BBk ER- B
B ERETERS -

12.1.4BEEH

The department
head and
General
Manager
analyze the
employee
promotion
proposals and
decide on the
promotion list

BIIREAR
BEBHHAT
BrHER i

REBTTRE

Figure: Employee promotion process
 BIEFmIR

FERMRSEERETE
TER  BAAREERR
)T T BN
B REAIBFUFERE
388 THETERER -
REREZKEBRFNE
T4 TRALF R -
HENE TTEES - B
Al-RAKE - BTEA
ERiEmT

The
Administration

Department shall
issue the list of
promoted
employees in the
form of
administrative
notice and notify
the employees to
be promoted

1TBREBLATTER B R
FABEMREAET
ZE - WANE
Fr&
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12.2 B2 Health and Safety

Howkingtech attaches great importance to the health
and safety of its employees and strictly abides by the
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China ({# %
AREFBEL L)), the Labor Contract Law of the
People's Republic of China ((FPEARLFIELEHE
[F’%)), and the Regulations on Work Injury Insurance
((TIERERIEHIY), and has established systems such
as the Production Safety Management System ({&Z %
HEERHIE)) to regulate the safety of production
operations. Meanwhile,the Company provides
employees with a variety of health and safety
protection measures, including certification of
1ISO45001:2018 (Occupational Health and Safety
Management System) and regular physical
examinations for all employees every year, Shenzhen
Company and park property jointly organized
employees to participate in health science training,
so as to fully protect their health.

For three consecutive years (including the Reporting
Period), the Company has not had any violations of
relevant laws and regulations, nor work-related
injuries or work-related fatalities.
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Pictures: The Company’s Occupational Health and Safety Management System Certification
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12.2.1 Safety Production

In order to actively promote the emergency
resources investigation and management
level for safety production, the Company has
carried out the emergency resources
investigation of production safety accident to
identify safety risks and hazards in a timely
manner. For the risks that may be caused by
production equipment, the Company has
formulated instruction specifications such as
Safety Operation Procedures for UV Furnace
Machine ({UVIB#Z 212 /EfRFE) ) and Safety
Operation Procedures for High Frequency
Welding Machine ({38 # 2 2R IFRIZ))
to avoid personal injury and property damage
caused by improper operation.In order to
improve the ability to deal with fire, electric
shock and other emergencies, the Company
has formulated plans such as Safety
Production Accident Site Disposal Plan ({(Z %
HSEEWREHEEHZE)) and Safety
Production Emergency Plan ((Z 24 EE=
F8Z) ) to standardize the emergency handling
measures, processes and contacts of internal
emergency personnel in cases of various
accidents.

During the Reporting Period, the Company
organized production workshop staff to carry
out fire safety training, introducing in detail
the use of various common fire extinguishers,
fire-filtering self-rescue breathing apparatus,
fire hydrants and emergency escape methods.
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12.3 B3 Development and Training

Howkingtech attaches importance to the
establishment of staff training management and
development system. Through diversified training
modes such as induction training, management
training, technical training, and project training, we
meet different needs of employees at all levels and
in all departments, and provide a competitive career
development platform for all employees to facilitate
their development and achieve sustainable
development together with the Company. The
Company has formulated the Personnel Management
Process ((AEEIERIE)) to regulate matters
related to employee training and appraisal.

The Company will introduce its basic business as well
as the rules and regulations to new employees to
help them get integrated into the Company and
familiarized with their positions as soon as possible.
Specific departments and the administration
department will jointly discuss and formulate
employee training programs for in-service
employees. After the training is completed, they will
be assessed by various means such as written tests,
practical operations, and teaching evaluation, etc.
The appraisal performance will be one of the basis
for future career position changes of employees.

12.3
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During the Reporting Period, the Company organized
several training sessions for employees of various
levels and departments according to business types,
such as Lua scripting language explained, Data
forwarding architecture flow, RAN option 7.2
Introduction, 5G physical layer foundation, USB3.0
protocol content sharing, PCl and PCle protocol
content sharing,etc. We also provide High-tech
enterprise knowledge training and ESG Guidelines
revised content training for finance department
personnel, and training for administrative department
personnel and production department personnel on
the ISO system certification training, in order to
provide employees with knowledge and
management skills and enhance their ability to
perform their duties. Training on organizational
management and governance was also provided to
Directors and senior management, mainly covering
the Listing Rules and guidelines issued by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, as well as corporate ESG-
related contents.
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Picture: The Company’s Lua scripting language
explained training
P AR BALua AR B E S

Picture: The Company’s PCl and PCle protocol
content sharing training
: AAPCIKPCleth: AR L F 151
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In 2023, the rate of trained employees reached 100%,

with an average of 25.18 training hours per employee.

The number of training hours per employee by type is

—=—

=

=FE  RAXJIETIL

REI00%  BHRE T FHZI
BEEL A25.18/NBF - 1RKERZ| 5

as follows: BB T AN NEEAT -
Table: Training of the employees of the Company in 2023
% “B-=EADATEUIMNR
Indicator Unit 2023
B8 B —B==F
Trained employee ratio % 100.00
FYI8 TH %
Trained employee ratio by Senior management % 100.00
employee’s rank BRERE
HETRABSHMXIIETLE  Middle management % 100.00
TREERE
Ordinary employee % 100.00
EEET
Trained employee ratio by gender Male employee % 100.00
RIERBIDFANE T = SHET
Female employee % 100.00
LB
Average training hours per hour 25.18
employee aN:
BHE T FHRIRE
Trained hour per person by Senior management hour 6.71
employee’s rank BRERE N
RETITBPEDMASZIEZ  Middle management hour 8.33
PREEE AN
Ordinary employee hour 28.64
LT@mET /NBF
Trained hour per person by Male employee hour 39.24
employee’s gender SMET /)NBE
HETHRIBIDAYZIEE  Female employee hour 14.14
ZHET /N




12.4 B4 Labor Standards

Howkingtech strictly complies with relevant laws and
regulations, including the Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China (R #EARLMBELEE)), the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
((FREARKEFMBLEHAERE)), the Law on the
Protection of Minors of the People’s Republic of
China ((HEARAMBERKF AREE)) and
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and has adopted a series of internal
control and compliance measures prohibiting the
employment of child labor and forced labor.

The Company strictly prohibits the employment of
any child labor and forced labor, and has clearly
stated in the Employee Handbook ({ & T Ffft)) that
those who are under the legal age are not allowed to
become employees of the Company. During the
recruitment process, the Company also requires
applicants to provide true and accurate personal
information for age and employment eligibility check.
In order to standardize the separation management,
the Company has specified the resignation
procedures, and safeguarded the legal rights and
interests of resigned employees in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations. The Company does
not support compulsory labor practices, and has
established a bottom-up feedback channel to
facilitate employees’ complaints and reports on
forced labor practices, so as to identify and correct
the practices in a timely manner. During the
Reporting Period, no incidents of violation have
occurred, including child labor and forced labor.
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12.5

The Company attaches importance to enhancing
communication with employees, holds employee
meetings regularly, effectively strengthens
democratic participation and communication
between employees and management, and protects
employees’ rights to freedom of assembly and
association.
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Picture: The Company’s 2023 Annual Staff Meeting
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B5 Supply Chain Management

Howkingtech attaches great importance to supply
chain management and the relationship maintenance
with its suppliers, and is committed to building a fair,
honest, clean, win-win and sustainable supplier
relationship. The Company puts the Procedures for
Procurement Payment ({EREE[SFURIZ)) in place to
standardize procurement and payment, improves the
payment process, specifies the approval process and
reasonably arranges the Company’s funds, ensuring
normal business operation. The Company’s suppliers
primarily consist of (i) suppliers of hardware
components, (ii) OEM manufacturers, and (iii)
software developers. The Company outsources the
production of telecommunication equipment to
OEM manufacturers and exercises strict quality
control on such OEM manufacturers.
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The Company has established a supplier
management system to maintain a stable and reliable
supplier team and provide reliable services and
supplies for the enterprise’s high-quality operation.
The system requires the Company to evaluate the
existing suppliers’ qualification on a regular basis,
and review the addition or removal of supplier in
accordance with the process, and requires the
Company to sign guarantee agreements with
upstream and downstream units when entering into
contracts with suppliers to ensure that they are not
engaged in commercial activities that fall within the
scope of sanctioned industries and activities. At the
same time, the Company has established a
management and accounting mechanism for
procurement and payment operations, specifying the
responsibilities and authorities of the procurement
and finance departments in the mechanism to ensure
compliance with the requirements for the processes
of commodity procurement, manpower procurement
and non-production commodity procurement. In
response to market changes, the Company has also
developed contingency measures for the availability
of supplies during production to stabilize the supply
of raw and auxiliary materials and minimize the risk of
inadequate procurement.
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The Company relies primarily on local suppliers to
reduce the carbon footprint arising from
transportation. The breakdown of suppliers by region

AEEBRREAER - S
TR IE 8T R 2B - 3R
SER  RRE S LR

during the Reporting Period is as follows. B
Table: Suppliers of the Company in 2023
R DEBEI=FQRAMKERER
Indicator Unit 2023
BE Bfr —®R-=F
Number of suppliers by region Total Company 87
iR e D NHERHE #Et ES
Eastern China Company 21
ER E
Southern China Company 57
=103 EX
Central China Company 1
et %
Northern China Company 2
3514 ER
Northwestern China Company 2
[lith 14 EX
Southwestern China Company 4
G| EX
Northeastern China Company 0
Rt ES
Hong Kong, Macao and Company 0
Taiwan ER
R A R
Overseas regions Company 0
BIME R ER




12.5.1 Suppliers Selection and Acceptance

The Company identifies procurement
demands, conducts preliminary review
on suppliers’ qualification based on
supplier information, and provides the
new suppliers’ qualification documents
for the reviewing personnel of the
procurement department for
validation, and the approved suppliers
will enter the new supplier application
process;

New suppliers are required to collate
relevant qualification documents and
fill in the Qualified Supplier Evaluation
Form ((ARHIEREFFAR)), which will
be subject to approval by the head of
the procurement department and the
quality department, and only those
qualified can be accepted and
approved as qualified suppliers. The
accepted units’ source, qualification
documents and Qualified Supplier
Approval Form should be submitted
when being accepted.
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12.5.2 Management and Evaluation on Suppliers

The procurement department
conducts an annual supplier evaluation
based on the supplier evaluation
criteria, and a qualified supplier
catalogue will be consolidated subject
to the approval by the quality
department, the procurement
department and the general manager;

The procurement department will
confirm whether any supplier is to be
removed based on the scoring results,
and if so, notify the supplier and
terminate the business cooperation
upon its confirmation. If a supplier who
is removed in the annual assessment
needs to re-establish a business
cooperation, it shall submit an
application for such re-establishment,
and its supply qualification will be re-
established subject to the review and
approval by the responsible person of
the procurement department and the
R&D department;

In assessing suppliers, supplier
candidates who are deemed not to

meet more than two of the following
key criteria will be removed:

(i) samples found to be satisfactory
(i) having a dedicated quality
control department

(iii) reasonable price levels

(iv) adequate supply capacity
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12.5.3 Promotion of Environmental-friendly

Products and Services

The Company is committed to incorporating
environmental-friendly principles into its
supplier selection system, and prioritizes
suppliers who use environmental-friendly
products and services to minimize the impact
on the environment. For example, the
Company developed the Howkingtech
Technical Standards for Environmentally
Hazardous Substances (CRERIIRBEEEY
BRATIZAEY ), which prohibits or restricts
suppliers from using the raw materials set out
therein, and requires suppliers to establish
quality management systems in accordance
with 1SO9001 to meet standardized
compliance requirements.

12.6 B6 Product Responsibilities

12.6.1 Introduction to Products and Services

We mainly provide customized data
transmission and processing services to
customers in manufacturing, municipal
services and other industries in the PRC, and
research, develop and sell telecommunication
equipment. Leveraging on the Company's
professional and experienced technical team
to provide support, we are able to provide
supporting services, such as
telecommunication equipment maintenance
services and telecommunication consulting
services to our customers, to extend the
lifetime of products and parts, and customers
may resume their operation at a faster pace
with relatively lower costs.
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Catering to customers’ specific needs, we also
provide our customers with either integrated
services or software services. For integrated
services, we primarily embed
telecommunication equipment for data
transmission and deploy centralized data
platform, namely Universal loT Platform, for
data processing. For software services, we
primarily provide customized centralized data
platform for data processing according to our

customers’ demands.

We are in strictly compliance with laws and
regulations such as the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests ({#E ARLFBIEE S
HEZRIREL)), the Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({F#E A R FE
Z45%5)) and the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Cap. 362), and offer guidelines
and training to our staff to help them fully
understand the Company's policies and
compliance requirements. During the
Reporting Period, there was no breach of
relevant regulations on advertisement
labeling.
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12.6.2 Product Quality Assurance

Hardware products sold by Howkingtech were
all manufactured by suppliers, with only their
assembly process taking place in our
Shenzhen workshop. To ensure our product
quality, we adhered to national and industrial
requirements in establishing our quality
management system, and developed a set of
comprehensive internal technical standards
and requirements. The Company has obtained
the 1SO9001:2015 (Quality Management
System) certification, which regulates the
standards of product and service
management. Meanwhile, we also require our
suppliers to establish quality management
systems in accordance with the latest version
of 1ISO9001 standards and set quality
management targets for their products.
Where any abnormalities are found in raw
materials, parts or product quality, these raw
materials, parts or products will be dealt with
in accordance with the unqualified product
management procedures.
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To standardize the product quality inspection
process and product recall procedures, the
Company has developed the Management
Measures for Product Recall ({E A Bl &E 2
#%) ) which specifies particular specifications
such as the triggering timing of product recall,
product recall procedures, recalled product
handling and remedial work, and requires to
inform the relevant parties of the information
regarding unqualified products in a timely
manner, and bring the products concerned
under control promptly and completely on the
basis of the implementation of product recalls
to avoid or minimize losses to customers.

During the Reporting Period, there was no
circumstance where the Company had to
recall products due to issues that could affect
their functionality, cause harm to consumers
or expose the Company to legal risks.

12.6.3 Customer Feedback

Howkingtech attaches great importance to
customer service experience. We have
established a smooth and fast pre-sales and
after-sales service system from raw materials
to the production process, providing
customers with a variety of communication
channels such as official website enquiry,
email and telephone consultation to facilitate
the use of our services.

During the Reporting Period, there was no
complaint received by the Company in
relation to products or services.
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12.6.4 Innovation and R&D

Strong R&D and innovation capabilities are
the foundations underpinning the sustainable
development of Howkingtech. The Company
successfully developed our proprietary 5G
telecommunication equipment with certain
self-developed core module and software
embedded, such as front end module, digital
front-end algorithm and protocol stack. In
order to standardize the Company’s research
and development process, reduce R&D risks
and improve the Company's innovation and
competitiveness, the Company has developed
the R&D Management Process, which sets out
detailed requirements on the initiation,
planning, development, verification/release/
acceptance and monitoring of research-based
projects, product-based projects and project
delivery.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has
applied for 125 patents, including 44 invention
patents and 3 utility model patents, both are
pending approval, and was granted 23
invention patent authorizations and 55 utility
model authorizations; it obtained 90 software
copyrights and 1 international PCT. During
the Reporting Period, the Company had
additional 9 invention patent authorization, 1
utility model authorizations and 2 software
copyrights.
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12.6.5 Intellectual Property Protection

The Company strictly complies with laws and
regulations such as the Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China and the Copyright
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
has formulated the Intellectual Property
Management System, in a bid to strengthen
the Company’s intellectual property
protection, standardize its intellectual
property management work, encourage staff
to proactively participate in invention and
creation, and facilitate promotion and
application of scientific and technological
achievements.

To ensure the orderly implementation of
managing intellectual property rights and
R&D files, the Company follows the principles
of unified management, work division and
cooperation and standardization, and has set
up an administrative department responsible
for the relevant management. Meanwhile,
when outsourcing production or conducting
business, we sign confidentiality agreements
with suppliers to avoid leakage of information
in relation to all intellectual property rights
such as internal R&D projects, design
drawings and professional technologies.

During the Reporting Period, the Company
did not have any disputes or cases involving
infringement, content plagiarism and other
intellectual property rights.
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12.6.6 Information Security and Privacy Protection

To protect the Company’s commercial secrets
and legitimate rights and interests, and ensure
that the Company's scientific and
technological development, technological
innovation, intellectual property rights,
marketing resources and other commercial or
technical secrets belonging to the Company
are not subject to loss and infringement,
Howkingtech developed the Information
Confidentiality System ({2 BRZHIE) ) with
specific provisions made for aspects from the
Company'’s business to the staff's skills.

In terms of the Company’s operations,
provisions have been made for the protection
of the Company’s operation management
information, marketing information, contracts,
agreements and legal relationship
information. In terms of staff, confidentiality
disciplines are in place for them, and relevant
personnel are required to sign the
Confidentiality Agreement ({fRE #77%) ) upon
joining the Company, and a disciplinary and
punishment system relating to the Company’s
information security was also stipulated in the
Staff Manual to ensure the security of the
Company’s R&D and operational information.
Where an employee discloses the Company'’s
secret or proprietary information, the
Company will take different levels of
disciplinary action such as written warning,
serious written warning and termination of
service relationship depending on the severity
of the breach.
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The Company formulated the Data Backup
and Disaster Recovery Management System
(KBEEHEMELBEREERHE)) o
standardize the establishment of the
Company’s important data backup list, the
backup responsibility, backup inspection and
the recovery after system damage, and to
reasonably prevent risks in the use of
computers and information system. The
system stipulates that the R&D department is
the management function of the Company's
information backup, which is responsible for
the management and coordination of all
important information backup of the
Company. The department head should
provide the R&D department with the backup
of the important data or the latest list of
backup data of the department on a regular
basis. Disaster recovery of the Company’s
hardware is mainly carried out by the R&D
department, which is responsible for
investigating the causes, determining the
accountability and applying for procurement;
and disaster recovery of the Company’s
software is mainly carried out by the person in
charge of system management through
various backup media kept before the disaster
or by other information systems, and based
on the backup marks for purposeful recovery.
To prevent hardware and software disasters,
the Company conducts risk assessment and
data recovery exercise annually.
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The Company attaches great importance to
the protection of customer information and
privacy, strictly complies with laws and
regulations including the Network Security
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FZE
ARKMBEBKZEIE)), the Personal
Information Security Specification ({{E A1 &
L2 #)) and the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486), and takes various
measures to protect customer information,
ensuring that customer data are treated in a
safe and reliable manner. The policy and
standard procedures for the management of
customers’ private information obtained as a
result of the conduct of business are clearly
set out in the Information Privacy System.

With respect to the customer data collected
by the Company in the course of project
execution, confidentiality clauses must be
specified in the contract, and the data must
be received and sent with encryption before
transmission. Upon completion of the project,
all irrelevant data will be deleted in a timely
manner, except for the project results data,
which will be kept in a safe place, and the
leakage of data is strictly prohibited. In
addition, the Company conducts regular
security assessments and network
maintenance to ensure the confidentiality of
customer data.

During the Reporting Period, the Company
did not experience any leakage of customer
privacy.
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12.7 B7 Anti-corruption

Howkingtech strictly abides by the Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China
((FEAREMBRNEERFL)), the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({(FZE AR
FEATE)Y), the Interim Provisions on Prohibition
of Commercial Bribery ({BIRZE IR AERRAIET1TR
7E)), Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (B 1FBEBE 15
#)) and other laws and regulations, and has
formulated internal administration system such as the
Staff Manual, the Management System for Antifraud,
Anti-money Laundering and Anti-bribery ([ £E#E -
REE - REEERERHIE)Y) and the Misconduct
Reporting Mechanism and Handling Measures (&
EITRBMBHERZIEIE)) to regulate the

employees’ behaviors.

The Company has set up a special complaint and
report channel and has dedicated internal audit staff
for illegal or undisciplined behaviors of its employees
or the units concerned, and deal with violation of
laws and disciplines by a complaint, report and
investigation mechanism. During the Reporting
Period, the Company did not have any proceedings
relating to bribery, fraud and money laundering.

12.7.1 Antifraud

The Company continuously improves the
system in connection with the antifraud
management, with the aim to enhance the
Company’s governance and internal control,
regulate the staff’s profession conduct,
safeguard legitimate rights and interests of
the Company and its Shareholders and ensure
the achievement of the Company’s business
objectives and its sustainable, stable and
healthy development.
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The Board of the Company is responsible for
supervising the management in setting up a
company-wide antifraud culture environment
and a sound internal control system
comprising fraud prevention. The
management of the Company is responsible
for establishing, improving and effectively
implementing internal controls and taking
appropriate and effective remedial measures
against fraud. The heads of subsidiaries and
departments are responsible for dealing with
fraud occurred in their own units and
departments.

The Company’s antifraud management
process is as follows:

(i) employees and social parties with
whom the Company has direct or
indirect business relationships report
complaints of fraud to the Company’s
internal audit department through
various channels such as reporting
hotline, email, letter and interview;

(ii) the internal audit department receives
and registers the complaint report, and
the investigation team investigates the
fraud and forms a written report on the
investigation results and handling
opinions and submits it to the Audit
Committee and the Board;
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(iii)

(iv)

upon completion of the antifraud case
investigation, the internal audit
department will put forward its
opinions on handling or accountability
for those that do constitute fraud and
submit them to the Board for approval.
Where economic losses are caused to
the Company, compensation should
be made by the person liable.
Opinions on the handling of major
fraud cases or opinions on the
investigation of accountability will be
decided by the Audit Committee;

the internal audit department provides
feedback to the informer on the results
of the investigation. For matters not to
be filed for investigation, the internal
audit department provides feedback
to the informer on the results and the
reasons within 10 working days; for
matters to be filed for investigation,
the internal audit department provides
feedback on the results of the
investigation within three months. If
the reported matter is proved to be
true and the Company’s losses are
thereby recovered, the informer will be
rewarded as appropriate;

employees who are proved to have
committed fraud will be imposed
corresponding penalty by the
Company in accordance with relevant
regulations; and in the event of
violation of laws, such fraud will be
passed to the judicial organs for
handling in accordance with the laws.

(iii)

(iv)
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12.7.2 Anti-money laundering

The Company follows the “risk-based” and
“prudent and balanced” anti-money
laundering work principles, strictly complies
with laws and regulations such as the Anti-
money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((fh#E A RAMBIR A%
7&)), the Provisions on Anti-money
Laundering of Financial Institutions ({%& gt
BREIERE)), the Anti-Money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance
(HBRERRMA D FEEEREDD ), as well
as the relevant regulations of the People's
Bank of China, the China Securities Regulatory
Commission and the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority, and has formulated anti-money
laundering management measures, requiring
all departments, business lines and branches
of the Company to effectively implement anti-
money laundering in their daily business
operations.

The Company’s anti-laundering management
measures requires all departments, business
lines and branches not only to conduct a
money laundering risk assessment in a
systemic and comprehensive manner in
combination with customer types on business,
services, products and channels when
conducting business in China, but also to
observe laws and regulations with respect to
anti-money laundering in countries (regions)
where they operate when conducting business
overseas, and to take reference to relevant
requirements of the implementation of such
measures within the scope permitted by the
laws and regulations of such countries
(regions).
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The Board of the Company is responsible for
the effective implementation of the internal
control system against money laundering and
has authorized the anti-money laundering
leading team to perform the Company’s anti-
money laundering duties. At the same time,
the Company has established the “Three
Defenses” anti-money laundering
management structure to require all staff to
join hand in preventing money laundering and
terrorist financing risks faced by the Company
during the daily business course:

(i) the first defense (business
departments): the departments of the
Company with primary responsibilities
for performing the obligation of
identifying customer identity and
monitoring suspicious transaction
activities; responsible for prudent
verification of customer identity data
and the obligations of identifying
customer identity and identifying and
reporting major and suspicious
transactions;

(ii) the second defense (law department/
external law advisor): responsible for
interpreting relevant anti-money
laundering laws and regulations, taking
the lead in the establishment and
revision of the Company’s anti-money
laundering system and providing
advices to the first defense in carrying
out anti-money laundering;

(iii) the third defense (internal audit
department): to check the effective
implementation of each anti-money
laundering control measure by various
business functions through carrying
out audit on the anti-money laundering
efforts of the first defense.
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12.7.3 Anti-bribery 12.7.3 k55

The Company implements a standard of NEIABREEEERE T
integrity for all of its business activities, and BHEEERE - EAER
any form of corruption and bribery is strictly WE)S - BRI EERITR
prohibited and those involved will be dealt AR - B EER
with in accordance with the laws and WO ~ KFRBRIE AT
regulations. The Company strictly prohibits BRI RM  BEX R
the offering, accepting and soliciting of HFRAR - 129 - MiFsH
bribes, gifts, entertainments or other forms of R - EEFELA]
practices designed to influence or likely to BB NRIRBRERE
influence the Company's relevant business § - EEGEESHNES
decisions to obtain an unusual or improper BERME - AR - AF]
advantage. The Company also complies with BFERBRBINERBUE)
overseas laws and regulations, including the FE/INERER - BIbE
United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, EHNAE HATITHE « &R
which prohibits the offering of bribes to and e

soliciting of bribes from local governments
overseas.
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By establishing the business philosophy with a
core of “law-abiding and honesty, high quality
service”, and combining with the Company’s
actual situation, the Company formulated
anti-corruption management measures,
strengthened the supervision and
management on key segments and important
positions where corruption was frequent and
highly likely to occur to ensure the
commitment system for prevention of
commercial bribery in governance, guided the
Company’s management personnel to act in
accordance with the laws, and resisted
negative and corrupt behaviors, such as
disregarding moral principles in pursuit of
profit, benefiting oneself at the expense of
public interests, failing on complying with
commitments, and deception and fraud,
thereby establishing a good image of the
Company. The Company's anti-corruption
management measures also provide for the
implementation of the commitment system
for prevention of commercial bribery by key
segments and important positions. Individuals
at important positions and units or individuals
with business dealings shall sign the
Commitment to Prevent Commercial Bribery
(CFEFI P RERE RS ) ) with the Company.

The Company’s internal audit department is
the department for supervising and managing
the commitment system for prevention of
commercial bribery, responsible for timely
identifying the signs of commercial bribery,
studying the countermeasures and measures
for the prevention of commercial bribery. For
the personnel of units with transactions in
economic activities who refuse to perform the
Commitment ({F&EE) ), their accountability
will be determined in accordance with
relevant regulations; and those who constitute
commercial bribery (offering bribery) crimes
will be passed to the judicial organs to
investigate the criminal liability.
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The Company continuously conducts training
related to anti-corruption and integrity
building, which is organized and implemented
by the administration department. During the
Reporting Period, the Company has organized
totally one anti-corruption training covering
all directors and employees.

12.8 B8 Community Investment

Howkingtech is committed to building a caring and
harmonious relationship with the communities where
our business is operated, combining the industry and
our own strengths to contribute to the communities
with responsibility and charity, and to work together
to create a positive environment for social good. As a
technological innovation-based enterprise, the
Company cares about equity in education and values
the role of education and knowledge in the
technology development and the social progress.

On December 14, 2022, the Company donated
RMB100,000 to the Match Sticks Organization’s (A 42
‘Nzm) project to provide supports to rural teachers
and the growth of children and to improve education
in villages as a contribution to equal access to
education. In the future, the Company will continue
to fulfill its social responsibilities, explore and expand
the scope of investments in communities, so as to
promote the sustainable development of the social
environment.
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Picture: Howkingtech’s Match Sticks Organization donation certificate
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The company encourages its employees to actively
participate in various beneficial activities inside and
outside the company, including activities organized
in the community and organize employees to
participate in outdoor hiking activities and participate
in urban marathon activities. These activities can help
improve employee health and can also increase the
spirit of solidarity and cooperation.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R £ERERES

TABLE OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RERESERER
PERFORMANCE
Indicator Category  Performance Indicator Unit 2023
EEXE BRIER B —EC-=F
Environmental Total hazardous waste produced kg 2.02
Performance EEEEVELHRE T
IRIBER Total non-hazardous waste produced kg 9.13
EERRNELRE T
Total greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1, tons of COe 135.80
Scope 2) WS LiE =
BERBHRES(BE—  #E )
Comprehensive energy consumption tons of standard coal 30.47
fRE ARt WA B
Total water consumption ton 1,366.59
BAKE A
Plastic packaging ton 0.10
BRBE M43
Carton packaging ton 0.85
iRk M4
Expanded polyethylene ton 0.25
PR A
Social Performance  Total employees person 65
AR BT A
Total employee turnover rate % 33.63
BT HARAZE
Percentage of employees trained % 100
RINEILx
Average training hours per employee hour 25.18
NEL AN B
Fatality as a result of work-related injuries person 0
(in recent three years)
HIBRAERMETHETIARCI=5)
Total suppliers Company 87
HIER 4=t EN
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RS
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The Board Statement
ExgEH
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ESGERE
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report
of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company is committed to maintenance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The principle of the
Company's corporate governance is to promote effective internal
control measures, uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, to ensure that
its business and operations are conducted in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations and to enhance the transparency
and accountability of the Board to all Shareholders. The Company’s
corporate governance practices are based on the principles and
code provisions as set out in part 2 of the CG Code.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code,
companies listed on the Stock Exchange are expected to comply
with, but may choose to deviate from the requirement that the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be segregated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The Company does not have a separate chairman
and chief executive officer and Dr. Chen Ping currently performs
these two roles concurrently.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the chairman and
chief executive officer in the same person has the benefit of
ensuring consistent leadership within the Group for more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
considers that the balance of power and authority within the Group
will not be impaired by the present arrangement and the current
structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions more promptly and effectively. The Board will from time
to time review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company to ensure
appropriate and timely arrangements are in place to meet changing
circumstances.

Save for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG
Code as described above, the Company had complied with all
applicable code provisions set out in part 2 of the CG Code during
the year ended December 31, 2023.
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With the corporate culture “not to transform the world, but to
cultivate an improved way of living”, the Company is committed to
assist customers to realize and optimize their digitalizations.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently consists of seven Directors comprising four
executive Directors, namely Dr. Chen Ping (chairman), Ms. Wang
Zheshi, Mr. Feng Yijing and Mr. Wang Jun and three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Gu Jiong, Mr. Fong Wo, Felix
and Mr. Yang Hai.

Responsibilities and Function

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance, and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The functions and duties of the Board include, but are not limited
to, convening the general meetings, reporting on the performance
of the Board’s work at the general meetings, implementing the
resolutions passed at the general meetings, determining business
and investment plans, formulating annual financial budget and final
accounts, formulating the Company’s proposals for profit
distributions, and formulating proposals for increase or reduction
of capital as well as exercising other powers, functions and duties as
conformed by the Articles of Association.

The Board has assigned the powers and responsibilities of the
Group's daily operations, management and administration to the
senior management of the Company. The Board regularly reviews
the functions and powers delegated to ensure that the assignments
are still appropriate. To oversee specific aspects of the Company's
affairs, the Board has established three board committees,
including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee. The Board has assigned
responsibilities to the Board committees in accordance with their
respective scopes of powers and functions.
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Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles
of the chairman and the chief executive officer should be
segregated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Company does not have a separate chairman and chief
executive officer and Dr. Chen Ping currently performs these two
roles concurrently.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the chairman and
chief executive officer in the same person has the benefit of
ensuring consistent leadership within the Group for more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
considers that the balance of power and authority within the Group
will not be impaired by the present arrangement and the current
structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions more promptly and effectively. The Board will from time
to time review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company to ensure
appropriate and timely arrangements are in place to meet changing
circumstances.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company had three
independent non-executive Directors, in compliance with the Rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The number of
independent non-executive Directors accounts for more than one-
third of the number of the Board members.

Code provision B.2.2 of part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The term of appointment of non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors is for a term of three years.
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The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.
Accordingly, Mr. Gu Jiong, Mr. Fong Wo, Felix and Mr. Yang Hai
shall be retired from office by rotation at the 2024 AGM, and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
C3 (formerly Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules, which applies to all
Directors and relevant employees of the Company who are likely to
possess inside information in relation to the Company or its
securities due to his/her office or employment.

The Company has made specific enquiries with each Director, and
each of them confirmed that he/she had complied with all required
standards under the Model Code during the year ended December
31, 2023.

Each newly appointed director shall be provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules, relevant laws,
rules and regulations. The Directors are also provided with regular
updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects to
enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be
arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate.
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According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by the Directors during the Reporting Period is as

follows:
Name of Directors BEEng
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. Chen Ping PR IE L
Ms. Wang Zheshi FEAMZ T
Mr. Feng Yijing HERTE
Mr. Wang Jun FEEE

Independent Non-executive Directors B I TES

Mr. Gu Jiong B 5 A
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix RS
Mr. Yang Hai lisPinas

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
financial statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that
such financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group and relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied
with.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
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BOARD MEETINGS, BOARD COMMITTEES MEETINGS
AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board has met regularly and Board meetings has held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of
regular Board meetings are served to all of the Directors at least 14
days before the meetings. For other Board and Board committee
meetings, reasonable notices were generally given. Minutes of
meetings are kept by the company secretary with copies circulated
to all Directors or Board committee members for information and
records within a reasonable time after the date of the meeting.
Directors who have conflicts of interest in a resolution are required
to abstain from voting.

Directors’ Attendance Records

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, the
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Board Committee meetings and the general meetings of the A=+—HIFERTHNEEESH% 5%
Company held during the year ended December 31, 2023 is set out @& MR AS K HFERE
in the table below:
Attendance/Number of Meetings
HERER/ ERRY
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting
Name of Director 43 EZ® ENZEe FMZEe REZEE RREFAE
Executive Directors YrES
Dr. Chen Ping RTET 5/5 - - 17 171
Ms. Wang Zheshi TEMLL 5/5 - - - 17
Mr. Feng Yijing RERITE 55 = 1/1 = 1/1
Mr. Wang Jun TEEE 5/5 - - - 17
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Gu Jiong BEmiE 5/5 2/2 - " n
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix kilbies 55 22 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Yang Hai maktE 5/5 22 1/1 = 1/1
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Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company held one
annual general meeting, and the Independent Non-executive
Directors have attended the general meeting of the Company to
gain and develop a balanced understanding of the view of the
Shareholders.

The Company has established three Board committees in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations and the
corporate governance practice under the Listing Rules, including
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Company pursuant to
a resolution passed in a meeting of the Board held on November
11, 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to provide an
independent view of the effectiveness of the Group's financial
reporting, risk management and internal control systems, oversee
the audit process, develop and review policies and perform other
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. The members
of the Audit Committee are Mr. Gu Jiong, Mr. Fong Wo, Felix and
Mr. Yang Hai, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Gu Jiong is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held two meetings to review, in respect of
the year ended December 31, 2023, the interim and annual financial
results and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of
works and, connected transactions and arrangements for
employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors twice without
the presence of the Executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established by the Company
pursuant to a resolution passed in a meeting of the Board held on
November 11, 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to ()
establish, review and make recommendations to the Directors on
the Group's policy and structure concerning remuneration of the
Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policies
concerning such remuneration; (ii) determine the terms of the
specific remuneration package of each executive Director and
senior management; (iii) review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time; and (iv) review and/or
approve matters relating to the Share Option Scheme. The
members of the remuneration committee are Mr. Fong Wo, Felix,
Mr. Yang Hai and Mr. Feng Yijing. Mr. Fong Wo, Felix is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of part 2 of the CG Code, the
following table sets forth the remuneration (excluding equity-
settled share option expenses) of the members of senior
management categorized by remuneration group for the year
ended December 31, 2023:

Band |

Nil to RMB500,000
RMB500,001 to RMB 1,000,000

T % AR#¥500,0007T

Further details of the Directors’ emoluments and the top five
highest paid employees required to be disclosed under Appendix
D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements.

Regular reviews are conducted on Directors’ remuneration package
with reference to companies with comparable business or scale and
appropriate adjustments are proposed.
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The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended
December 31, 2023 to consider the relevant matters regarding; to
review and make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy and the remuneration packages of the
Executive Directors and senior management; and to consider and
approve the grant of share options to eligible participants pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company
pursuant to a resolution passed in a meeting of the Board held on
November 11, 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph B.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to (i) review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations regarding any proposed changes to its
composition; (ii) identify, select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of nominees for directorship; (iii) ensure the
diversity of the Board; (iv) assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (v) make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment, re-appointment, removal and succession of the
Directors. The members of the Nomination Committee are Dr.
Chen Ping, Mr. Fong Wo, Felix and Mr. Gu Jiong. Dr. Chen Ping is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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Nomination Policy

The Company has established a nomination policy which sets out

the selection criteria and nomination procedures for the

appointment of Directors. The selection criteria used as reference

by the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:

M

@)

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company'’s business and corporate strategy;

accomplishment and experience business from time to time
conducted, engaged in or invested in by any member of the
Group;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

the board diversity policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company'’s
business.
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The nomination procedure is as follows:

1. For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election at
a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make
nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

2. The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

3. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

4. The Nomination Committee shall then recommend to
appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship. The
Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of Directors.

5. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company pursuant to its constitutional documents, the
Nomination Committee shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship and where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of director at the general meeting.

The Nomination Committee met once to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors, and to consider the
qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for re-election at the
Annual General Meeting, to review the Board Diversity Policy and
Director Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee
considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the
Board is maintained and has not set any measurable objective
implementing the Board Diversity policy.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of
skills, experience and diversity perspectives of the Board that are
relevant to the business growth and support the execution of the
business strategy. Pursuant to the board diversity policy, selection
of Board candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, and industry experience. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

The Board comprises seven members, including four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The
Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and experiences,
including business management, strategic development, direct
selling and social commerce, administration and management,
finance, auditing and accounting experiences. The Board members
also obtained degrees in various majors including art and design,
engineering and auditing. Furthermore, the ages of the Directors
range from 41 to 73 years old. The Company has also taken, and
will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels
of the Company, including but without limitation at the Board and
senior management levels. In particular, one of the existing
executive Directors of the Company is a female. The Company is
also committed to adopting similar approach to promote diversity
of the management (including but not limited to the senior
management) of the Company to enhance the effectiveness of the
corporate governance and will continue to apply the principle of
appointments based on merits with reference to the board diversity
policy as a whole.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity
of the Board. The Nomination Committee reviews the board
diversity policy (including gender balance) from time to time to
ensure its continued effectiveness and the Company will disclose
the implementation of the board diversity policy in the corporate
governance report on an annual basis.
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In view of the background of the existing Directors, the Nomination
Committee is of the view that the composition of the Board is
diversified.

The Company’s gender diversity is also reflected in the workforce
throughout the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023. As of
the date of this annual report, 55% of the Group's total workforce
(including senior management) are female. The Company targets
to maintain a high level of female representation in the Group's
workforce.

Board Independence Mechanism

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board
has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input from any Director of the Company are conveyed to the Board
for enhancing an objective and effective decision making.

The governance framework and the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by Audit Committee as delegated by the Board,
to ensure their effectiveness:

1. Three out of the seven Directors are independent non-
executive Directors, which meets the requirements of the
Listing Rules that the Board must have at least three
independent non-executive Directors and must appoint
independent non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third of the Board.

2. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence of
a candidate who is nominated to be a new independent
non-executive Director and the contribution to the diversity
of the Board according to the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company from time to time before appointment and
also the continued independence of existing independent
non-executive Directors and their time commitments
annually. On an annual basis, all independent non-executive
Directors are required to confirm in writing their compliance
of independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of
offices held by them in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitments.
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External independent professional advice is available as and
when required by individual Directors.

All Directors are encouraged to express freely their
independent views and constructive challenges during the
Board/Board Committee meetings.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors.

A Director (including independent non-executive Director)
who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or
other proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum
on any Board resolution approving the same.

The chairperson of the Board meets with independent non-
executive Directors annually without the presence of the
executive Director and non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the duties on
corporate governance functions set out below:

develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board;

review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Audit Committee
has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, Directors’ and senior management’s training and
continuing professional development, the Company’s policies and
practices in complying with legal and regulatory requirements,
compliance with the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and its disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

Ms. Zhang Xiao served as the company secretary of the Company
(the "Company Secretary”) until her resignation on February 29,
2024. The Company has appointed Ms. Pun Ka Ying (a senior
manager of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited) as the
Company Secretary on March 1, 2024.

Mr. Feng Yijing, the executive Director and chief financial officer of
the Company, is the primary contact of the Company Secretary at
the Company. All Directors have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary to ensure that board procedures, and all
applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed. During the
Reporting Period, each Company Secretary has completed more
than 15 hours of relevant professional training according to Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The remuneration of the external auditor of the Company, Ernst &
Young, in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the
Group for the Reporting Period are set out as below.
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The Board has overall responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company. The Board is committed
to implementing an effective and sound risk management and
internal control system to safeguard the interest of the shareholders
and the assets of the Company.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The Board has placed great emphasis on the
establishment and improvement of the risk management and
internal control systems and is responsible for evaluating and
determining the degree of risk acceptable to the Company in
achieving its strategic objectives. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the Audit
Committee, who oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board has conducted a review of the systems of risk
management and internal control for the Reporting Period to
ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of the systems. Such review
shall be conducted annually. The Board considered that the risk
management and internal control systems of Company for the
Reporting Period were effective and adequate.
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Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

Highlights of the Group's internal control measures include the
following:

o the Group has improved the existing internal control
framework by adopting a set of internal control manual and
policies, which cover corporate governance, risk
management, operation and legal matters;

o the Directors have received trainings conducted by the
Company's legal advisor as to Hong Kong laws on the
continuing obligations, duties and responsibilities of
directors of publicly listed companies under the applicable
laws of Hong Kong;

J each of the Directors is aware of the fiduciary duties as a
director which require, among other things, that he or she
must act for the benefit and in the best interest of the
Company and must not allow any conflict between his duties
as a director and his personal interests. In the event that
there is a potential conflict of interest arising out of any
transaction to be entered into between the Company and
Directors or their respective associates, any interested
Director will be abstained from voting at the relevant
meeting of the Board in respect of such transaction and
shall not be counted in the quorum;

o the Group has adopted various policies to ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules, including those in relation
to risk management and information disclosure;

o the Group has appointed external legal advisor to advise on
the compliance requirements of the Listing Rules and ensure
the compliance with relevant regulatory requirements and
applicable laws, where necessary;

o the Group will assess and monitor the implementation of
the internal control manual and policies by the relevant
departments and companies in the Group through regular
audits and inspections;
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o the Group will provide internal training to employees as
appropriate in order to enable them to follow the internal
control and corporate governance procedures;

o the Group will provide anti-corruption and anti-bribery
compliance policies in the manual and implement a whistle-
blower program under which the employees are encouraged
to report instances of briberies directly to the finance
department; and

o the Group will keep implementing updated policies to the
extent necessary to ensure future compliance with
applicable laws and regulations.

The process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

In December 2022, the Company completed the Global Offering
and was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Through
a series of governance measures with strict standards, the Company
has formed a governance structure that meets the relevant
regulatory requirements of the Stock Exchange and other relevant
regulatory provisions.

The Company has set up the Audit Committee. The Board has
delegated to the Audit Committee the responsibility for reviewing
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The specific work of risk management and
internal audit is mainly carried out by the internal audit team which
reports directly to the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
has a high degree of independence, and is responsible for
providing an evaluation on the effectiveness of the Company'’s risk
management and internal control systems. The internal audit team
focuses on significant risks to gradually form the systematic and
standardized audit model and procedures, and examines key issues
in relation to the key internal controls, and provide its findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
shall study on the rectification measures and strictly monitor the
implementation results of rectification measures jointly with the
business and other relevant departments, in order to ensure that
the rectification measures can be effectively and thoroughly
implemented.

. AEBERERS SR TRERRE - <
HBREAEES RO ERERF

. AEEHRFMHTRERERRRERE
BREE  YERBHRERF  EEER
BERMMGERPIRBREEENS &

. AEEBAEMSENBTRN BB R
BE - NEFRBRETERONERE
e

ARER - AEREREXRARNERF

RZZBEZZF+=F  AREEKREHREEL

R FTEIR LT o BB — R ERISREAE
B ARREFRKREEBIMMES Bk K
HA AR R ERRIRGEE -

ARRERIUBEZEZEEG - EFTQRTERZ
B &ie AR B b B IR K AR B E A
HHEE - AREERANEZHNAEIEET
ZHARER AT ABEREERR
BERZZBEERE  ANERNEAREREY
- B E AR AR E R N A BRG] R4
AR - AREZ/ NMEZINEARRR © &
FHERERE  REUENBREARIERF -
HAMEFIRRERRETES - TAFEZER
BeERBEERNELER - AEEZ/ A
FEERH R FIR K b AE B B P KR BT T B kda
I - WERTE B R B AMIE A ITER - DARER
BRI B TEURIENE

143



144

The Company takes comprehensive risk management as an
important task in its daily operation and has taken into account the
regulatory requirements to formulate relevant disclosure policies as
well. In order to prevent risks and enhance internal control, the
Company has developed an interconnected organizational system
with clear accountability and effective check and balance. The
Company has, taking into account its specific conditions,
established and improved internal control system. The Company'’s
internal control establishment has basically covered all operating
segments of the Company, including organisation, production
operations, financial management, personnel management, and
information disclosure, etc. The Company has formulated and
implemented the Howkingtech Corporate Internal Control System,
standardized the internal audit work, defined the internal audit
team’s main job responsibilities and work authority, and stipulated
the internal control principles and the basic procedures for the
implementation of internal control work. The Company has
formulated and put into implementation the Howkingtech
Corporate Risk Management Regulations to define risk
management organization and duties at various levels and risk
management processes of the Company. The Company developed
an annual risk management and internal audit work plan in
accordance with the internal control system and risk management
system of the Company, and reviewed the effectiveness of its risk
management and internal control execution. In addition, the
Company also has formulated and put into implementation the
Howkingtech Corporate Administrative Rules for Information
Disclosure, which provides general guidelines for the directors,
senior managers and employees of the Company to handle
confidential information, defines the Company’s information
disclosure responsibility, strengthens the management of
information disclosure affairs, standardizes the company’s
information disclosure behavior, and ensures the Company’s
information disclosure is true, accurate, complete and timely.
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The audit work of the Company in 2023, focusing on two core
elements of system development and execution capability
enhancement, highlighted key risks that have significant impact,
strengthened supervision and evaluation, and gave full play to the
internal control system. The Group has carried out internal reviews
of key audit matters such as the Company’s sales process, accounts
receivable management, procurement and payment process,
related transactions, and further improved the internal control
system and driving Rectifications of Internal Control Deficiencies.
The Group also conducts training and learning on the internal
control system for Directors, senior managers and other employees
to enhance the internal control consciousness of all employees and
form an internal control culture of abiding by the law.

The Board has conducted an annual review of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2023. The Board considers that the current risk
management and internal control systems of the Group are
effective and adequate.

Handling and dissemination of inside information

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the inside information policy of the
Company and the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
published by the Securities and Future Commission in June 2012 to
ensure inside information remains confidential until the disclosure
of such information is appropriately approved, and the
dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently
made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about due compliance with all policies regarding the
inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees abreast of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting ("EGM"”) and for
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one or
more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings, on a one
vote per share basis in the share capital of the Company, and the
foregoing Shareholders shall be able to add resolutions to the
meeting agenda. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the company secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the Shareholder(s) himself/
herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholder(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Shareholder(s)
by the Company.

The above written requisition shall be addressed to the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 5/F, Manulife Place,
348 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Companies Act for shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance
with the above procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board

Should any questions as to the Company arise, shareholders and
investors may contact the Company. The contact details of the
Company are as follows:

Howkingtech International Holding Limited

Address: 5/F, Manulife Place, 348 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong

Email: ir@howkingtech.com
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Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

Amendments To Constitutional Document

There was no amendment made to the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Reporting Period.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communications policy
which aims to set out the provisions with the objective of ensuring
the Shareholder are provided with equal and timely access to
information about the Company, in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to
allow them to engage actively with the Company.

The Board will maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders
and will review the policy regularly to ensure its effectiveness.
Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company's financial reports, annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, as well as all the
disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may at
any time make a request for the Company’s information to the
extent such information is publicly available.

As disclosed in the section headed “Procedures for Directing
Shareholders” Enquiries to the Board” in this annual report,
designated contacts, email addresses and enquiry telephone
number of the Company are provided to Shareholders in order to
enable them to make any query in respect of the Company.

Having considered the various existing channels of communication
and the feedbacks from the Shareholders, investors and analysts,
the Board considers that the Shareholders’ communication policy
has been properly implemented and effective during the Reporting
Period.
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Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Howkingtech International Holding
Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Howkingtech International Holding Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 148 to 264, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matter
HREER

Impairment assessment of trade and notes receivables

B 7 MR &R SRR R ERHE

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying value of the
Group's trade and notes receivables balance amounted
to RMB279,831,000, after netting off with an impairment
of provision of RMB42,785,000, representing 79.8% of
the Group's total assets.
RZZBEZ=F+_RA=+—10  IIRBEEEBEARE
42,785,0007ti% -  EEEE FREUGRIAREWREEER
MEREFEAARE279,831,0007T - 1 BEREEER
BEHI79.8% ©

The impairment of trade and notes receivables was
assessed based on the expected credit loss model.
The assessment of expected credit losses for trade and
notes receivables was performed at 31 December 2023
using the simplified approach which involved significant
management’s judgement and estimation including
their assessment of the expected credit loss rate of
the peer group. The assessment is highly judgmental.
The Group's disclosures about trade and notes
receivables are included in note 2.4 Material accounting
policies, note 3 Significant accounting judgements and
estimates and note 18 Trade and notes receivables,
which specifically explain the accounting policies,
management’s estimates and the related provision.

B 5 RWHIA KR E B RE D RBERBEEERER
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TR ~ MRE3EA B 5 HBT R 155 AR M TE 18 58 2K
ABRERZE  ERERRESHBR - EEE M
KA -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRNFTONNEEFARETER

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of
trade and notes receivables included the following:
HMRHEE S RUGIE KRB R ENEIZEF B
ATNRIA :

) discussing with management to obtain an
understanding of the nature and the judgement
involved in estimating the peer group;

EE IR E SR A T B ST RITTARBIFT Y R eI &
R

2 evaluating management’s assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables by reviewing
the detailed analyses of the ageing of the
receivables, testing on a sampling basis the
payments received subsequent to year end;
BBEF RN EITIRRE 2T AR T
—FREENR - FHEE R ER B FIRR Y E
MEFTETTRORT

(3) reviewing the historical payment patterns and
historical provisions along with other economic
information of the receivables and any disputes
between the parties involved,;
FHEWFIENE LN TR RE LB E - ER
HtEBEERARTEEH 2 BB FREEMAF
B

(4) recalculating the impairment of trade and notes
receivables according to the provision matrix
and checking the mathematical accuracy of the
calculations; and
RIERHERENEE S RUGIRREREE
BELRER B ENEMERE &

(5) reviewing the related disclosures in the financial
statements.

EH PR THRREINE -



The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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HOWKINGTECH INTERNATIONAL HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Independent auditor's report

BYRZAMRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeBRRkEtZEKER
Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_E-_=F+-_A=t+—BIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
BosE AR¥T T AREFIT
REVENUE Uy &= 5 440,550 323,964
Cost of sales SHE AR (356,723) (228,414)
Gross profit ES 83,827 95,550
Other income and gains H A R B as 5 3,762 1,923
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERY (3,577) (3,753)
Administrative expenses THRAX (38,112) (47,982)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net % @& &R EE B F3E (10,003) (12,180)
Other expenses HEiX (1,221) (105)
Finance costs BhE Ak AR 7 (220) (219)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R 75 A& ) 6 34,456 33,234
Income tax expense PRS T ST 10 (8,963) (4,730)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F R A 25,493 28,504
Attributable to: LA AT FEAS -
Owners of the parent SRARIEA A 25,493 28,504
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Ha2mEUBA
Other comprehensive income that may ~ E&HIF A EFHHEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in B EAMD
subsequent periods: ZEBA :
Exchange differences on translation of ~ #E/FINEFH]
foreign operations PE 3 =%8 118 990
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREMEEKA
FOR THE YEAR 118 990
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRZEWALLE
FOR THE YEAR 25,611 29,494
Attributable to: LA AT FEAS -
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEY =N 25,611 29,494
EARNINGS PER SHARE BATEEEDS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BEAELER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT EF
Basic HIK RMB11.61 cents RMB14.93 cents
12 AR¥11.619 ARK1493%
Diluted bl RMB11.55 cents RMB14.93 cents

12 AR¥11.559 ARE1493%




31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive
income

Right-of-use assets

Other intangible assets

Contract assets

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and notes receivables

Contract assets

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FRBEE

x -~ BB KkEE

EERNFETA
Hip 2 mEzma
PR A

EREEE

Hit & E

BHEE

BNFOR - B EEIR
REMEE

EIETRIRE E

FEREBEERE

RBEE

E3

EC T L CREY L ES

BREE

BERFOR - HAbEYGRIR
REMEE

EHEFR

ReRRSEEY

mMBEERE

RBRE

BB ENIR

HAb 508 & 5T & A
FERERTTER

REEEFE

REERRBRE

Notes
b

13

14
15(a)

16

19

20
25

17
18
19

20
21
21

22

23

24
15(b)

2023
—E_=HE
RMB’'000
ARMT T

3,549

13,513
1,886
98

32

1,968
7,101

28,147

1,503
279,831
1,950

6,091

5,707
27,540

322,622

59,340
9,944
5,010

999
6,172

81,465

241,157

269,304

2022
—E - —F
RMB’000
ARETIT

3,158

1,661
157
1,983

110
5,965

13,034

5,619
214,010
751

4,575

73,396
47,301

345,652

55,679
29,796
10,369
1,569
4,975

102,388

243,264

256,298
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e RBRREK

31 December 2023

—E-=F+=-H=+—H
2023 2022
—EC=HF T
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
Bo5E AR®T T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEaRE 15(b) 913 214
Deferred tax liabilities FEEMRIBEE 25 14 -
Total non-current liabilities EREN A EREE 927 214
Net assets BEFE 268,377 256,084
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners BAREEAEN
of the parent =
Issued capital BETER 26 15,646 15,646
Share premium B BB 175,310 175,310
Treasury shares BERD 27 (23,839) =
Reserves i 28 101,260 65,128
Total equity T AR =R 268,377 256,084

Dr. Chen Ping
RFEL
Director

EZ

Mr. Feng Yijing
BERSBLE
Director

EZ
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Year ended 31 December 2023
BT =Ft+_HA=+—HItFE

Year ended 31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023

Profit for the year

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Equity-settled share option
arrangements

Shares repurchased

At 31 December 2023

HE-E-=E1CR
=t-HiLEE

R=Z==%-H-H

ERgF

BENERY
EXZE

FR2EUA
8

kGRS
BRELH

Bk

RZB-=F+-A=1-H

Issued
capital
BEf
B&
RMB'000
AE®TT
(note 26)
(HtzE26)

15,646

15,646

Treasury
shares

ERRf
RMB'000

ARETT
(note 27)

(372

(23,839)

(23,839)

Attributable to owners of the parent

Share
premium

Btya®
RMB'000
ARBTT

175310

175310

BARREARL
Share
option Capital
reserve* reserve*
ERE
BEr  ERGE
RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR
(note 27)  (note 28)
(W&27)  (iakes)
- 21,679
10,521 -
10,521 21,619

Exchange
fluctuation
reserve*
ERE
fhfe*
RMB'000
AREBTR
(note 28)
(Kz£28)

504

118

118

622

Retained
profits*

REEA
RMB'000
ARBTT

36,945
25,493

25,493

62,438

Total
equity

BEAT

RMB'000
AEBTR

256,084
25,493

118

25,611

10,521
(23,839)

268,377
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERSBR

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=Ft+_A=1+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAREA AR
Exchange
Issued Share Capital  fluctuation Retained Total
capital premium reserve* reserve* profits* equity
BE&T 5 KE

Bx  RbEE  AAGR WE  REBN  BnER
RMBOO0 ~ RVMBOO0 ~ RMB'OO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB'OO0
ARBTT  ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR

(note 26) (note 28) (note 28)
(Fi3E26) (MzE28) (izE28)
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZ-ZE-—%+_A
Zt-HIEEFE
At 1 January 2022 W-Z-—%#-HA-H 64 117,336 27,619 (486) 8,441 153,034
Profit for the year EREM - - - - 28,504 28,504
Exchange differences on translation 1A /G5MEKE)
of foreign operations N EE - - - 990 = 990
Total comprehensive income FREERASE
for the year - - - 990 28,504 29,494
Issue of shares for the initial RERALREE
public offering B{TRR (A 2,504 86,005 - - - 88,509
Capitalisation issue ERLET 13,078 (13,078) = = = =
Share issue expenses (note 26) TR E TR (Mi7H26) = (14,953) - - - (14,953)
At 31 December 2022 \-Z-—F+-A=1+-H 15,646 175,310 27,619 504 36,945 256,084
These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBEFE BEREAVBMRARANERE R
RMB101,260,000 (2022: RMB65,128,000) in the consolidated statement of B ARE101,260,000 (2 =-—F : AR¥

financial position. 65,128,0007T) ©
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Year ended 31 December 2023
 E_E-_=F+-A=1+—HIEE

2023 2022
—EBC-=F S
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
Bt AR®T T ARBFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING && EETBHE
ACTIVITIES e
Profit before tax BRAE AT A1) 34,456 33,234
Adjustments for: MATEBELTE -
Finance costs BE KA 7 220 219
Interest income arising from REWEELR
revenue contracts FEMA 5 - (82)
Bank interest income arising KA FE TR AIRTT
from time deposits MEMA (390) (146)
Other interest income from REEAHEFA
financial assets at fair value EarEmEEN
through profit or loss EL A SN (14) (76)
Foreign exchange differences, net HE N = REHER (521) (316)
Gain on revision of lease terms A A] BEHHARR &
arising from changes in the HESHEZEHMm
non-cancellable period and BRI E G
scope of leases Wzs 15(c) (118) =
Loss on disposal of items of HEME  BEK&
property, plant and equipment R1ETE B A EsE 6 462 -
Depreciation of property, mE - BE K
plant and equipment RIBITE 13 1,580 1,343
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 15(a) 1,356 1,501
Amortisation of other intangible HEthEmpEE
assets e 16 96 72
Impairment of trade and notes H Z rEWEIE K&
receivables R EBRE 18 10,030 12,413
Reversal of impairment of contract BREERE
assets # o 19 (27) (233)
Equity-settled share option VARR e 45 55 O B AR
expense 53 27 10,521 -
57,651 47,929
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERL/(350) 4,116 (3,112)
Increase in trade and notes B S5 RWEIE R
receivables FEU SR HRIE AN (75,851) (85,116)
Increase in prepayments, other TARFRIA  Eofth FEURIE 2
receivables and other assets HAb&EEZ N (3,278) (1,254)
Decrease in contract assets EHEERY 779 5,677
Decrease in restricted deposits ZRHFEFOR D - 233
Increase in trade payables B Z R FRIBIE M 3,661 28,518
(Decrease)/increase in other HibpEe N ZIB R EAAE R
payables and accruals CRi), /180 (17,718) 13,241
Cash (used in)/from operations & (FTA),/Fi5RE (30,640) 6,116
Income tax paid EASETISHL (8,888) (6,098)
Net cash flows (used in)/from eSEB (TR P8RS
operating activities e HER (39,528) 18



CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Purchases of items of property, plant
and equipment

Additions to other intangible assets

Purchases of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Disposal of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Purchases of time deposits

Disposal of time deposits

Purchases of equity investments
designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Repayment of loans to related parties

Net cash flows from/(used in)
investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares

Capital reduction

New bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Acquisition of an equity interest from
the then shareholders

Repayment of loans from a director

Interest paid

Lease payments

Prepayment for lease of plant and
office premises

Payment for lease deposits

Refund the lease deposits

Repurchase of treasury shares

Share issue expenses

Net cash flows (used in)/from
financing activities

REZFHREES
RE

BEUFE
BEWME  BEM
&EEE

NERMBLEE
BERAFE ABZRA
ETHMEE
HERA AR ABRD
TREE
BEEMER

& BE
BEEERAFERTA
Hib 2 es A
PRI E

{82 AR ) B 3K

RERBAF
MEFRR

BMEEFBRERS
hE

BT TSR
VTN
HIRTTER
BEBITER

Yo B L B AR R Y
Pt

EEKA —REZHNERK

ERFE

HERR
HEmE M RYED
FBNRIA

MERE R

ROEERS
B

BAn BE1THX

MEEB (PR FiERE

ME R

S (FrRBRE

34

Notes
b

Year ended 31 December 2023
BT _=F+_A=1+—HItFE

2023
—E-=F
RMB'000
AR¥T T

550

(2,440)
(37)

(26,830)

26,830
(55,705)
121,570

(13,513)

50,425

11,756
(17,115)

(110)
(1,402)

(39)
(150)

54
(23,839)
(2,130)

(32,975)

2022
—E-—F
RMB’000
AREFIT

76

(510)
(37)

(20,200)

20,200
(73,250)

955

(72,766)

184,909
(96,400)
15,369

(8,000)

32,880
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Year ended 31 December 2023
BT =Ft+_HA=+—HItFE

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate

changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

Less: Time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the consolidated statement
of cash flows and consolidated
statement of financial position

R
ZEW
B R

FEE

FREESRAE
ZEY

RERREEEIN
BRI

Re RRITHES

W E B

mreReRERMFE M
HRRKRZINNRE K

ReFED

2023

—E-=F

Notes RMB'000

Bt AR®T T
(22,078)

47,301

2,317

27,540

21 33,247
21 (5,707)

27,540

2022
—E - —F
RMB’000
AREFTT

(39,868)
86,337

832

47,301

120,697
(73,396)

47,301



The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 25 August 2021. The registered office
of the Company is located at the offices of Ogier Global
(Cayman) Limited, 89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
Cayman KY1-9009, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were principally
involved in the provision of data transmission and processing
services for Internet of Thing (“loT") applications and
telecommunication equipment.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 12 December 2022. Dr. Chen Ping, Ms. Wang
Zheshi, Ms. Jin Yan and Howkingtech Holding Limited are
the controlling shareholders of the Company. Howkingtech
Holding Limited is a business company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 11 August 2021,
which is owned by Ms. Wang Zheshi and Ms. Jin Yan.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

AR AER-_ZE-_—FN\NA=-+EA
RAESHSIMAZHNBERAR o K
A El e S R =65 Ogier Global
(Cayman) Limited B # £ 5& © ik &
89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
CaymanKY1-9009, Cayman Islands °

ARF BRAERAT « RER - AR
AIHI B A FE S E R G080
1) 16 FI B (510 KR RIS A OB
& -

ARABROR_F_=_F+=A+=H
MEEBMERZAARLDR ([BZA])
FRET - RFEFEL - FEMEXL €
& 77+ N Howkingtech Holding Limited
RARFBERR R © Howkingtech
HoldingLimited @ —XRKMNZE = —F )\
A+—RERBRZEFSTMKIINE
REXAR AXEMRE k%t
A -

BEMBEARNESR

ARTEEHBARGELT ¢

follows:
Place and Percentage
date of of equity
incorporation/ Issued attributable to
establishment ordinary/ ey
and place of registered AR EIELG
operations share capital KRR Principal
Name SRR L PR Lt B B#{TE® Direct Indirect activities
=L B R EE R HftRE HE L3 TEEK
Howkingtech (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands us$1 100% - Investment holding
Howkingtech (BVI) Limited 3 September 2021 1£7T KB
EBEAEE
—=——ENH=H
Parka Aragon Holding Limited British Virgin Islands us$1 100% - Investment holding
Parka Aragon Holding Limited 13 October 2021 (E REZER
EBRAEE

— T —%+A+=H
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31 December 2023

—T=F+"_A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(CONTINUED)

RARKEEER (F)

AEMEARNER(FE)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ARBEEMBRATNFHBLT : (B)

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Place and Percentage
date of of equity
incorporation/ Issued attributable to
establishment ordinary/ the Company
and place of registered ARG
operations share capital BRI Principal
Name HMARL Rt R B%{T&#E Direct Indirect activities
=L BRI REE R AfRA B 5 TEXRY
HowKingTech Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong Limited 17 September 2021 BT REZ
("Howking Hong Kong") 5
BEEBMRARAR —E_—FAATLH
(DREEERR])
Parka Aragon Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited 27 October 2021 18T REER
BERRMAUERRAR B
—T—F
+A=++tH
Nanjing Howking People’s Republic RMB - 100% Research and
Technology Co., Ltd. of China ("PRC")/ 127,466,667 development
("Nanjing Howking") Chinese Mainland AR® and sale of
(ARERBEMEH 29 September 2013 127,466,6677C antenna system
BRAF) hEAREMNER products, 5G
MREREAEHRER AR (THEL),/HE R equipment and
([EEER]) —T—=F other devices
AA=ZTAIE HERHE
PN &S

5G

REREMRE



Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

TENEARNER(FE)

ARBEEMBRATNFHBLT : (B)

Place and Percentage
date of of equity
incorporation/ Issued attributable to
establishment ordinary/ the Company
and place of registered ARG
operations share capital BRI Principal
Name AEMARIL B it B R B#{TE®, Direct Indirect activities
g AENREE R SR E  EHiE 3 TEEK
Shenzhen M2Micro Electronics PRC/ RMB - 100% Research and
Co., Ltd. ("Shenzhen M2M") Chinese Mainland 10,000,000 development and
(RN YE I E T 17 April 2012 AR data transmission
BRAR)* RE R EIA 10,000,0007T and processing
RN T HETFBR AR —T——fF services for loT
(FARI408]) mA++R applications and
assembly of antenna
products
FfFaE R AR A MR 4
ERBEEH &
BRI AR A 2
HERGER
HongKong HowKing Hong Kong HK$31,192,800 - 100% Import and
Technology Limited 23 January 2020 31,192,800/ 7T export trade
("HongKong HowKing") BB EHOE
BERREARRARAR] —E-TF
([&FBRR]) —A=+=R
Anji Haojing Communication PRC/ RMB - 100% Research and
Technology Co., Ltd. Chinese Mainland 257,775,442 development and
(RER= B 28 December 2022 AR sale of antenna
BREAR)* BB A 257,775,4427T system products,
BEFE M ER AR —TF equipment and
T=R=FAE other devices
HERHEE
RRZEGER
R REMRE
4 The English names of these entities registered in the PRC

represent the best efforts made by the management of the
Company to directly translate their Chinese names as they did

not register any official English names.
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31 December 2023

e —

=E+_H=T-H

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for wealth management products
and equity investments which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

ZENBRRCREFTEGTNAE
(BB EEAg BB BRBER
SR ([HFBHBREER ) (BIEM
BEERMBHRELER - FEGHER
(TEEEH £ k) REEAT
FEOINKBERERE - ZFEPBRKRE
IRIBEESL AR AR B+ MEFE R 22 am o B
BERER N FETERI nA—rHﬁﬁkﬁF&
KUARE(TARBDZS - r=EE
SN TEEBOBERED El’]?f
e

BaEE

REMBRERBIEANRR REKE QR

(REAIAKEDBE_T_=F1+—
A=Z+—BLEENMHERE - HBL
ARARAERKEREFNNER(E

HREBEER)  AREERSEKE
HREBMENE B R F B E AR
R ERAEN - BB BHIRELHR

RN (A ASEERE TRAENAE
BREHREMADHRFEN)ZE
% E DAY - BIEGHEHIHE -

—MRIBN T 2 E %2 B E R AT S
B o WARBIHAELRIEEHRAREZH
WESFELUREF - AIRNEERFTHER
CHREHREHRNENREEE—1)
EEEERER 81

(@) EREHRNEMREERAA

E’Jé?’]?ﬂ#
b) EMENRHELHER : Kk

@] REEBH IS EHE OB TR 2



Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investments retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

meEXE(E)

(RIESPNCIEEY R E Ey R 2 NCIREI DS
HEHRBRE - DRA -BOEFTR
& - ME AR FE B NEERIGEGIE
ERRGEA AR USRS ARE
EREEGEZA -

BakAEMEERERBoRBRAE
BERREAARIEERES - B
R BYIERER L IRBAER - &
BARRRNAEEERAE -« #a
WA~ AXARAEEBKE ARER S
MERRSRENRE ARETHY

W= E MIF NS =R Ll 5
MTTERPA RS A EBEEEE - AR
SESERFHERTNENZEES
Re-MBARBARERNES(AUE
REFEHIRE) ARRIIERAER S

e 7N 55 [ 5k 25 A B S 2 R e 4% 4 - B
SRUIEANBEE(BEBE) A
18~ (B IFR R e B SR B e
W HER T ARE REN A FERALE
T ARSI EEREA o TR ENE
b2 EWAERNANEBEEEID - T3
BRASEERHENBEEEXRER
PR ERMRRIEE - EEE RN TEH

DEREBRNRERF
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31 December 2023
=F+-fF=+—H

- -

The Group has adopted the following new and revised

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's financial

statements.

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs

that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. The Group has
disclosed the material accounting policy information
in note 2 to the financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any
items in the Group's financial statements.

AEEEHRRAFER B RREFA T
] MIERT BB EER -

BRVMEER  (REAA
F175%
BEGTERES  FEDIHEE
REBMBHRE
ERIERER
F25 (BRI AN)
BB GETER| BE1AATHEE
EXLACHEN)
AR EETER 18— 35 BT
F125R(EFTA) ELEREER
BEFEA
BEAEFEIE
BAEGETEL [FBR R B —
F125 (15T &) F
HANE A
HEARRNEBRFE] MEUSET B AT
RAEVERIF S RS 2N T &k

(@) FAEEABIURETAN)E
REBREEEAGAHRE
£ MFHERSEHEEK - HE
AARREMARRBUKERRTE
SHHEMER—HFEER - A
EEAHEYEBRYBHRRN
TRERERBLFMEHRERA
EHAVRTE - RIZE ST BERE
HBEAX - EEMBHREENE
BRAR2|R(ERIA)FLHEX
HEAYBT LI AT & 5 BRI R IR
REARB SRR G LSS -
AEBERM BRI E2HE
EXGFABRER » ZFEAX
3F 488 5 AN 62 (B B 5 SRk R AR R IR
BHETE - BRHEFIELEM

B 48R
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Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting estimates
are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities
use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group'’s approach
and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available)
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
has determined the temporary differences arising from
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately,
which have been reflected in the reconciliation
disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements.
However, they did not have any material impact on the
overall deferred tax balances presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the
related deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting
under HKAS 12.

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

FE G ERIFEIR (BETA)F
BERHAEB EE R RE
ZEW DR - EiHEFTERSY
BHRER TP R ENEE LD
SR - AFEIANBEE
BB AN (Al AR At B4y Ko B A BRIE
UG H &R - ARAKER
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R GRHERFE 125 (BRI A ) &
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31 December 2023

—EC=F+-A=1+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes, including the disclosure of current tax
related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the
periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and
the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively.
Since the Group did not fall within the scope of the
Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not have
any impact to the Group.

2.2

SRR BERKE (F)

(d)

FR G ERFE 125 (BFTX)
BRI E — 5 — XA AE
A HAEELEA (FRERAR
MR B 58— SALAR RIS AN EE AR
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The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements. The Group intends to apply these

revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

2024
2025

adoption

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)"*

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the "2022

Amendments”)"*

Supplier Finance
Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability”

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022

Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in

conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

17

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H
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Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including what
is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a right to
defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its
own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option
in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments shall be
applied retrospectively with early application permitted. An
entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments and whether existing loan agreements may
require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on an entity’'s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the
amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain
transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency
and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a
measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures unlisted investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1T - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-
current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(ivy  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

2.4

ERSFBEGE)
AR ()
® (&
v) HEE/ASENEAS

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

BEHEBNEREINES
BF MR R R R AET

g

ZERBR (@A LTE
S LRI

=3

K@) Tt A ¥ % B R

ﬁéﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%

(i%ﬁkm!/ A) )
BEEKE &

3

3
Ht

u/< E\Fl_iju/( EHMFﬁ'EE.
MEMKE AR AAREH
s SEISYNSIE i
EREABRY -



Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20.0%

10.0%~33.0%
Office equipment 20.0%~33.0%
Motor vehicles 25.0%

Leasehold improvements

Machinery

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in
a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Software and licences

Software and licences are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Plant and office premises 2~3 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of
a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are presented separately
in the statements of financial position.
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Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises
and equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be of low value. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit
or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables or
notes receivable that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables or notes receivable that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at
the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other

comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income
in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial
asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried

in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statements of financial position) when:

J the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a "pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable

expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment

under the general approach and they are classified within

the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for

trade receivables, notes receivable and contract assets

which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage2 -

Stage3 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables, notes receivable and contract assets
that do not contain a significant financing component or
when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its peer group’s expected credit loss, adjusted for factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables, notes receivable and contract assets
that contain a significant financing component, the Group
chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described
above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, and interest-bearing bank
borrowings.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other

payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statements of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Group's own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks and short-term deposits as defined above, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management.
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Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented in profit or
loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

J in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at a nominal amount.
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Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Revenue from data transmission and processing services for
loT applications is recognised at the point in time when
control of the assets or services is transferred to the
customers and customer acceptance is acquired.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Revenue from the sales of telecommunication equipment is
recognised at the point in time when control of the assets is
transferred to the customers, generally on delivery of the
products.

Revenue from consulting, maintenance and other services is
generally recognised at the point in time when control of
the assets or services is transferred to the customers and
customer acceptance is acquired, or over the scheduled
period on a straight-line basis or over time using an input
method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction
of the service, because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment,
details of which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade
receivables when the right to the consideration becomes
unconditional.
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Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme and a share
award scheme. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of
equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in
note 27 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.
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Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification. Where an equity-settled award is
cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

Contributions made to the government retirement benefit
fund under defined contribution retirement plans are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Chinese Mainland are required to participate in central
pension schemes operated by the local municipal
government and the central government, respectively.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of payroll costs to the central pension schemes.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension schemes.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. Interim dividends are simultaneously
proposed and declared, because the Company's
memorandum and articles of association grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

Hittfg S &2 F
Bk E
RIS E HSRINFT B AT R KA F

EESEHNHRNELR B BRMK -

BN E RS ENINE AR E
SE i 75 BT K RT3 5
)
aC

4

i

1

PREREEE - ZEHMER A
BRARE T B D HRHRER
IR - HFREREBHRERE
IFRAIK S EMNRIER B BTN

]
VE
-
_I_

]

NS

/!

ENS

87
¥
s

17

=

P W

(EEANDES

BE BEILEREREE(NAR
BAERED ERERERHENE
E)NBERBEEIKEAEHERTER
ERZEEERAN D - BE%FE
EXELREERTERERSK L& - B
FIE R EERAARETER - FAIEH
EFRRAERNE LS I - BN
AEREEREABESAELNTE R
HABRKA o

8=\

REAR B AR A & EREARR AR
RRAE - EIRYRERMBEHRER
MIFEHREE - AR R EIZ A
FAREESTIRT HRE - P HK
BRFBZZENMEIR - Bt - RHRE
RE@ERERFIRERSEE -

199



200

31 December 2023
—E-=%+-_A=+—H

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. As the major revenues
and assets of the Group are derived from operations in
Chinese Mainland, RMB is chosen as the presentation
currency for the presentation of the financial statements.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting periods.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting periods and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.
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Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
periods, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
notes receivable and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables, notes receivable and contract assets. The
provision matrix is initially based on the expected credit loss
rates of peer group. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the expected credit loss with factors that are specific
to the debtors and the economic environment. For peer
group’s assessment, the Group takes into consideration the
ECLs accounting policy, business nature and revenue size.
The amount of expected credit loss is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

The assessment of ECLs is a significant estimate. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
of forecast economic conditions. The peer group's expected
credit loss may also not be representative of customers’
actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group's trade receivables, notes receivable and
contract assets is disclosed in note 18 and note 19 to the
financial statements.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is
the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”,
which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies. There
was no carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to
recognised tax losses at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022. Further details are contained in note 25 to
the financial statements.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised into
business units based on their products and only has one
reportable operating segment. Management monitors the
operating results of the Group’s operating segment as a
whole for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

PEEME  ARELEZREERSD
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(a) REINBEFH K

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Chinese Mainland Fh B A 433,814 305,251
Other countries E Bz 6,736 18,713
Total revenue Fellve=y 440,550 323,964

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION BEHBER(E)
Geographical information (continued) 15 & R (5

(b)  Non-current assets (b) HREEE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Chinese Mainland A B A i 7,420 4,976

The non-current asset information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments, contract assets and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue from each major customer which accounted for
10% or more of the Group's revenue during the year is set

LIRS EEERIERNEE
PR - ETEREERTA -
BREENRERERRAEE

BFRETEEFNESR

RER - EAREE I ET10% A L&
TEXPWREHEIINT

out below:
2023 2022
—E-=F B —
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARYEET T AREBT T
Customer 1 gy 87,491 N/A*
TiE A
Customer 2 zFE2 55,602 38,180
Customer 3 =F3 51,770 =
Customer 4 EF4 50,894 -
Customer 5 =5 - 44,235

*  Less than 10%

* {ER10%
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wi > A RS
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WREDHTANT -
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT T AREFIT
Revenue from contracts with customers R ERBP A& LRIk 440,550 323,964
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFESHHKE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) WEEHES
2023 2022
—EC-=F —EF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Types of goods or services ERRREES
Data transmission and processing ES: 48 FE PR BUE (8 &
services for loT applications BRIE AR 380,316 238,073
Sales of telecommunication BEXEHE
equipment 58,205 82,159
Others Hit 2,029 3,732
Total HEt 440,550 323,964
2023 2022
—EB_=F —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREFIT
Timing of revenue recognition Wi 228 7 0 B
Goods/services transferred at a point RE—REZEEER
in time BR 7% 438,673 321,865
Services transferred over time e RS PR B RS AR 7% 1,877 2,099
Total #Et 440,550 323,964
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
The following table shows the amount of revenue

recognised in the current reporting period that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of

e

HxMcE

31 December 2023
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Wz~ Hl A R s (R

i)

REFEFEHHWE ()

(a) WUEEHE 77 (&)

TRIRA AN E A E R
ST ARSBREREEHY)
SFARKARE  YHBENME

the reporting period and recognised from BRB B ERR
performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:
2023 2022
—EC-=F —EToF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AREBFIT
Revenue recognised that was REEBIIFTA
included in in contract liabilities HHBER
at the beginning of the reporting BRI A
period:
Data transmission and processing Bt 4R FE PR BUR (B &
services for loT applications FRIR RS 2,641 -
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31 December 2023

—T=F+"_A=+—H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(CONTINUED)

5.

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Data transmission and processing services for loT

applications

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when customer acceptance is acquired, and
payment is generally due between 3 to 300 days from
the final acceptance, depending on the specific
payment terms in each contract.

Sales of telecommunication equipment

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of goods and payment is generally due within 6
months from delivery.

Others

Generally, the performance obligation is satisfied at
a point in time when customer acceptance is
acquired, and payment is generally due within 3
months from the final acceptance. For certain
contracts, the performance obligation is satisfied
over time as services are rendered and billed based
on the time incurred.

As at the end of the reporting period, the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) are expected to be recognised within
one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction prices allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts are not disclosed.

5.

Wz ~ HAlA Rk (&)

REFFEHHWE ()

(b)

BHYEIE

EMAEEREOR TN LR
T

BHE AR ER P RN E—R
BIBLER - W —RARERLRI
&3E 3008 ARTH - B TEEL
B BB BRI o

(5

oy}
xS

BROBRERNEmRIEENX I
—MRIANIS1RME A RRIK o

—RME  BHEERER P
MBS — R EBENK - S —RRA
MR 3ME A AR o B
BoEHNME @ BAOEEERME
BRI HY B I AK, - WARIR AT A
FrEET & o

RBEHR - RBNBEHORE
(REHIE D REQ) BN
—FRER - BEMBHREER
FISRAFATREN R TZER
BITEHNRHERE -



REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.
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31 December 2023
—E-=F+=-H=+—H
W ~ HW AR W (E)

(CONTINUED)
2023 2022
—B-=F —T-F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBFIT
Other income Hebg A
Government grants* BT 488 By 2,421 1,040
Bank interest income BITH B U A 688 340
Other interest income from REEAFEAEBERN
financial assets at fair value through TRIEEREHA
profit or loss FEKA 14 76
Interest income arising from revenue RE WA LI FE
contracts WA - 82
Total other income E U A 42%E 3,123 1,538
Gains Wz
Foreign exchange gain AN U 2 521 316
Gain on revision of lease terms arising R N R] B EE HAPRR &%
from changes in the non-cancellable HESBEZHMm
period and scope of leases CHEEE S E 118 =
Gain on liquidation of subsidiaries HIB A RB BRI E - 59
Others Hity — 10
Total gains U 639 385
Total other income and gains H A A RNz 4258 3,762 1,923

The government grants mainly represent incentives awarded by

the local governments to support the Group's operation. The
Group has some lease contracts with governments for office
premises used in its operations, which are rent-free as non-
monetary grants. These non-monetary grants are recorded at a
nominal amount and the fair value is RMB1,279,000 (2022:

RMB1,149,000).

The government grants received for which the related
expenditure has not yet incurred are included in government
grants in the statements of financial position. There were no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

i BT E RN BRAXFAE

EEEMIETHER AEERES
BERANHAMERBNRTETHEE
A4 ZEEN R - FARESEH
B) - ZEESBRHMULESBEARE
N EAARE1,279,000(Z ==
£ . AR#1,149,0007T) °

1) AR B A AR B A S O 2 MR AT FB BH A B
B R A St ABAT B © ZFHBIL
EARERAE BRI AREE -
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31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBENRBADEFIE R (GTA)

(crediting):
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{iEs AR®T T ARETTT
Cost of inventories sold BEFENRA 50,919 59,775
Cost of services provided PR IR TS B AR 305,804 168,639
Depreciation of property, plant Y% - BB MR
and equipment* HTE 13 1,580 1,343
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* { & EITE* 15(a) 1,356 1,501
Amortisation of other intangible HEhEEEE
assets*® 3l 16 96 72
Research and development costs A ZEA AR 9,649 11,308
Lease payments not included in Kt AHEAE
the measurement of lease FrENEE
liabilities (N 15(c) 112 34
Listing expenses ks = 22,536
Auditor’s remuneration % BRI 35 B 2,000 1,800
Employee benefit expense EERAH
(excluding directors’ and (PERESER
chief executive’s remuneration =TT B H
(note 8)): (Ffi7E8)) -
Wages and salaries IENEHS 8,982 14,415
Equity-settled share option VARS8 ) BB S A
expense i 27 935 -
Pension scheme contributions** RN FH B 865 1,292
Staff welfare expenses BTHRFXH 1,066 1,587
Total Bt 11,848 17,294
Foreign exchange differences, net  [E i, = 5 %58 (521) (316)
Impairment of trade and notes E ZREWRIE R EY
receivables, net RSB REFEE 18 10,030 12,413
Reversal of impairment of contract & #)& ER{E R [E
assets, net HEE 19 (27) (233)
Loss on disposal of items of HEWE - BER&E
property, plant and equipment 18 B wEstE 462 =
Bank interest income RITHLBHA 5 (688) (340)
Government grants TR T B S (2,421) (1,040)
Gain on liquidation of subsidiaries  Hf/EB A AU ES 5 - (59)



RN ERZERERAT
“RC=EER

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

*

*k

The deprecation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets and the amortisation of other intangible assets are
included in “Inventories” and “Cost of sales”, “Selling and
distribution expenses” and “Administrative expenses” in profit
or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the
Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

FEMBEHRMET

31 December 2023

—EC=F+-A=+—H
BRBIAIEF (48)

* W BERREAREREEETE
AR Bt A EE SR AT TR I8
AP R EERA ] [$HE R #HFH
RITBRX] -

* BRI R A HAEE (ERED)A
LARER B HFOKFE -

Al E B AR
BVERAR DO ¢
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

Interest on bank loans IRITERFIE 113 97
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEBF A 107 122
Total HET 220 219
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31 December 2023
—E-=%+-_A=+—H

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EERBESTHRAEHMH

EEZNRASTRABNFERFMRE
EHRA - FERERPIFE383(1)()
o) ~ (QRMOFEAR AR (HEEEN =
BRDBRBIE2EHREMNT ¢

2023 2022

—E-=F B F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETIT

Fees: e 1,095 45

Other emoluments: Hifig -

Salaries, bonuses, allowances e T4 AR

and benefits in kind EEH 2,328 2,687

Pension scheme contributions RIKNEETEIH 68 162

Equity-settled share option expense VA RS R 5 5 1) RS SR B 2 9,586 =

Subtotal INEF 11,982 2,849

Total 4a=t 13,077 2,894

During the year, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group, under the
share option scheme of the Company, further details of
which are set out in note 27 to the financial statements. The
fair value of such options, which has been recognised in
profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at
the date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ and chief executive's remuneration disclosures.

FR - BTEFREARFBRETE
SR A A R B R R IR R IR BB AR
& BRE—PRIBENMBHRRME
27 - ERRB MRS ERNZEER
BOAFEREHAHEE - MatAKR
FEABRENEBIN LAES &
BT A B B H B 5E



ERNEERERERAR 213
—B-=55H

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

S A E
Se MREmRMEE
31 December 2023
—E-=F+—HA=+—H
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. BEENREESTHAEEHM(E)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIUFBTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive FRMBILIFNITEE(THHE
directors during the year were as follows: ST :
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —EF-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

Gu Jiong I 270 15
Fong Wo, Felix J A0 270 15
Yang Hai 158 270 15
Total #Et 810 45
Mr. Gu Jiong, Mr. Fong Wo, Felix and Mr. Yang Hai BERSE A  AAEE RIGEEE
were appointed as the independent non-executive RZBZ_F+_ABZERR
directors of the Company in December 2022. There NEVEIEITES - FAME
were no other emoluments payable to the Hit RN B IFMITEZN S
independent non-executive directors during the year (ZB==F: &)

(2022: nil).
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31 December 2023

= p—

8.

(b)

F+=A=+—8

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EZERESTHRAEEFME)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
Executive directors and the chief executive (b) HITEERGESITHAE
Salaries,
bonuses,
Pension  allowances Equity-settled
scheme and benefits  Share option Total
Fees contributions in kind expense remuneration
e wa
Bihe BER  UREEEN
ik TR ENEN  BRERX e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARET T ARETR
2023 bt St
Executive directorand ~ H{7EEH3#
the chief executive: {THBE, -
Chen Ping BR¥ 77 16 728 - 821
Executive directors: WIES
Wang Zheshi FEA 77 8 110 4,996 5,191
Feng Yijing BER 77 9 756 3,144 3,986
Wang Jun IE 54 35 734 1,446 2,269
Total st 285 68 2,328 9,586 12,267




8.

AR BRI R AR A R
“RC=EER

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive

FEMBEHRMET
31 December 2023
—EC=F+-A=+—H

8. EERESTHRAEHMGE)

(b) MTESERESITHRAE
)

(continued) (18
Salaries,
bonuses,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
in kind contributions remuneration
e~ B4
AL & BRE
EWEF FHEIIR =g
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT
2022 T HF
Executive director and the HITESFH
chief executive: TS,
Chen Ping PR 855 48 903
Executive directors: HITES
Wang Zheshi FERD 131 22 153
Feng Yijing Ve 945 50 995
Wang Jun T= 756 42 798
Total a=t 2,687 162 2,849

There was no arrangement under which a director or

the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during the year.

FAMBEELARRTHRABRELR
BREEFFHMOZE
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31 December 2023
—E-=%+-_A=+—H

9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four directors (2022: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2022: two)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

AEBREHMES

FARERSFTMNEERRNRES
TR FZREFR) AFWEE
BREXHES - FRABT—R(ZF=
—F:MB)REHHFMER (LIFARF
EEYRTRABR)MFMEBNOT

2023 2022
—E_=F —Eo_F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AREET T

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e JEAL C EBL N

benefits in kind EYEF 739 1,308
Pension scheme contributions RIREFHEIEIR 8 76
Equity-settled share option expense VARG 45 B 1) B AR P 2 549 -
Total 4t 1,296 1,384

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

FHNFUTHRENRSHFMIFESTR
FEDTRABRBHABLT :

Number of employees

BEAE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T = 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,0017%& 752 2,000,0007% 7T 1 =
Total 4t 1 2

During the year, share options were granted to a non-
director and non-chief executive highest paid employee in
respect of his services to the Group, further details of which
are included in the disclosures in note 27 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has been
recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included
in the financial statements for the current year is included in
the above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.

RER —ZIFEZFNFRSTHRAR
K & = 5 e B s E AR SR BR A AR
BREEBERE - ARE P HBRH
BMARMEE27H R E - REBREN D
FEMXERHRETE - IREBHAE
B R - Mat ARFEERBRRA
RN LAFFEERIIFZRRTRAR
&= Fr B R B e Er B e R -



The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands, the Company and its
subsidiaries are not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands.

Pursuant to the relevant tax law of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. No provision
for income tax has been made as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits in Hong Kong during the
reporting period.

The provision for current income tax in Chinese Mainland is
based on the statutory tax rate of 25% of the assessable
profits of subsidiaries of the Group as determined in
accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, except
for certain subsidiaries of the Group in Chinese Mainland
which are granted tax concession and are taxed at
preferential tax rates.

Nanjing Howking and Shenzhen M2M were recognised as a
High and New Technology Enterprise and are entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2022 to 2024. This
qualification is subject to review by the relevant tax authority
in the PRC for every three years.

Current RIER
Deferred (note 25) EE (P 5E25)
Total tax charge for the year FANEFIESZ H

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

AEEBREREENAEEKE QA
AR e 48 & T FE B ARE [ P EE A S ER
EE R PT 1SR ©

RERSEERRBEIHESRAIE
B ARBREMNBRAREREHRER
KBRS B RBNERPTEH

REFBFHTTRENBBEREED -
FARBBELEMNGFTERBRFIZ
16.5% ) H R TR BB FEH - HRA
SERHEHALBEREBELEME
ARBUE A - BRI ARSI A

FERE B ISR E I ER AR
E B ARREFBECEAEVEEE
B & SR 4 MR 25% B A TE B R 5H 1R
AR £ B R AR THE ARG
SN RERBERHABRBRIREER
ES G

A FUR S MR B I R E A e HT B
¥ WYR-TE-_—_FE-T_NFH
EIR15% M BBEH R - ZER
ARPEEER S HET = FEZ—

S
IN °

2023 2022
—EC=F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETIT
10,085 6,651
(1,122) (1,921)
8,963 4,730
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31 December 2023
—E-=%+-_A=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. FrS® ()
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit AR EAMETEHR R ENRE
before tax at the statutory rate in Chinese Mainland to the Al A RIS B S BIR B R B R AT E R
tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows: RS EEROT ¢
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Profit before tax R A& A 34,456 33,234
Tax at the statutory tax rate REETEFTERNIE 8,614 8,309
Lower tax rates enacted by local H 5B EEmE

authorities BURT 2 (1,184) (3,495)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT X 321 2,024
Additional deductible allowance for iR ID =R

research and development costs A HI I B (1,434) (1,228)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods &7 HIfE &) 005 18 E518 = (26)
Deductible temporary differences not A HE R A AT HR D B 1

recognised et 2,048 =
Tax losses not recognised AIERTIEEE 598 -
Others HAt = (854)
Tax charge at the Group's BRASEEERNEAEDN

effective rate MIEZ 8,963 4,730

11. DIVIDENDS 1. RE
No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company PiN/NT IS o T VA D 1 T S R A=

since its incorporation. AR 2 e
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RN ERZERERAT
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 219,540,126 (2022: 190,972,603,
on the assumption that the capitalisation issue had been
completed on 1 January 2022) in issue during the year, as
adjusted to reflect the treasury shares repurchased during
the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic
earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at
no consideration on the deemed conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

12.

SETBRRME

31 December 2023

—EC=F+-A=+—H

BRAAERESEEAELMERE
F

BRAARANGEZG AL BEDE
EANBEERGER  ARFEREBTYE
A INAE 19 $0219,540,126 8 (—FE —
—4F 1 190,972,6030% © REREAN(LEETT
ER-E_—_F—A—H=EK)TE -
W 4E A EE DA I R FF (N BE B 0 EEAF AR 15 ©

BREERNSRIRG AT BESR
BARIEFRRNFE - sTEMRANE
BN B AT B S REA AT
REFRDBITEBREE - ARERE
BIMA BT B AT ARER
ROEEFTOLBEIEFIE -
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12.

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(CONTINUED)

The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per share

BRAREEREREARLEREA
(%)

BRERREERNOFTETHER -

is based on:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E %
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARYET T AREBFIT
Earnings 2
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AUGEERERR
holders of the parent, used in the HERNNE AR
basic and diluted earnings per share TEERFAA
calculation A Y5 A 25,493 28,504
Number of shares
RGHEAR
2023 2022
—EC=F —EF-F
Shares g
Weighted average number of ordinary A2 31T @A NAE
shares in issue during the year Eihgr 219,540,126 190,972,603
Effect of dilution — weighted average BEE — LEINEE
number of ordinary shares: T8
Share options =i 1,151,091 =
Total @it 220,691,217 190,972,603
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31 December 2023
—E_=%+-_F=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% RERRME
Leasehold Office Motor
improvements Machinery equipment vehicles Total
BE BAE
MEHE He B RE Foh

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AR®TR  ARBTR  AR®TR  ARRTR

31 December 2023 —E-ZE+ZA=+-H

At 1 January 2023: W-E_=F—-f—-H:
Cost KA 1,309 6,426 926 340 9,001
Accumulated depreciation BiinE (898) (4,217) (640) (88) (5,843)
Net carrying amount EmFE 411 2,209 286 252 3,158

At 1 January 2023, net of RZZFZ=F-A-R"

accumulated depreciation NBETE 411 2,209 286 252 3,158
Additions NE 1,880 - 553 - 2,433
Disposal il (166) (293) (3) - (462)
Depreciation provided ERRITE

during the year (672) (619) (208) (81) (1,580)

At 31 December 2023, netof R-Z==F+-§

accumulated depreciation =+—R HRZFHE 1,453 1,297 628 17 3,549
At 31 December 2023; A—E-=#+-A=+—-R:

Cost A 1,664 5,652 1,462 340 9,118

Accumulated depreciation BiiE (211) (4,355) (834) (169) (5,569)

Net carrying amount REFE 1,453 1,297 628 17 3,549
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BENRKE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Leasehold Office Motor
improvements Machinery equipment vehicles Total
HE N
mEEE HA & e Fa
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETTL AREFT ARETTL ARETT
31 December 2022 —E--#+-fA=1-H
At 1 January 2022: W-Z-—%—f—-AH:
Cost R 1,26 6,329 786 340 8751
Accumulated depreciation B:iE (465) (3,542) (486) ) (4,500)
Net carrying amount FHFE 831 2,787 300 333 4251
At 1 January 2022, net of R-ZE-—%--H"
accumulated depreciation ?Dfﬁ,% 2:HihE 831 2787 300 333 4251
Additions NE 13 97 140 - 250
Depreciation provided EMERIE
during the year 433) (675) (154) (81) (1,343)
At 31 December 2022, netof ~R-E-—%+—-H
accumulated depreciation =1t—H HRZAHE an 2,209 286 252 3158
At 31 December 2022: AZEZZF+ZA=1-H:
Cost 5 1,309 6,426 926 340 9,001
Accumulated depreciation 2:iE (898) 4,217) (640) (88) (5,843)
Net carrying amount REFE 411 2,209 286 252 3,158
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31 December 2023
—E_=%+-_F=+—H

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR 14. EERAFEHAHMEEKEW
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE RERE
INCOME
2023
—EC=F
RMB’'000
ARBFT
Equity investments designated at fair EBERAFEAHM
value through other comprehensive 2HEKRE
income RERE
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value BRATHEFT 2RI EHRERE
ETIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ETICINTERNATIONALLIMITED 13,513

The equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

On 25 May 2023, the Company subscribed for 111,270 new
ordinary shares in the share capital of ETIC
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, a fellow subsidiary of the
Company, at a consideration of RMB13,513,000 in cash.
After the allotment and issue of the aforesaid new shares,
the ordinary shares subscribed by the Company represent
approximately 2.18% of the issued share capital of ETIC
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED.

AR AT A B i A R A AT
AR RENE - RRAREERAR
S8 BB -

R-E-_=FFRA-+HB ' KQ7F
LAZR & & A K ¥ 13,513,000 7T 2 B3
ETIC INTERNATIONALLIMITED ( A A
RIMEZH B AR BRAFE111,270
BT mAR o &SRB R B AT Rl T AR
m1& - AR B FTREH T BERIGETIC
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED & 2% 77 J& 2
#92.18% °
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31 December 2023
—E-=%+-_A=+—H

15. LEASES 15.

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for plant and office premises
used in its operations. Leases of plant and office premises
generally have lease terms between 2 and 3 years. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group.

HE
FEBE/FERAA

AEEGELETERNEE RN
XAIVMEAND - BEMRAMENE
EH-—MRB2EIF - —RME - AKH
PRI AR BIAINYA L8R KD HE
EEE -

(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) EHAEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use FAREEFREEENREEB
assets and the movements during the year are as LEBEHWOT :
follows:
Plant and
office premises
Y58 N3
RMB’000
AR¥ET T
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_F—HF—H 3,162
Depreciation charge (note 6) reafsz (Hizk6) (1,501)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZEZZ_F+=ZA=+—HK
1 January 2023 —E-=%—H—H 1,661
Additions NE 2,999
Revision of lease terms arising from changes FE~A] f#i$4 HARR &
in the non-cancellable period and scope 105 85 B & &)
of leases BRI E R (1,418)
Depreciation charge (note 6) ERX (FiiEs) (1,356)

As at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+—-_F=+—H 1,886
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note 34 to the financial statements.

MR T34 -

15. LEASES (CONTINUED) 15. FHE(E)
The Group as a lessee (continued) rEBEREBA(E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) MHEEME
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FRAHESENEEREREBRE
movements during the year are as follows: BT :
2023 2022
—E-=F —T--F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR¥ETT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—B&EREE 1,783 3,233
New leases FHE 2,960 =
Accretion of interest recognised FAERN R
during the year FLE 107 122
Payments (NEN (1,402) (1,572)
Revision of lease terms arising from AN AT H$EHARR &
changes in the non-cancellable HEHEES M
period and scope of leases BT E IR (1,536) —
Carrying amount at R+—A=+—80K
31 December AREE 1,912 1,783
Analysed into: Paiv=1
Current portion mENE D 999 1,569
Non-current portion FEMENEL 913 214
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEAGENIHBE DTIRENE
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15. LEASES (CONTINUED) 15. HE(E)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEREBAE)
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) REZTHEREHEENSTEN
to leases are as follows: I
2023 2022
—E-=F —E
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARYET T ARET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 107 122
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  {FFEEEITE
assets X 1,356 1,501
Gain on revision of lease terms AT Al BEEHARR &
arising from changes in the non- HEsEgEHm
cancellable period and scope of EETHEIEHH
leases Wz 118 -
Expense relating to short-term EHHE REEE
leases and leases of low-value BEHERBRX
assets (included in administrative Gt ATTE )
expenses) 112 34
Total amount recognised in profit or PRI ERHE &5
loss 1,693 1,657

(d)

29 to the financial statements.

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note

(d)

HERIR SR AENTBEREK

520 55 o
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. HMtBEEE
Software
B4
RMB’000
AR®T T
31 December 2023 —E-_=f+=ZH=t+—H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated RZZT=—=F—F—HMKX -
amortisation Bk RETEE S 157
Additions NE 37
Amortisation provided during the year FRaTHREEH (96)
At 31 December 2023 =St P e —[E 98
At 31 December 2023: RZE_=F+=RA=+—81:
Cost XA 299
Accumulated amortisation Rt (201)
Net carrying amount AREDFE 98
31 December 2022 —E-_—f+=-A=+-H
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated HR=—ZT— —F—F—HHEK -
amortisation HIBR Rt #E SN 167
Additions NE 62
Amortisation provided during the year FRETHREES (72)
At 31 December 2022 R=_F_—F+-_H=+—H 157
At 31 December 2022: R-E-_—_F#+-_A=+—8":
Cost A 262
Accumulated amortisation REtEH (105)

Net carrying amount AREDFE 157
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17. INVENTORIES 17. FE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBFT
Raw materials Rk - 952
Work in progress KGR 328 3,131
Finished goods BIRK G 1,175 1,536
Total FEES 1,503 5,619
18. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES 18. EZEWFEREWREE
2023 2022
—EC-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Trade receivables B 5 e RIE 321,254 238,024
Notes receivable measure at amortised % # SR ANEHE HY
cost TEINEE 1,362 10,143
Impairment RE (42,785) (34,157)
Net carrying amount REDFE 279,831 214,010
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEEREEXFPNESEREZEUEE
credit. The credit period is generally 3 to 300 days, TEREST - FEHAER3E300H - R
depending on the specific payment terms in each contract. FEEXHNNEABMNRIERMNE - AER
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its SREBEIEFIREZEWFIE - SRE
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed BETHEMBRES - REEW &S
regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold HE S RBGRIAE ST E TR @K
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade EmEEERTA BEZRKFIEAR
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest- =N

bearing.
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TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 18.

An ageing analysis of the trade and notes receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date

= =

F+-A=+—H

B 5 BWRERERREE (&)

B HEE 5 UK

A MRS RE (HIRR B R AR ) MR D

and net of loss allowance, is as follows: T -
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Within 1 year 1FER 191,340 169,291
1to 2 years 1226 71,072 18,309
2 to 3 years 2&E3F 11,205 23,636
3 to 4 years 3F4AF 5,022 2,235
4 to 5years AZE5EF 1,192 539
Total “Et 279,831 214,010

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

B 5 AR & R B e R (E S 1R

trade and notes receivables are as follows: BEEEINT -
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-_F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
At beginning of year REA] 34,157 22,367
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BB BRI (fiT6) 10,030 12,413
Amount written off as uncollectible 4 AN BT Y B 28 (1,402) (623)
At end of year NER 42,785 34,157

229
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The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade and notes receivables. To measure the expected
credit losses, trade and notes receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The
provision rates are based on its peer group’s expected
credit loss rate and ageing for groupings of various
customer with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the end of each of the reporting period about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group's trade and notes receivables using
a provision matrix:

AEERBEI T ETREEYHR
SERFEIRAMRENTRREERER
o ZERAFRLATA S 5 RURIA R
ERSZERA 2 MAREIERE - R
EEMEEEE  BEHRIGAREK
SRRARGERBRFEETOME - B
BERERRTARNEREERER R
ZABRUBERANSEEF DA
AREREETE ° At R R IIMEAR
EENEFEEMNSREHRAITES
MABRRBESM - BRI EIBRIARR
BRI AR AT FEEH o

TXHIERBREEEAENAHEAS
B2 5 e WKIR M B KRR E B R ki
OMEFR :

As at 31 December 2023 N-ZBE-_=%+=-BA=+—H
Gross carrying Expected Expected
amount credit loss rate credit loss
EHEE FEHEE
REA&E i ES [fi=]
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR%ET T
Individually assessed: fERIFTA
Credit risk increased EERBEZE
significantly L 18,786 87.98% 16,527
Collectively assessed: EERET(E
Less than 1 year DR 198,301 3.51% 6,961
1to 2 years 15826 79,454 10.55% 8,382
2 to 3 years 2FE34F 15,138 25.98% 3,933
3to 4 years 3F44F 5,918 53.31% 3,155
4 to 5 years AFE5F 4,038 70.48% 2,846
Over 5 years S5FLAE 981 100% 981

Total 4act 322,616 42,785
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31 December 2023
—E_=%+-_F=+—H

B RUGRER B RE (&)

R=B-=HF+=-A=+—H

Gross carrying Expected Expected
amount  credit loss rate credit loss
BHEE BHEE
BREA(E BB &8
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARKETTT ARETT
Individually assessed: EGIEE .
Credit risk increased EERREZE
significantly fsbay 11,473 100.00% 11,473
Collectively assessed: SR
Less than 1 year DR 175,450 3.51% 6,159
1to 2 years 224 20,411 10.30% 2,102
2 to 3 years 2E34F 33,389 29.21% 9,753
3to 4 years 3E4F 5,037 55.63% 2,802
4 to 5 years 4E55F 2,407 77.61% 1,868
Total st 248,167 34,157
The Group endorsed certain notes receivable (the AEFERESOHEFSES TRKE
“Endorsed Notes”) to certain of its suppliers in order to BIEEERR])  WEEENZEH
settle the trade payables due to such suppliers. In EREHNESEMNRIEA - BREB(FEAR
accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the HAMBERBEE)  WRBEZEAELD
PRC, the holders of the Endorsed Notes have a right of BESEZBNEEAUAEBEFER
recourse against the Group if the drawer of notes defaulted E([HFELm]) - E’\_gi_i‘f‘ H
(the “"Continuing Involvement”). At 31 December 2023, there =+—H BMEEEEZER (T _—_—

was no Endorsed Notes (2022: RMB2,816,000)

The Group continued to recognise the full carrying amounts
of the Endorsed Notes and the associated trade payables
settled with an amount of RMB2,816,000 at 31 December
2022, because the directors believe that the Group has
retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include
default risks relating to such Endorsed Notes.

No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year or cumulatively.

F : AR¥2,816,0007T) °

KRB —_F+-_A=+—H ' A5H

HETHRACEEREREFERH
BHRNFBAREE 2BESARE

2,816,000 - REREEHELIEED
REBEARBRNEOEK  BFEEZFES
EXZBRARNENRR

BERRKERES
B

HEEFAZH R
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS 19. BHEE
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —EF-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBFT
Contract assets arising from: REATEENEGHEE
Data transmission and processing WES A8 FE PR BUE (F 8 &
services for loT applications BRI AR 1,621 2,400
Sales of telecommunication equipment  BIEREHE 433 433
Total 4=t 2,054 2,833
Impairment DERIE] (72) (99)
Net carrying amount REDFE 1,982 2,734
Analysed into: DR
Current ik 1,950 751
Non-current JERED 32 1,983

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned
from data transmission and processing services for loT
applications and sales of telecommunication equipment as
the receipt of consideration is conditional on successful
completion of warranty periods. Included in contract assets
are retention receivables. Upon completion of warranty
periods, the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to trade receivables. The Group's trading terms
and credit policy with customers are disclosed in note 18 to
the financial statements.

B BB ORI BB m A SRR UER
BENBEENFRYBBERABEER
K BRI R 745 DA K 38 15 R A 8 5 AT R A
WHHER - ANEET BREBERE
T - REEMBERR - BRB/ENEEN
TRRENDEEEHRWFA - A%
B B P B9 32 5 16K S 5 B ERER I R 7%
HRMET 184K EE -
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED) 19. BHEE(HE)
The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract RIEHR - GHEENTETKE L
assets as at the end of reporting period is as follows: SRR ¢
2023 2022
—EC-=F S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Within 1 year 19FR 1,950 751
After 1 year 15 E 32 1,983
Total contract assets SRBERE 1,982 2,734
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of BHEEREBERENZENT
contract assets are as follows:
2023 2022
—EC-=HF T —F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFIT
At beginning of year REF] 99 332
Reversal of impairment losses, net BB R R FRE
(note 6) GELY (27) (233)
At end of year RER 72 99
An impairment analysis is performed at the end of the RATIRIEARETRESTAGZE
reporting period to measure expected credit losses. The RHREEER - BARNENEERESE
provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit WHRIBERBHERETFE - aNEERY
losses of the contract assets are based on those of the trade EEBEENBERTINE S EBHKIER
receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables EfEtE -
are from the same customer bases.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk UTEYERAEREGHNEEEERR
exposure on the Group's contract assets: WO R Bk
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E-—F
Expected credit loss rate FEHRE B EE R 3.51% 3.49%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FEEABEARETT) 2,054 2,833
Expected credit loss (RMB’000) FRHREEER(ARKETT) 72 99
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20.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS

20.

RAAARE - HibEBWRIER H
BE

2023 2022
—EC=F —EF-F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREBFT

Non-current: FE7E -
Deposits & 81 110
Prepayments TR RIA 1,887 -
Subtotal et 1,968 110

Current: 8 -

Prepayments TaftRIA 5,249 3,668
Deductible input value-added tax AR I ERR AR 87 370
Deposits and other receivables e K E Ath e GRIE 755 537
Subtotal NEF 6,091 4,575
Total st 8,059 4,685

An impairment analysis was performed at the end of the
reporting period. The Group has applied the general
approach to provide expected credit losses for non-trade
other receivables under HKFRS 9. The Group considered the
historical loss rate and adjusted for forward-looking
macroeconomic data in calculating the expected credit loss
rate.

The financial assets included in the above balances are
unsecured and repayable on demand and relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default
and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022, the Group estimated that the expected
loss rate for deposits and other receivables was minimal
under the 12-month expected loss method.

BERRDETRESN - AEECR
BEABVBHREEREIRRA —KT
ERLIEE B R EUGRIBHRTRAEE
BiE - ARBERTERBEEREX
B @LRELEEER - WHATKEMER
BB TR -

FHERETEENeMEEAEERE
BIRBREE - I T B 48 R FREDER
MaeENERRERR N_E=
=F+-_A=t+—HR=ZE-_—_F+=
A=+—H8 ' A&EBEMER - BE12(E A
TEEIESIBARTE @ ke REMBYGRIE
MWIEHEBR AT RE -
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HERIEESZEEBEY

2023 2022

—EBC-=F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHES 33,247 120,697

Less: Time deposits Y EEATERX (5,707) (73,396)

Cash and cash equivalents e RIS EED 27,540 47,301
Denominated in: LA EH’EETHE -

RMB AR 19,928 27,167

us$ ETT 6,675 17,255

HK$ BIT 937 2,879

Total cash and cash equivalents He MIReEEYBRE 27,540 47,301

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

ARBTHEABmABREMEE - R
- ARAE R B Pt K SN B 2R AR M5 ) K
(HEIE - EERNEEERE) A%E
BERBERERRINERGORITS
AREE SR EAMER -

RITESRESARTERNXRNZS
M RERIAR - 2 HE AEROHAR N
F—HE=EA - FURRA KB/ ANE
ReFR - WiKE B R HTE #7500
KEREAE - |RITEBTFRNEER
BT HRY SRR MO RCERAYERTT -

235



236 HOWKINGTECH INTERNATIONAL HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

b e e

31 December 2023
—E-=%+-_A=+—H

22. TRADE PAYABLES 22. EFENNE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the R|EPRENZEZRBHNE HEMNRK
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: THRERER DT AA T ¢
2023 2022
—EC-=fF —ECF
RMB'000 RMB’'000

AR¥TR AREET T

Within 1 year 1% 47,034 51,887
1 to 2 years 1225 9,971 2,149
2 to 3 years 2E3F 1,658 422
Over 3 years IFLAE 677 1,221
Total A5t 59,340 55,679
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have no B HRNFIBARRE BEREE MRS -

fixed terms of payment.

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23. HtERNFERESER
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt ARYT T ARET T
Payroll and welfare payable JEN T & RAz A 3,792 8,025
Other payables H At FEATFRIE (@) 2,105 11,546
Contract liabilities BMARE (b) 2,582 5,223
Other tax payables HAh eI 1,462 5,002
Interest payable JEAT A2, 3 -
Total #Et 9,944 29,796
Notes: PE
(a) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on (a) Hh A RIE RS B REREREE -
demand.

(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) EHBENFBAOT -
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
—EBC-=fF —E_—fF —E-—F
+=A=t-B +=A=1+—~H —A—A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARWT T ARETT ARETT

Short-term advances received from customers A1 E Y ER AT B
Data transmission and processing YR A8 e P B (E 8
services for loT applications RIERIERTE 2,582 5,223 =
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24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 24. FTEBITER
31 December 2023 —BE—_=—F+=H=+—H
Effective
interest rate Maturity RMB’000
BERRRR 28 A AR¥T T
Bank loans — unsecured RITE R — EIKHE 3.45% 2024 10
Bank loans — unsecured RITE R — miKH 3.00% 2024 5,000
Total =t 5,010
31 December 2022 —E-—_#H#+=-—H=+—H
Effective
interest rate Maturity RMB’000
BEERAI= EpE] = ARET T
Bank loans — IRITER—
unsecured K 1 3.65% 2023 3,560
Bank loans — RITER—
secured (NOTE) BHEMA(E) 3.30% 2023 6,809
Total Rt 10,369
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETT

Analysed into: DITE
Within one year —F R 5,010 10,369
NOTE: Three patents of Nanjing Howking were pledged for the bank Mizr . RZTZZZF+-A=+—H BERE

loans as at 31 December 2022. B =IHEFERIRITERTLAER -
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The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during FRELEHBEEENNEEZSNT :
the year are as follows:
2023 —EBC-=F
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHEERE
Right-of-use
assets
EREEE
RMB’000
AR®F T
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—H—H 249
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year STAFNIESAELEFRTE (98)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2023 N-E-_=%+—H
=+—HRRERIAE
BEEE 151
Deferred tax assets EEFIEEE
Impairment
of financial Accrued Lease
assets  expenses liabilities Total
EREERE FESTRESZ HESE st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT R AR¥ETR AR¥TR AR¥T:R
At 1 January 2023 i ——
—H—H 5,138 809 267 6,214
Deferred tax credited/ A (HKRBE)
(charged) to profit or loss FRBZA
during the year IRIEFRIE 1,545 (394) (127) 1,024
Gross deferred tax assetsat WN-ZT-_=F+_—A1
31 December 2023 =t+—HHET
MIR B LR 6,683 415 140 7,238
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25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. EFEBIE(E)
2022 ===
Deferred tax liabilities FEHEERE
Right-of-use
assets
FREEE
RMB’000
AREFIT
At 1 January 2022 WZZE-_—_F—H—H 474
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year SFAFRIE R IELETIE (225)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2022 R —F+—-H
=t+—HH&
RIETIE S AR 249
2022 =EHE==
Deferred tax assets EEFIEEE
Impairment
of financial Accrued Lease
assets expenses liabilities Total
SRUEERE FEETFRX HESE 45t

RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETE ARBTT ARETT ARETRT

At 1 January 2022 P S— ==
—H—A 3,396 637 485 4,518
Deferred tax credited/ FIA(HIBRB)ER
(charged) to profit or loss B ARETIE
during the year 1,742 172 (218) 1,696

Gross deferred tax assets at R-E-——F+= A

31 December 2022 =+—BMELE
IR A AR 5,138 809 267 6,214
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and MEWRMS B TELEHRBEELRARE
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial BREBARR R

position.
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25.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of
the Group for financial reporting purposes:

25. EFERIE(E)

N5 7R B A VR B 75 B R RO AR ST IR

EERDHT
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Net deferred tax assets recognised EA rE I ISAR S R A R

in the consolidated statement of IR IAE 558
financial position 7,101 5,965
Net deferred tax liabilities RERE FBAR R R NFER R
recognised in the consolidated BETR A S E%5
statement of financial position 14 -
Deferred tax assets FRERBEE

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
RMB3,624,000 (2022: nil) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following item:

AREBEBEBSELEREBRERARKE
36240007t (= ==F : =) » AJ &
PR EA K S8 7S A B9 18 8 B B oK 2R B SR B 0%
F) o

EE ANZEEIE BB EE —BRERAMN
NRIESE - BIERE R A AR H

E%X%RIEJ%%EE’JT““'IE%&%E%T X

WARZEEERRELHIEEE °

WARFLIA TIE B RRCEHIBEE :

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT ARETT

Tax losses HiIAE 1A

598 —
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DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. REBIE(E)
Deferred tax assets (continued) ELEMIEEE (&)
The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends AREBEEEBZENRRAMA L
distributed by those foreign invested subsidiaries INERENBARE T NF—A
established in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings — RAREERAFTD IRA RS AANTE
generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is 5% or R - NEEREA K A5%10% °
10% for the Group.
At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised RZZBE-_=F+-_A=+—H  x£E
for withholding taxes that would be payable on unremitted N 48 A P B A 1 K S A B BB R B ZB A
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's %ME?DME’HEEﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁ?iﬁ'ﬂgﬁﬁ
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland. In the opinion M ERETELERIE - EE245 %
of the directors, these subsidiaries’ fund will be retained in LB RRNE S EREA E':F'.Wﬁﬁ
Chinese Mainland for the expansion of these subsidiaries’ ARERZENBARNERS » 825
operation, so it is not probable that these subsidiaries will W}%QETZVY—I%EA—HE%*X 3IkE
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The BAEFM RZTE_=F+=-A= ‘f——
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with El Eﬁiﬁ’q\qﬂ !I*Jiﬁﬂﬁ% Al AR MERIELL
investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which Tﬁlﬁﬁ{%ﬁ’j&ﬁﬁﬁﬁE’jﬁﬁﬁi’l‘iﬁgﬁ,ﬁ@gﬁ
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled A A B AREE8,739,0000(=ZE ==
approximately RMB98,739,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022: £ AR¥71,046,000T) ©
RMB71,046,000).
ISSUED CAPITAL 26. BEBRITHRA
2023 2022
—E-=F =S =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Authorised: VETE
300,000,000 (2022: 300,000,000) 300,000,0000%
ordinary shares of US$0.01 each (=== =% : 300,000,000%)
FAXAEEO.01 £ /Y E B A% 20,863 20,863
Issued and fully paid: EEITRER
225,000,000 (2022: 225,000,000) ordinary 225,000,0000%
shares of US$0.01 each —Z— —4& : 225,000,000 )
FRREE0.01ETTH T AR 15,646 15,646
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A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is
as follows:

At 1 January 2022
Issue of ordinary shares BITE B

BT

Capitalisation issue

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023

Note:

On 11 November 2022, the Company increased its authorised share
capital from US$50,000 divided into 5,000,000 shares of US$0.01 each to
US$3,000,000 divided into 300,000,000 shares of US$0.01 each by
creation of an additional 295,000,000 shares (ranking pari passu in all
respects with the then existing issued shares).

In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, 36,000,000
shares of US$0.01 each (equivalent to RMB2,504,000) were issued at a
price of HK$2.73 per share for a total cash consideration (equivalent to
RMB88,509,000), before share issue expenses of RMB14,953,000.

Upon the share premium amount of the Company being credited as a
result of the initial public offering, the directors were authorised to
capitalise the amount of US$1,880,000 (equivalent to RMB13,078,000)
from the amount standing to the credit of the share premium account of
the Company to pay up in full at par 188,000,126 shares for allotment
and issue to the persons whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company as of the date of the passing of the resolution
in proportion to their then existing shareholdings in the Company.

Rn=—E-_—_F—H—H

R-B__+-_A=+—A8"
777_5 A—HK
ey e e |

RAFRRASERENT -
Number of Share
Share in use capital
EEARGEE L&
RMB'000
AR¥T T
999,874 64
36,000,000 2,504
188,000,126 13,078
225,000,000 15,646

PG

RZZBZZF+—A+—H  ARAFEBRIER
#8591 295,000,0008% B 7 (48 P 8 7 TH £ & B 3R
BERITROZBEREMWAL) - BEERAS
50,0003 7T ( 43 5,000,000% 5 I E {H0.01 £ 7T
BORR 7)) 1 0 Z 3,000,0003E 7T ( £ /300,000,000
MR EE0.01 £ TTH D) ©

MARRERAFEEMmME + 36,000,000 &
BREE0.01 =T AIAR (5 (FBE R A R #2,504,000
T) AR 2. 737 T ES BE1T - LAREUEE R
AR #88,509,0007T Ky 4835 & KB (RINBRAR (5
217X AR #14,953,0007T) °

BARAMBRMEERE SN AREE MRS
HIRE  BEESBEAARBROEERERS
81,880,000 7t (#HE P A R #13,078,0007T )
B EA - BARIREES R 188,000,126 8% i
7 DIEREERERERBBHEIARAF
& 3R & e A & B AN 2 R A9 IR A AR A L 5]
BEETREY5&: S



(a)

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to grantees who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Grantees of the
share option scheme include certain directors, senior
management and employees of the Group. The
share option scheme became effective on 29 March
2023 and will expire on 28 March 2033.

The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within 30 days from the date of offer, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of RMB1.00 in
total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted commences after a vesting period of
one to three years and ends on the expiry date of the
share option scheme.

The exercise price of share options is HK$1.56, which
is higher than (i) the closing price of HK$1.56 per
share as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the date of offer to grant option;
and (ii) the average closing price of HK$1.53 per
share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer to grant
option.

The shares to be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of an option shall rank pari passu in all
respects with the fully-paid shares in issue of the
Company as of the date of allotment and will entitle
the holders to participate in all dividends or other
distributions paid or made on or after the date of
allotment other than any dividend or other
distribution previously declared or recommended or
resolved to be paid or made if the record date
therefore shall be on or before the date of allotment
and issue.

(a)

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

BT E

A E RN — TR IR 8 ([ 5%
B AR R A E R
BRI NEH EEIREAEA - B8
B ENARARELAEES
TEE SHAEREREES - B
RIEFER T =_=F =A==+
NBER THER-_ZT==F=
A=+ N\BHEmm -

RERAXNEEREBARXAR
#1.007T1R - RHEBRENELD
A B ELHMEF0ANEE
A o TR BB ITERN —
E-FHNRBHRRAREEEE
stElfEm AR -

BRENTEERIS6GEBT &
R B AV h R Ak B BB X P
FRBEXRARETEZR .56
BT RN REZRBHR HERRE
B B AT A {EE R BB 32 B ¥
EBRARFERHESR.538

JC ©

RSB ETTE M AS T Ao 3% e 3%
TR RS T R =A%
SRR NCITRR SO ST G
FHERSE M - BREFREA
BN 2R E Al 2 BATKR
HAEH M E RS HEMDIK -
HefrC ik B IR OB R BT E

Bl - RIEATE IRk IEE S H
SRR A KA RO AT A8 S &
7 KBRS
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD
SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(a)

Share option scheme (continued)

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group
does not have a past practice of cash settlement for
these share options. The Group accounts for the
Scheme as an equity-settled plan.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under
the Scheme during the year:

27.

BRESTERRORBEE (A

(a)

B a (3

AEBVERSHEEERTR -
$’§liﬂﬁjﬁﬂw&é HEEZE
BRI ML - NEEBZETE
ABRFIELAR I A B R 5T 2 -

FERREYL T TR A A EREB
HRRERA R LIRRHHER) -

RER - ZETEE T HARTTRD
R T
2023
—E-=F
Weighted
average
exercise price Number of

HK$ per share options

g5
TEE HB IR R
BRET BB
At 1 January R—HA—H = =
Granted during the year RERE 1.56 22,500,000
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 1.56 22,500,000

The exercise price and exercise periods of the share RZE-_=F+=-A=+—H -

options outstanding as at 31 December 2023 are as
follows:

Number of options Exercise price

Exercise period

B ARTE BN ITEE RITE
BN

BRERE TEE  TEH
HK$ per share
BRET
15,000,000 1.56 29 Mar 2024 to 28 Mar 2033
—EMF=A-thREZZT==F=A=+N\AH
3,750,000 1.56 29 Mar 2025 to 28 Mar 2033
—ERAF=A-thREZZT==F=A=+N\AH
3,750,000 1.56 29 Mar 2026 to 28 Mar 2033
R ARF=AZThBEE_ZE==%=HA=1/\H
22,500,000

The weighted average remaining contractual life of
the share options outstanding as at 31 December

2023 was 9.24 years.

R=_FT—_=F+—-_A=+—8"
i) A1 T {5 B A 9 e 23 el sk
BHIF B9 245 -



(a)

Share option scheme (continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share options
granted during the year was HK$20,633,000
(equivalent to RMB18,698,000), of which the Group
recognised a share option expense of RMB10,521,000
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant
using a binomial model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the
model used:

Dividend yield (%)

Expected volatility (%)
Historical volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life of options (year)

B & (%)

TERRR IR (%)
JEE SR (% )
ERBFIE (%)

Weighted average share price  JN#EF (B
(HK$ per share) (FRHTT)

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
22,500,000 share options outstanding under the
share option scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 22,500,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of US$225,000
(before issue expenses).

BREEMEH(F)

(a)

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

BRER (&)

NERFHEN AR EEENE
& 4E B9 R -8 520,633,000 7T
(HEER AR #18,698,0007T)
HAAREFRBEE T _=F+
ZA=t+—B I FERERERE
Fsz AR#10,521,0007T °

RERT AR EERRB
RR D FELE BR D EREN
RS AR & 3R — IR AR B
B BEMAET - TRESIFES
TR B ABUR

2023
—EB-=H
Grant date
E-Gl=h

29 March 2023 25 May 2023
—E-= —E_=F
=A=+hAB HAZ=+EHH
0.00 0.00
35.87 36.13
35.87 36.13
3.05 3.55
10.00 9.84
1.56 2.15

TE R 0 F IR JEE SR R AR AR 2K
BEHRE  TACRERS
8o

AAEAHERLEZEEERLE
PR EL A AT -

RIBEHR - AR B R EERRAEST
238 T~ /22,500,000 t4 K 1T
BERHE o RIBARRIERTNER
i BT R TE RS AR
1< N2 7] 87N 17 22,500,000
% 2 37 i Az 37 38 225,000 7T A%
ANARMBREITRS) ©
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e —

(b)

Share award scheme

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 16
May 2023. The objectives of the share award scheme
are: (i) to recognise the contributions by certain
eligible participants and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group; and (ii) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of
the Group.

Subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the board of directors of the
Company, the share award scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of ten years commencing on 16
May 2023, after which no further awards will be
granted.

Subject to the share award scheme rules, awarded
shares may be (i) purchased on the Stock Exchange;
or (i) accepted and received from any significant
shareholder or any party designated by the
Company. Once purchased or received, the awarded
shares are to be held directly or indirectly by the
trustee for the benefit of the selected participants
under the trust until they are vested, on and subject
to the terms and conditions of the share award
scheme rules and the trust deed.

The board of directors shall not make any further
grant of award such that the total number of shares
granted under the share award scheme will exceed
10% of the total number of issued shares as of 16
May 2023. On the basis that the total number of
issued shares as of 16 May 2023 was 225,000,000
shares, the aforesaid 10% limit represents a total of
22,500,000 shares.

(b)

Bt R B &

AAAR=E-=FHEA+AA
PR — AR B2 B AT & o Ak 2%
BEEHANHE  (RTETA
B2EENTR - WA THES
HE  ARAEBNFESER

EREBES  Ri)AEAEEMD
E—FTERERRSIGHEAOASR -

RIELBARAEFGTLART
POFEMTIRAA L - 25 BURID SE)
HElEs —T-=FAA+AA
BT ERERRARS - HEE
THE—SET 50 -

R D B ET IR RIMRERT -
BRI D AT () B X FTAE 1T R
B (i) B SR RERERER
ARRRIEEEMALTEZ R
H o —EREESWE - EED
1 B AR B BT &R
A R A5 RSB AV 6K S IR L 7E
HARR TREE2RENN @R
E TERIEERES EEH
BEBRL -

AR IR AR 10 SR ED AT 814 H M AR 1
BEBBEAEE_T_=FH
A+BREETRDEEH
10% * AIEEETEE—PRT
EEEE - IREE—T-_=FH
BTt NEMEBITROBE L
225,000,000 f% f% fn 5T & - kit
10% ) _EBR &4 $£22,500,000 f%
f&An o



27.

28.

RN ERZERERAT
—ECZEFR

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD
SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(b) Share award scheme (continued)

Subject to the share award scheme rules, the board
of directors may, at its sole and absolute discretion,
select any eligible participant for participation in the
share award scheme as a selected participant and
determine the number of shares to be awarded.

The number of treasury shares held for the share
award scheme as of 31 December 2023 was
10,656,973, amounting to RMB23,839,000.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statements of changes in equity of the Group.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the paid-up
capital of the companies comprising the Group. Details of
the movements in the capital reserve are set out in the
consolidated statements of changes in equity.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of entities whose functional currencies are not
RMB.

27.

28.

e M BRR M

31 December 2023
—E_=%+-_F=+—H

BRESFERRORBE (A
(b) M{PIREDETEI(HE)
RIBM REETEIRA - EFR

HEBRBYBIBREAEEEM
BERZEEERBETR2EESR

SR SEENE ) YEERET
MBI B A -

%Zi_ E_=FTt_H=1—
© BLAR D) REET B AN ETR

Hﬁf’ﬁ%( B %10,656,9730% + &t

AE#23,839,0007T °

&
AEBRAFEIBEFENREER
REBHRAKENGEEZRHRE
Al

XA
AEBWEAREBIEAREE T QAN

KA ARAAEHLDF R
SAREREE -

B RR B
KRBRERNCIREAFEARE

ﬁ%%ﬁ%%%%%%%ﬁ%%?im
PEH =58 o
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31 December 2023
—E-=%+-_A=+—H
29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

29. HERTREBRHEE

CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EEXBEEXRH
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions RER » AEBEBEE RFA
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of MEHEZHNEREEEI
RMB2,999,000 (2022: RMB4,142,000) and ReRERMEREDIAA
RMB2,960,000 (2022: RMB4,142,000), respectively, in R#2,999,000t(ZE ==
respect of lease arrangements for plant and office AR#4,1420007T) R AR
premises. 2960,000TC(ZE=ZZF : AR
#4,142,0007T ) ©
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RETBELNEELSH
activities
2023 —EBC-=F
Interest-
bearing
bank Interest Lease
borrowings payable liabilities
st ERITER FEA 5. HESE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBT AR¥TT
At 1 January 2023 NZTB-=%f
—A—A 10,369 - 1,783
Changes from financing BERSREEH
cash flows (5,359) (110) (1,402)
New leases HEE = = 2,960
Revision of lease terms ET AT HSE R &
arising from changes in HESEZEM
the non-cancellable CHEEES
period and scope of leases - - (1,536)
Interest expense FEFX - 113 107
At 31 December 2023 i
= e 5,010 3 1,912
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 29. #ZABR&HREXRMTT(E)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing by MEITBHELENEEEDH
activities (continued) (&)
2022 g Sl
Due to Interest-
Duetoa arelated  bearing bank Interest Lease
director party  borrowings payable liabilities
Ef—% Ef—% E1g) FEf HE
EZ3R  BBOTR RITIEH ME afs

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETE ARBTT ARETT ARETR

At 1 January 2022 i — s
—A—8 44,949 5,086 3,000 3 3,233
Changes from financing  BE&ER 2
cash flows Diok=54 (44,949) (5,086) 7,369 (100) (1,572)
Interest expense FISFEX - - - 97 122

At 31 December 2022 T S

+-A=+—H = = 10,369 = 1,783
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) MHERSRHAEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FAGEHERERNEER e
consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows: MEARZEINT
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARET T

Within operating activities T AR RS 112 34
Within financing activities STARNE RS 1,591 1,572

Total FEE 1,703 1,606




250 HOWKINGTECH INTERNATIONAL HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

b e e

31 December 2023
—EC=F+-A=1+—H

30. COMMITMENTS 30. g
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have R EBR - AN & BB R A &8 K&
any significant commitments. o
31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31. BBAIXRS
Name Relationship
=L 22[E
ETIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED A fellow subsidiary
ETIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED — KRR BT
(a) The Group had the following transaction with a (a) AEERERAE— BT ET
related party during the period: AT :
2023 2022
—EC-=F —EF-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARETFTT
A fellow subsidiary: —RERMBAF
Subscription of share capital R (P7E14)
(note 14) 13,513 -
(b)  Compensation of key management personnel of the b) AKEFZEZEEABREMH
Group:
2023 2022
—E-=F k=S =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREBFT
Salaries, allowances and e FUEREMEF
benefits in kind 4,132 4,506
Pension scheme contributions R EFTEIHER 113 313
Equity-settled share option AR E
expense BRI X 10,262 -
Fees e 285 -
Total compensation paid to ENEEERBASR
key management personnel ez 14,792 4,819
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EREERGEETTBAEHEM
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial HE— SRR IR MIFES ©

statements.



The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as :
follows:
2023 —
Financial assets
Financial assets
at fair value
through
other
comprehensive
income
BOFERA
Hitt2EiEm
TRMEE
RMB’'000
ARET T
Trade and notes receivables B 5 RUGIE R
eSS =
Financial assets included in St AFEREOE -
prepayments, other receivables H fth e U KR B
and other assets HiEEmD
TREE =
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFEY =
Time deposits TEHER -
Equity investments designated at EERATERA
fair value through other H 2 EREHT
comprehensive income RIERE 13,513
Total 85t 13,513

EHEE

Financial
assets

at amortised
cost
BB A
FrEM
THEE
RMB'000
AR%T

279,831

836
27,540
5,707

313,914

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

SRS HTARKEBROKEEL

Total

At
RMB’000
AR®TR

279,831

836
27,540
5,707

13,513

327,427
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. ®ZERZoHNLBTHE(E)
(CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHRem T ARRE B RMEEE AN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as ™ : (48)
follows: (continued)

2023 (continued) —EB=5(&)
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
BB R
STEK
cREE
RMB'000
AR¥T T
Trade payables B SN IR 59,340
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,912
Financial liabilities included in other payables S AE b FE S FRIE K
and accruals EFtERN AR 2,108
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TESRITER 5,010

Total 4Bt 68,370




32.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. I&¥EjH

(CONTINUED)

31 December 2023

== = H=T—H

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial Rﬂgﬁﬂljﬁpﬂll
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as L (5B)
follows: (continued)

2022 —EFE-—
Financial assets EHEE

AETHERMT AR

R & IR R EE LD

Financial assets at
amortised cost

R SH AR

STER

RMB'000

AREFIT

Trade and notes receivables H 5 R IA KRR R T 214,010
Financial assets included in prepayments, SEATERFRIE « B EUERIA K

other receivables and other assets HthEENSRIEE 647

Time deposits TFEHITER 73,396

Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEBY 47,301

Total 4Bt 335,354

Financial liabilities THEE

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

big: 37 [N

FEN

TRIBE

RMB'000

ARETTT

Trade payables B S ERFRIA 55,679

Lease liabilities HEEE 1,783

Financial liabilities included in other payables T AE A FE R FIE K

and accruals EErrERNTmasE 11,546

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITIER 10,369

Total HaET 79,377
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Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits, trade and notes receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, trade payables, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank
borrowings and the current portion of lease liabilities
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the chief
financial officer is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance department reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with
the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair

values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of lease liabilities,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in
fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for lease liabilities at 31 December 2023 were assessed
to be insignificant.

ERECELNE  RARERASF
EY  EHER - BHRUKFIAREK
R - FEATANIE - EthRUEIE R
HWEENEREE - EHEMEA
FRAAEMENFEMESERNEREA
& AHRRTERMREERBERS D
MAFEERREERS - TE2HNZ
FTEREHAZIE -

AEENGEHPIRMHAETE - &
AEEERTAQFEFENERRERE
Fr o MBS EAER M ERERERER
EEER - NEHEEH - MKHFID
& m TEEENEESIIRTERARG
BENTERARE - PHRAEERM LI
HEGE - SFRP P RFEMERE R
ERZEETMRGEREMERS

A
afg ©

SRAERAENAFEREEENR
BRI (RSB EBRIN T2
MIANHSEIA - ERATIIIER
BRfsE ATE

HERE  FFERITREMESGERE
MAMAFEEREBLUER - EER
i Ko B8 B A T AER S AT A B9 ) R BY
REHRRREREAE R _F =
F+-A=+—HB xEEB5HESR
ER MR E R TSR A FEZ B BT
HRTEK o



The fair values of unlisted equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income have been
estimated using a market-based valuation technique.

As at 31 December 2023, management considered that the
fair value measurements of the financial assets categorised
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy approximated to
their investment costs as these investments were purchased
shortly before the period end.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments as at 31 December 2023:

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

BERAFEFARMEEKEMIELE
MR BN A FERATISEETE

8 -

R-ZF-_=F+-A=+—H BEEE
R PBERAFEBRE=MNEHE
BENAFEFERARERAEE -
RERZERARNARAMTAREE -

R-E-_=F+-_A=+—H &@T
AfHEMNERNTAEBRG ABIBEOBRE
;YT

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2023

Quoted prices

in active

markets

(Level 1)

RE R

miZHHRE

(B-%)

RMB’'000

ARBTR
Equity investments designated RERRTEA
at fair value through other Hih 2 EWEEH

comprehensive income g -

AT EER
TREFIARMS BT AN AT &
R

BAFENBHRE :

R=B-=%+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERATRENA FEE

Significant Significant

observable unobservable

inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EXTEE EATUEE

BAHE BWABE
(E=8) (F=H) Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARBT T ARYT T
- 13,513 13,513
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33.

34.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 33. £2RITENAFEXEEREAFEEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (£8)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) N EEBR(E)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued) BAFETENESE | (&)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 FR - FEZRATFEFTENESHOT -
during the year are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥F AREFIT
At 1 January R=A=E - =
Purchases i 13,513 —
At 31 December R+—-—A=+—H 13,513 =
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at RZEB_=F+_A=+—H " &5H
fair value as at 31 December 2023. WEEAIZ A ETENEHATE -
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RERN - eMEERSRAESE —RHE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers F_H2EHEQNFEFEEYE - NE
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial BAREHE="QFNAFEFE(ZZ
liabilities (2022: nil). TTFE) e
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BEERAMREEBEZRBUR

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, interest-
bearing bank borrowings, and financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and notes receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

FEENTESRTABREREERS
FEY - sEAFENFUAR - EtEKFIR
REMEENSREE  FHRRTE
K ARG AR AL A 508 K 5T B A
MERBE ZFTRTANTEZEN
REFESIHAREEEZR - A%
EHASREMEREENRAE - M
BELEERELNE ZRUALIE
WERB AR S 5 RN FR -

AEEeRMIAEEANTZRABAING
Rk - EERREABDECRER - EF
SEHMEMEEESEZFRROIK
B REHEGRIT o



Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in
exchange rates between the RMB and other currencies in
which the Group conducts business may affect the Group's
financial condition and results of operations. The Group
seeks to limit its exposure to foreign currency risk by
minimising its net foreign currency position.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
foreign currency exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (due to changes in
the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the
Group's equity (due to exchange differences resulting from
translation of the financial statements of certain overseas
subsidiaries).

31 December 2023 —E_=f+-H=+-H

If the RMB weakens against the US$ AR S ETERE
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ i AR K ETHE
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ AR S BITRE
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ i A REE BB L HHE

31 December 2022 —E__&+”-H=+-H

If the RMB weakens against the US$ WAREEETRE
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ i AR K ETHE
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ WARE L BTRE
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ i A REE B8 L HHE

2 Excluding retained profits

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-_A=+—H

NS LR

SB[ e e R 1 B E R R Ep T S AR ES 1R
RER - ARBHIBASEETERR
REMEENEX KIS EAEH
MR TSR MG E R AE - AEERE
BRERDINERRIF R ERINE
[

TRIVRRHREMR - EABEMER
RETZHERT - INEERNEGIER]
EEBHAKEGH NG (HEBE
ENBBENATEED) RASEES
(EAETEIMBARNIERRNE
ELEMELZ8)GURIE -

Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in rate of (decrease) Increase/
foreign in profit (decrease)
currency before tax in equity*
HEEE = RRTE AT SR i
IH(FHE)  m/ CHd) m/ (Ehd)*
% RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARETT ARETR
5 295 1,260
(5) (295) (1,260)
5 332 680
(5) (332) (680)
5 1,212 1,240
(5) (1,212) (1,240)
5 3,747 -
(5) (3,747) =
@ TEIERBEF
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Credit risk

The Group trades mainly with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification at the end of the reporting
period. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2023

= Bk

AEEFTERMNEAGBRINE=F
HEITR S o WRAKRERBE - FiAR
BERGRTETRSNEPYRRZE
ERERRF o W BRFRGEHERE

FEER -
REEBERFRER

TRIIRENRAEEEERRNEER
BEREkEaEERR(ZTEERARE
£t BRIFEMEREFTIEE N B ERA
SHAE S BRI EER - RIS 1ERIER ) A R
BEMRNFERERDIE - 270N E
BlEeREENKREAE -

R-B-_=%+=-HA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A &
REER 2HRAEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-IEE BB F=[RE [i56(975 st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR%®Tn AR%Trn ARETR ARETR
Trade and notes receivables BoRKER
EHRE - - - 322,616 322,616
Contract assets ANEE - - - 2,054 2,054
Financial assets included in STABRFE
prepayments, other receivables At WA R
and other assets HEAENEREE
— Normal* =Te 836 - - - 836
Time deposits - Not yet pastdue  EHITER— " AEH 5,707 - - - 5,707
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBRESEY
— Not yet past due — AR 27,540 - - - 27,540
Total @3 34,083 - - 324670 358753
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31 December 2023
—E_=%+-_F=+—H

34. HBEREREBFERBEKE)

Credit risk (continued) EER(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BEEERFERELR(E)
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A 785
REER SHRBEEEHE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—RER FRE FMRE B st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR AEBTR ARETET
Trade and notes receivables BHEKFER
€3 - - - 248,167 248,167
Contract assets ANBE - - - 2,833 2,833
Financial assets included in SARMARE
prepayments, other receivables HitnEWaER
and other assets At EENEREE
~Normal* =ME5" 647 - - - 647
Time deposits - Not yet pastdue T — WAk 73,39 - - - 73,39
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEEEY
—Not yet past due — MBI 47,301 = = = 47,301
Total a3t 121,344 1 - 251,000 372,344
* The credit quality of the financial assets included in % MET ATEN 208« E b e U k08 R H A

prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

BEMLREEL SN  TEENE
REMAENEEER B NSEAAR
AR - B EEEE WA E
%o ZA SREENEHEERE
fErTEgR] -
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and

maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management of the Group to finance the
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash

flows.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

MBERREEEERBKGE)

REBE SRR

ErnpEcRREERTE ANEBEEE
RekReEEY UREESELRE
BEEERRSRNRNEESLRERE
MENBTENKFE

AEERBEPRN SR AENDIBBE
ERNAHARBBENFTOWT

As at 31 December 2023

RZBZ=#+ZA=+-8
3to

Lessthan less than 1to5 Over
Ondemand  3months 12 months years 5 years Total

SR ZEIR -z it
REX =R  t=fEA k3 k3 @t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR AREBTT AR%TR ARETR ARETRT AR%T:R
Trade payables BHERTE 59,340 = = = = 59,340
Lease liabilities REBE - 237 832 946 - 2,015

Financial liabilities included in STARMENFUER

other payables and accruals ETERRNLRAE 2,108 - - - - 2,108
Interest-oearing bank borrowings ~ E B HITfE R - 38 5122 - - 5,160
Total 5t 61,448 275 5,954 946 - 68,623
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34.

AR BRI R AR A R
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at

the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows: (continued)

FEMBEHRMET

31 December 2023

—EC=F+-A=+—H
B¥RAREEEERBEE)

REE S mEE(E)
AEERREPRNERMAENDIBE

REREMARBREMNFTONT : (&)

As at 31 December 2022

A\ZB-ZF+ZA=1-H
3to

Less than less than 1t05 Over
Ondemand ~ 3months  12months years 5 years Total

SR ZEIR -2 etk
REX =f&A +={&A Fik:S ik it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT AR%ETR
Trade payables BHEMATE 55,679 = = = = 55,679
Lease liabilities HEaR - 401 1,219 215 - 1,835

Financial liabilities included in A ERSERES

other payables and accruals ERNSRARE 11,546 = = = = 11,546
Interest-bearing bank borrowings & B SR1TIEF = 6,861 3,655 = = 10,516
Total @t 67,225 7,62 4,874 215 = 79,576
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
total debt divided by total equity. Total debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities. The

34.

MBERREEEERBKGE)

EXEE

AEBEAEENTEBRERRERN
SEFBECEVERFBRERN L RMEE
N AXFHEEBLEZSRTTRERE
(8 o

AEBSRBLEAR DS RIABRE
ENRRFHUEEEEARREL
B BB AREARE  AEEK
SREERNTFREMNRS  BREEART
IR KBTS » NEBTZER SN
HEMAERERRR - BHE=ZT==
F+-A=+—HER=ZF=_=_%F+=A
=+—HItFE  TEELANEEZ K
KRR EIEL E ) -

AEERAEERBH R (AEHAR
FRARAE)ERER - EHAEE
BRI BRITERRBERE - RIBED

gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as RMEEABLENT
follows:

2023 2022
—EBC-=F B —
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STESRITIER 5,010 10,369
Lease liabilities HEBaE 1,912 1,783
Total debt (ETe] 6,922 12,152
Total equity S a%EE 268,377 256,084
Gearing ratio BEAMFLE 2.6% 4.7%




Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments in subsidiaries*

Equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive
income

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Time deposits

Due from a subsidiary

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to subsidiaries
Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Treasury shares
Share premium
Reserves (note)

Total equity

FREBEE

RAHE AT
BERATEA
Hib 2 mRER
&R E

FEREEERE

REBEE
ReERREEEY
JEHATE R

BB —KKMEA

A ﬁ@ﬁ%

HEE
mBEERE

RBRE
AN PNCIE /!

B4t 3RO R B B

mBEEHEE

nE(RERE) EEFE

REERRBRAE

BEFE

R
BERTEXR
ETF R

1D m(E

frt 5 (P E)

e E

As at 31 December 2023, in the opinion of the directors, these
balances due from Howking Hong Kong of RMB149,769,000
(2022: RMB117,379,000) are unlikely to be repaid in the
foreseeable future and considered as part of the Group's net

investments in the subsidiary.

31 December 2023
E==&+=H=+—H

BRAARRRNEERROUBEIRRD
BRI

2023 2022
—EC=E —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETTT

160,290 117,379
13,513 =
173,803 117,379
316 2,879
- 73,396
798 -
- 95
1,114 76,370
7,566 8,221
166 2,095
7,732 10,316
(6,618) 66,054
167,185 183,433
167,185 183,433
15,646 15,646
(23,839) -
175,310 175,310
68 (7,523)
167,185 183,433

& R-E-_=F+-—A=+—H BZR
B ZERBREEARBNESRAR
#149,769,000L( =T =—F : AR¥
117,379,0007T ) FA A R AR 2R A AT gE
B MR ANEEEZHBAREE
BEH—IpD o
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. ZAATBEIRRE(E)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note: B 5 -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: ARRNFEERZOT ¢

Share option Accumulated

reserve losses Total
B ERE RitEE st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥ETT ARETT ARETT

1 January 2022 —E-_—fF—H—H = (30) (30)
Loss for the year FNEE = (7,493) (7,493)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-ZT-_—_F+=-H
=+-8E
—ZT—_=F—A—H - (7,523) (7,523)
Loss for the year FAEE = (2,930) (2,930)
Equity-settled share option expense VARG HE 45 B 0 B AR A
X 10,521 = 10,521
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
=A== 10,521 (10,453) 68
36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 36. WEHMESH
No significant events that require additional disclosure or RIpEH®% - WERAABEINEERT
adjustments occurred after the reporting period. LA EREMH -

37. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 37. #HEHFREHBHRE

STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and HEMBBRENR_TE_MFE=A=+
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March hAKEESHETIRRETE -

2024.



"2024 AGM”

[— - MERRAFAE]

"5G"

[5G

“Articles” or "Articles of
Association”

[ABBI e[ ABA =240 R |

“Audit Committee”

[BxEEg]
“"Board”
[EE= ]
“"CAGR"

[ FERE]
“CG Code”

[EEERSTA

"China” or "PRC"

[ B

“"Company”

VNN

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on May 16,
2024

AREHR T _MOFAA HARNBRTHRERRBFAS

the 5th generation mobile network, a new global wireless standard after 1G, 2G,
3G and 4G networks
ERRBEBEME - #1G - 2G - 3G RAGHRRER N 2 IREFITLE

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company conditionally
adopted on November 11, 2022 and effective on December 12, 2022, as amended
or supplemented from time to time

ARAR B —F+—AT - HAGRHERBAN T - —F+ A+ -BERH
RIERT R EFIEBERZAR (KT RERT A T)

the audit committee of the Board

the board of Directors

=g

compound annual growth rate; the CAGR formula involves (i) dividing the ending
value by the beginning value, (i) making a radical of the amount by the number of
years (e.g., 2019~2021=2 years) and (iii) subtracting one to make the rate a
percentage

BEFERE  EaFEREQAXBEONPARERARIE  (RFB(BIH_T—
NEEZZT = —FR2F) RBER(INVAE—FISHONBE SR

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 (formerly Appendix
14) to the Listing Rules
Fr R R ERCT (BB 8+ 1) PRt R BV <P A

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual report only and
except where the context requires otherwise, references in this annual report to
“China” or “PRC" do not include Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region and Taiwan

REARANE - EERRFEME - BXEZBEEN - NFEHRDHHE HR
MABEEE  RPIFIITRIELA R A

Howkingtech International Holding Limited, an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in Cayman Islands on August 25, 2021, and registered as a
non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance on January
13, 2022

BEERRBBEZERERAR — XN _E-—FN\A - THRAERSHS MR
NERRBERLIR  RZE__F—AT+=HREBEARGHIF16MEMRIETER
Al
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"Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 22 A% A% 2R

"Deed of Non-competition”

[T FRE

"Director(s)”

==

"GDP”
(B ELRE ]

"Global Offering”
[2EREE]

"HKS$”
&7t
“Hong Kong”
K

"

“Howkingtech” or “Group

DRIRRH 3k A% E ]

e
[Z B $1i ]

“loT"
[ B8 |

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ & AITTH A

“Listing”
[ L)

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules, and unless the context
otherwise requires, refers to Dr. Chen Ping, Ms. Wang Zheshi, Ms. Jin Yan and
Howkingtech Holding Limited

BB EHRRIPTIE TR - BXESEMEN - ERTEL - EEMLL
W22+ K Howkingtech Holding Limited

the deed of non-competition dated November 11, 2022 entered into by the
Controlling Shareholders with and in favor of the Company (for itself and as
trustee for its subsidiaries)

ERBRREARF(REAS RIEREMBARNETEA) ARR BB/ AMEIL
BRA-ZT - —Ft+— A+ HOTHRFRE

the director(s) of the Company
PiIN/NET ==

gross domestic product

WNEERE

the Hong Kong public offering and international offering of the Shares
B NRBERBERBEERN

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT - BEAER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEER AT R

the Company and its subsidiaries

RRRREHE AR

information technology

(EEsSs 40

internet of things

YLk

April 15, 2024, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of ascertaining
certain information contained in this annual report prior to its publication

“ZONEMA+RA - AARFERTERSHEEEMESE TERNNKRERERATH
]

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PRAR OBk 3Z PR E AR =T



"

“Listing Date

[ LB

“Listing Rules”
[ LR AN

“LORA"
[E#E ]

"Macau”

[EF ]
“Model Code”
[1Z2E<F A ]

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZREE

“OEM"
[Z5MnT

"Prospectus”
[HERER]

“pRRU"
[ 530 2 ST SR AR B T |

“R&D"
[ 2 |

“"Remuneration Committee”

[FHEZEE

“Reporting Period” or “Year"

[HEH I FE )

“RMB”
[AR#]

"SFO"
[ 585 MR 5B )

U

December 12, 2022, on which the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange and
from which dealings in the Shares were permitted to commence on the Stock
Exchange

R F+ AT B RO L R R FAFREE TR B H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B prE S AR A

Long Range, a proprietary low-power wide-area network modulation technique

&2 - —RBEANEINFEREE MR BRI

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
BRI R TR

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 (formerly Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules
ERRIMERCI(RIMEMT S )T LM BT AESTETESF X HNFRESTH

the nomination committee of the Board

E=gRA%BY

original equipment manufacturer

RIMIT

the prospectus of the Company dated November 30, 2022 in connection with the
Global Offering
ARBBMR-_ZE__F+—A=THNBRER A EREHEE

pico remote radio unit, which is used to the baseband unit
ARETREE TN ASTIBRRETT

research and development
Bt o B 2%

the remuneration committee of the Board

ExeyMEzEe

the year ended December 31, 2023
HE T =F+_A=1+—HIFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

AR - hEEE R

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BBEDIFEST1EFH K EEEG
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“Share Award Scheme”
[ A0 22EhET Sl ]

“Share Option Scheme”
[EERx st & ]

"Shareholder(s)”
[ B3R

“Share(s)"”
[t

"Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 P |

“U.S.” or "United States”

ES=0

“Universal loT Platform”

[ERYEHETE ]

"WLAN"
[ AR A8 )

nogn
[%]

the Howkingtech Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company on May 16,
2023
ARABR-ZE-=FHATNBRANEREHR )RR 2

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on November 11, 2022
RRBR B Z_F+— A +— BRI B EL S

holder(s) of the Share(s)
& FEEAE A

the ordinary share(s) of nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company
AR BIRE AR F I EEO.01E LAY EE I

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMARHMABRAR]

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject
to its jurisdiction

ENRERE - HRL - EBM R EAAEENMA R

the Group's self-developed centralized data platform of loT solutions, which
provides the infrastructural functions for upper applications

REE B THENYBRERTRETEIETE - B LERBIRHEERRETEE

wireless local-area network

B B8

per cent

AL
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